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A U T H O R S

National Prison Project of the American Civil Liberties Union
Founded in 1972 by the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU), the National
Prison Project (NPP) seeks to ensure constitutional conditions of confinement
and strengthen prisoners’ rights through class action litigation and public educa-
tion. Our policy priorities include reducing prison overcrowding, improving pris-
oner medical care, eliminating violence and maltreatment in prisons and jails, and
minimizing the reliance on incarceration as a criminal justice sanction. The Pro-
ject also publishes a semi-annual Journal, coordinates a nationwide network of liti-
gators, conducts training and public education conferences, and provides expert
advice and technical assistance to local community groups and lawyers through-
out the country.

C O - A U T H O R S  &  C O N T R I B U T O R S

American Civil Liberties Union of Louisiana
The ACLU of Louisiana has protected traditional American values as a
guardian of liberty since its founding in 1956. Our mission is to conserve Amer-
ica’s original civic values embodied in the U.S. Constitution and the Louisiana
Constitution by working daily in the courts, legislature, and communities. We
defend the rights of every man, woman, and child residing in this state against
attempts by the government to take away or limit civil liberties and personal free-
doms guaranteed by the Bill of Rights, as well as federal and state laws. The
ACLU of Louisiana provides its services free-of-charge, and without regard to a
person’s race, creed, religion, national origin, or sexual orientation.

American Civil Liberties Union, Human Rights Program 
Created in 2004, the ACLU Human Rights Program is dedicated to holding the
U.S. government accountable to universal human rights principles in addition to
rights guaranteed by the U.S. Constitution. We incorporate international human
rights strategies into ACLU advocacy on issues relating to national security, immi-
grants’ rights, women’s rights and racial justice.
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American Civil Liberties Union, Racial Justice Program
The ACLU Racial Justice Program aims to preserve and extend constitutionally
guaranteed and other rights to segments of the population that historically have
been denied those rights on the basis of race, ethnicity or national origin. Our
work involves challenges to racial discrimination and issues that have a direct or
disparate impact on communities of color, particularly in the areas of criminal
justice, education, and discrimination. In the area of criminal justice, we are ded-
icated to reducing the unwarranted and disproportionate targeting and incarcer-
ation of people of color. In the area of education, we seek to ensure that all
children have access to quality education, regardless of race or ethnicity. Specifi-
cally, we have filed civil challenges to the inadequate provision of indigent crimi-
nal and juvenile defense, pre- and post-9/11 racial profiling, and disparate
educational opportunities. We also have done litigation and other advocacy,
including public education and community organizing, against the racially dis-
proportionate imposition of incarceration and the school-to-prison pipeline.

Human Rights Watch
Human Rights Watch conducts regular, systematic investigations of human
rights abuses in some seventy counties around the world. Our reputation for
timely, reliable disclosures has made us an essential source of information for
those concerned with human rights. We address the human rights practices of
governments of all political stripes, of all geopolitical alignments, and of all ethnic
and religious persuasions. Human Rights Watch defends freedom of thought and
expression, due process and equal protection of the law, and a vigorous civil soci-
ety; we document and denounce murders, disappearances, torture, arbitrary
imprisonment discrimination, and other abuses of internationally recognized
human rights. Our goal is to hold governments accountable if they transgress the
human rights of their people. Human Rights Watch contributed to the section of
the report on the abuse of prisoners at the Jena Correctional Facility.

Juvenile Justice Project of Louisiana
The Juvenile Justice Project of Louisiana’s mission is to transform the juvenile
justice system into one that builds on the strengths of young people, families and
communities in order to instill hope and to ensure children are given the greatest
opportunities to grow and thrive. Our goals are:
• to create and support an effective and innovative juvenile defense system;
• to alleviate unconstitutional conditions of confinement for juveniles, both 

pre- and post-adjudication; and
• to work collaboratively with existing organizations and resources to develop and 

expand rehabilitation efforts and alternatives to incarceration for juveniles.

NAACP Legal Defense and Educational Fund, Inc.
The NAACP Legal Defense and Educational Fund, Inc. (LDF) is America's
first not-for-profit civil rights law firm. It's mission is to transform the promise of
equality into reality for African Americans and, ultimately, all individuals in the
areas of education, political participation, economic justice and criminal justice.

LDF has long been involved in racial justice litigation and advocacy in the Gulf
South.  LDF's current priorities include seeking to bring justice to African Ameri-
cans through fair jury selection practices and adequately funded indigent defense
systems. Since Hurricane Katrina, LDF has devoted significant resources to
working on behalf of the Katrina diaspora, including advocating for voter protec-
tion, educational access and criminal justice reform in Orleans Parish.
Founded in 1940 under the leadership of Thurgood Marshall, LDF was initially
affiliated with the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People
but has been an entirely separate organization since 1957. LDF contributed to the
section of the report on the abuse of prisoners at the Jena Correctional Facility.

Safe Streets/Strong Communities
Safe Streets/Strong Communities is a coalition of community organizers, advocates
and attorneys whose mission is to transform the New Orleans criminal justice sys-
tem into one that creates safe streets and strong communities for everyone, regard-
less of race or economic status. Safe Streets envisions a public safety system that:
• keeps people safe from all forms of violence and crime including street 

violence, domestic violence, and law enforcement violence;
• is transparent, democratic, fair and accountable to the community it serves; and
• supports community-driven responses to crime that are based in best practices.
Safe Streets seeks reform of the New Orleans Police Department, the Orleans
Parish jail system, and the Orleans Parish criminal court system, including the
indigent defense system, in order to achieve our vision of real public safety.
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NAACP Legal Defense and Educa-
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claims, like so many that were repeated in the days after the
storm, were never substantiated.3

The first accounts of what really happened at OPP dur-
ing and after Hurricane Katrina came to light once the pris-
oners started recounting their experiences to family
members, lawyers, and local and national civil rights and
human rights organizations. The picture that emerged from
all of these accounts was one of widespread chaos, caused in
large part by inadequate emergency planning and training by
local officials, and of racially motivated hostility on the part of
prison officials and blatant disregard for the individuals
trapped in the jail.

For many of the prisoners whose stories appear in this
report, the nightmare continues to this day. At present, OPP
evacuees sit in facilities around the state awaiting long-over-
due trials on minor charges. Nearly every day, attorneys dis-
cover another prisoner whose case has slipped through the
cracks. These are prisoners doing “Katrina time,” as it has
come to be known.4 Some prisoners have even been returned
to a reopened OPP, which is now overcrowded and danger-
ous, full of post-Katrina hazards that Orleans Parish Crimi-
nal Sheriff Marlin N. Gusman failed to repair in his haste to
repopulate the jail.

This report seeks to provide a comprehensive picture of
what the men, women, and children at OPP endured before,
during, and after the storm. It is written to capture their
experiences, so that their voices can be heard.5 In the year
since the storm, the Sheriff has denied many of the claims
made in this report, at times referring to the OPP evacuees
simply as liars,6 and at other times as “crackheads, cowards
and criminals.”7 This report is intended to serve as their uni-
fied response.

Methodology

The report is the result of an eleven-month investigation by
local and national activists and attorneys. In the weeks after
the storm, criminal defense attorneys around Louisiana trav-
eled to dozens of jails and prisons to generate lists of prison-
ers who had been dispersed following Katrina. Based upon
these lists, in October and November 2005, the National
Prison Project of the ACLU mailed approximately 2000
questionnaires to OPP evacuees in over 20 different facilities;
these questionnaires asked prisoners to describe their experi-
ences during and after the storm.8 The ACLU has since
received and reviewed written accounts from over 1300 pris-
oners who were in OPP when Katrina struck. 

We, along with each of the co-authors and contributors
to this report, have also interviewed hundreds of these and
other OPP evacuees, their family members, as well as former
OPP deputies and staff. In addition, we have interviewed
current and recently released OPP prisoners regarding the
living conditions in the reopened OPP buildings, and have
reviewed court documents and public records produced as
part of federal civil rights lawsuits challenging unconstitu-
tional conditions at the jail.

In general, this report does not cover the experiences of
other prisoners in the state of Louisiana who were affected
by Hurricanes Katrina or Rita. The one exception is con-

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In the days following Hurricane Katrina, the public was
inundated with stories of personal tragedies that were unfold-
ing day by day in the city of New Orleans and throughout the
Gulf Coast region. Some reports were of amazing rescues,
but much of the coverage focused on the disaster within the
disaster—the thousands of men, women, and children left
stranded around New Orleans, in their homes, the Louisiana
Superdome, and the Convention Center.

But just a few miles away from the Superdome and the
Convention Center, another disaster within the disaster was
developing at Orleans Parish Prison (“OPP”), the New
Orleans jail. During the storm, and for several days there-
after, thousands of men, women, and children were aban-
doned at OPP. As floodwaters rose in the OPP buildings,
power was lost, and entire buildings were plunged into dark-
ness. Deputies left their posts wholesale, leaving behind pris-
oners in locked cells, some standing in sewage-tainted water
up to their chests. Over the next few days, without food,
water, or ventilation, prisoners broke windows in order to get
air, and carved holes in the jail’s walls in an effort to get to
safety. Some prisoners leapt into the water, while others
made signs or set fire to bed sheets and pieces of clothing to
signal to rescuers. Once freed from the buildings, prisoners
were bused to receiving facilities around the state, where, for
some, conditions only got worse. At the Elayn Hunt Correc-
tional Center, thousands of OPP evacuees spent several days
on a large outdoor field, where prisoner-on-prisoner violence
was rampant and went unchecked by correctional officers.
From there, prisoners went to other facilities, where some
were subjected to systematic abuse and racially motivated
assaults by prison guards.

At the time, public officials and traditional news media
said little about the OPP prisoners. The first reports from
government officials were based on rumors that prisoners
had rioted and taken over parts of the jail complex. New
Orleans City Council President Oliver Thomas told a local
television station that rioting prisoners had taken a deputy, his
wife, and their four children hostage.1 Louisiana’s Depart-
ment of Public Safety and Corrections received a report that
prisoners had taken over an armory on the 10th Floor of an
OPP building and that a firefight was in progress.2 These
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tained in the section of the report discussing the experiences
of prisoners from Calcasieu and Jefferson parishes who
endured systemic abuse at the Jena Correctional Facility
(Jena), where they were evacuated as a result of Hurricanes
Katrina and Rita. Volunteer defense attorneys initially inter-
viewed all of the individuals at Jena. Members of Human
Rights Watch (HRW) and the NAACP Legal Defense and
Educational Fund, Inc. (LDF) interviewed many of these
prisoners a second time.

Recommendations

In order to move forward with a jail that is more cost-effec-
tive, humane, and that ensures real public safety, local, state
and federal officials should consider implementing the follow-
ing recommendations: 

Recommendations to Local and State Officials

The Orleans Parish Criminal Sheriff’s Office,9 the City of New
Orleans, and the State of Louisiana Department of Public Safety
and Corrections

Design and implement a coordinated emergency plan to
ensure that all prisons and jails are capable of quickly and
safely evacuating before the next disaster strikes. An organi-
zation such as the National Institute of Corrections is capable
of evaluating the emergency preparedness of individual jails
and prisons, as well as entire correctional systems. In the
months after the storm, the Louisiana Department of Public
Safety and Corrections (“DOC”) commissioned the National
Institute of Corrections to prepare a Technical Assistance
Report (“NIC Technical Assistance Report”) to evaluate,
among other things, its performance in assisting Orleans and
Jefferson parishes in evacuating their jails. Although the state
has refused to release the report to the public, it is encouraging
that DOC took the time to learn from the Hurricane Katrina
experience.10 To date, it does not appear that the Orleans
Parish Sheriff or any other local official in New Orleans has
shown a similar interest in evaluating their performance.
Only by analyzing—honestly—what happened before, during,
and after Hurricane Katrina, will it be possible for New
Orleans to respond better when the next hurricane hits.

Downsize the jail by ending the practice of holding state
and federal prisoners. On August 29, 2005, the day Hurri-
cane Katrina hit New Orleans, OPP was holding nearly 2000
DOC prisoners.11 This number represented close to one-third
of the total OPP population, and three times as many DOC
prisoners as were held in any other parish.12 The small
amount of money given by the state to OPP to house these
people is insufficient to provide them with adequate program-
ming, medical care, or mental health care. Over 200 of the
prisoners at OPP during the storm were in federal custody,
charged with violations of federal criminal law or federal
immigration law.13 Given the tight fiscal situation of the city
and the structural problems that are created by housing thou-
sands of prisoners in what should be a county jail, OPP
should not be rebuilt to host state or federal prisoners.

Implement reforms to decrease the number of pre-trial
detainees held at OPP. Sixty percent of OPP’s population
before Hurricane Katrina was made up of individuals held
on attachments, traffic violations, or municipal charges,14

such as parking violations, public drunkenness, and failure to
pay a fine. Pre-trial diversion programs, bail reform, and cite-
and-release arrest policies are all examples of possible means
by which the city of New Orleans could reduce this popula-
tion of people at the jail, while both saving money and ensur-
ing public safety.

Convene a Blue Ribbon Commission to develop and imple-
ment a full set of recommendations for detention reform.
The first step to real reform is to bring together an investiga-
tive body comprised of local criminal justice stakeholders and
national detention experts to conduct a full assessment of the
New Orleans jail system and issue recommendations for
reform. These recommendations would include: 1) making
population projections at the short-, mid-, and long-term
range; 2) identifying the jail capacity needed for the city in
light of these projections; 3) assessing how to improve jail
conditions and programming; and 4) diagnosing current inef-
ficiencies in the system that inflate both the jail population
and the cost of running the facility. Findings from the Blue
Ribbon Commission should be reported to the Mayor, City
Council, Sheriff’s Department and general public, and act as
a blueprint for system reform.

Reduce the use of juvenile detention by exploring viable
alternatives to detention. Since the storm, neither of the
juvenile detention facilities in Orleans Parish has been
reopened to house juveniles. Moreover, since the release of a
report detailing the plight of juveniles at OPP during Hurri-
cane Katrina, Sheriff Gusman has pledged to no longer
house juveniles at OPP. However, just weeks later, the City
of New Orleans instituted a curfew for juveniles, and quickly
began detaining juveniles.15 For most kids, there is little risk
that they will commit a new offense before their court date or
that they will fail to appear for court.16 Therefore, there is no
public safety need served by locking children up wholesale
before their trials. Adopting alternatives could result in youth
being held in smaller, more therapeutic facilities. It would
benefit both the children and their communities for officials
to work with school systems to ensure that schools are not
referring youth to the police for incidents that can be handled
by the school or community. Children can be treated within
their communities through a number of programs. By lock-
ing a child in detention, especially an overcrowded detention
center, the risks for suicidal behavior and psychiatric ill-
nesses are increased.17 Furthermore, youth are removed
from many of the safety nets that help them cope, such as
family, school, and community supports.18 It has been shown
that treating most children in their communities does not
compromise public safety and may in fact help improve it by
reducing recidivism.19

Begin to view detention as a process rather than a place.
Detention as a process refers to graduated levels of supervi-
sion and considers custody an act, rather than a physical
placement. This concept moves detention beyond the notion
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of a single building, and instead embraces a wide variety of
services in the community. Viewing detention as process
opens the door to more alternatives and allows officials to be
more flexible, assigning levels of supervision to fit the particu-
larized needs and risks of each offender. Many of the prob-
lems with the detention system stem from overcrowding.
This is a common scenario in detention systems across the
country. Overcrowding can affect the quality of basic serv-
ices, such as medical and mental health care, and is the driv-
ing factor that leads to prisoner-on-prisoner violence. While
simply addressing the issue of overcrowding will not solve all
the problems, it will begin to make solving other problems a
bit easier. By embracing the concept of detention as a process
and developing effective alternatives to detention, Orleans
Parish can begin to address overcrowding and avoid the
onerous task of evacuating 6000+ prisoners.

Appoint an Independent Monitor. The Sheriff’s Office
should establish an Independent Monitor Office to review
OPP policies, procedures, critical incidents, complaints and
quality of complaint investigations. The Independent Moni-
tor should make regular reports of its findings and recom-
mendations to the public, elected officials and OPP staff. 

State of Louisiana Department of Public Safety and Corrections

Work with local officials to implement a coordinated emer-
gency response plan that works across departmental bound-
aries. Much of the responsibility for the chaos that ensued at
OPP after Katrina can be laid at the feet of local officials,
who failed to prepare for the storm and its aftermath. How-
ever, it is clear that the problems for OPP evacuees did not
end when they left New Orleans. The safe and orderly evac-
uation of thousands from OPP requires a coordinated effort
by officials on all levels of government. The state must ensure
that there is a clear line of command and communication
among state and local officials, that all necessary equipment,
vehicles, and personnel are available in the event of an evac-
uation, that personnel have been trained through disaster
drills, and that the receiving facilities are prepared to accept
evacuees.  

Conduct regular audits of local jails holding state prisoners.
As outlined in this report, the problems at OPP began long
before Katrina struck. The state has a responsibility to
ensure that its prisoners who are in OPP and other local jails
are provided with the minimal necessities required under
state and federal law. In particular, the State Fire Marshal
must conduct regular inspections to ensure that adequate fire
and emergency evacuation procedures are in place, and that
staff are trained in these procedures. 

Recommendations to Federal Authorities

United States Department of Justice

Commence an investigation into the treatment of prisoners
at OPP and at various receiving facilities, to discover
whether human and civil rights violations occurred. Follow-
ing their interviews with prisoners at Jena, HRW and LDF

called for the Civil Rights Division of the U.S. Department of
Justice to conduct an independent and impartial investigation
into the conduct of the state corrections staff at Jena. HRW
and LDF sent a letter to the Justice Department on October
7, 2005, asking for an investigation into the abuses that took
place at Jena in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina.20 On
November 1, 2005, the special litigation section of the Justice
Department responded that because the Jena facility had
already been vacated, they were not authorized to conduct a
civil investigation of the facility. The letter also noted that the
Criminal Section requested that the FBI investigate the
abuse allegations.21 To date, no findings from an investigation
have been made public. Such an investigation should be
undertaken, and it ought to include, but not be limited to, the
treatment prisoners received at OPP, Hunt Correctional
Center, Bossier Parish Maximum Security Jail, Ouachita
Parish Correctional Center, and Jena. Any investigation
should include interviews with prisoners who were at the
facilities during the reported abuses, and findings from such
an investigation should be made public.
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Orleans Parish
Prison Intake
Processing
Center after
the storm
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A. The Unchecked Growth of Orleans 
Parish Prison

Long before Hurricane Katrina changed the landscape of
New Orleans, the term “Orleans Parish Prison” referred not
to a single jail building, but rather to the set of some twelve
buildings: Central Lock-Up, the Community Correctional
Center (“CCC”), Conchetta, Fisk Work Release, the House
of Detention (“HOD”), the Old Parish Prison, South White
Street, and Templeman buildings I through V.

The jail buildings are all located in downtown New
Orleans, in an area commonly called Mid-City. Each build-
ing is within several blocks of Interstate 10 and the Broad
Street Overpass that rises above the Interstate. The
Louisiana Superdome is approximately one mile to the
southeast of the jail complex, and the Convention Center is
approximately three miles away.

Built in 1929, the Old Parish Prison is the oldest of the
OPP buildings. Designed to house from 400 to 450 people,
the number of prisoners held there increased over time,
while the facility remained the same size.1 In order to deal
with the increasing population, other OPP buildings were
constructed. In 1974, when Charles Foti was elected Sher-
iff, OPP had a population of about 800 prisoners. By the
time Sheriff Foti left his position 30 years later, OPP’s
capacity had increased more than tenfold to approximately
8500 prisoners.

Before Katrina, OPP housed nearly 6500 individuals on
an average day. Although New Orleans is only the thirty-
fifth most populous city in the United States, this made OPP
the ninth largest local jail.2 OPP housed even more people
than the notorious Louisiana State Penitentiary at Angola
(“Angola”), which at 18,000 acres is the largest prison in the
United States.3 With a pre-Katrina incarceration rate of 1480
prisoners per 100,000 residents, New Orleans had the high-
est incarceration rate of any large city in the United States—
the incarceration rate was double that of the United States as

a whole, a country with the highest national incarceration
rate in the world.4

What makes OPP’s massive expansion so surprising is
the fact that it happened during a period of time when the
population of Orleans Parish decreased by over 100,000 peo-
ple. During Sheriff Foti’s tenure, the capacity of OPP
increased nearly 1000% (from 850 to 8500), while the popu-
lation of Orleans Parish decreased over 18% (from over
593,000 in 1970 to under 485,000 in 2000).5

Prior to Hurricane Katrina, 60% of OPP’s population on
any given day was made up of men and women arrested on
attachments, traffic violations, or municipal charges6 — typi-
cally for parking violations, public drunkenness, or failure to
pay a fine. Most of the prisoners at OPP were pre-trial
detainees, meaning they had not been convicted of any crime.
Thus, aside from its enormous size, OPP’s population made
it resemble a local jail rather than a prison, which generally
holds individuals convicted of crimes that carry a sentence of
more than one year of incarceration.7

As OPP’s population exploded, the categories of persons
held at the jail changed. In 1970 there were only four to ten
women in the jail at any given time. At the time of Hurricane
Katrina, OPP held approximately 670 women.8

Like women, juveniles were also initially held in the Old
Parish Prison. Over time, the juvenile population was divided
between the Conchetta Youth Center (“CYC”), which was
part of the South White Street facility of OPP, and the city-
owned Youth Study Center (“YSC”). Children who were
being tried as adults were housed alongside adult prisoners.

In the mid-1970s, OPP began to house prisoners on
behalf of Louisiana’s DOC. These prisoners had already
been convicted, and were awaiting bed space in the state’s
prisons. DOC decided to place some of its prisoners in local
jails in response to an April 1975 federal court order conclud-
ing that the conditions of confinement at the state’s over-
crowded prisons violated the United States Constitution.9

This arrangement was initially proposed as a short-term
solution to the state’s overcrowding problems; once new dor-
mitory beds were added to the Louisiana State Penitentiary
at Angola, the state prisoners were supposed to be trans-
ferred back into DOC custody. This never happened. “Sher-
iffs became accustomed to the cycle: a new prison would
open, most of the state prisoners would be taken from the
jails and then, inexorably, like flood waters rising toward the
top of the levee, the numbers would begin to inch upward
again, each time reaching higher than the time before.”10

The decision to accept state prisoners exacerbated the
serious overcrowding that already existed throughout
Louisiana’s large jails. This was especially true of OPP,
which was facing a lawsuit filed several years before the
courts ever turned their attention to the problems of the state
prison system.11 In April 1980, Sheriff Foti drew attention to
the overcrowding caused by housing state prisoners at OPP
by driving 147 state prisoners to Elayn Hunt Correctional
Center in St. Gabriel, Louisiana, and abandoning them in
the parking lot.12 This would not be the last time that prison-
ers from OPP would be dumped at Hunt. 

Three years later, in order to deal with overcrowding in
the jail’s buildings, Sheriff Foti constructed the Emergency
Detention Center, known locally as “Tent City.”34

I .  ORLEANS PARISH PRISON
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“[S]urrounded by a 10-foot chain link fence topped with
rolled barbed wire,” Tent City was “a military-like compound
of canvas tents” that exposed prisoners to the elements year-
round and was both unsanitary and overcrowded.14Although
Tent City was supposed to stay open for only 60 to 90 days
(hence, the use of the word “emergency” in the name), the
tents remained in use for ten years.15

To compensate local jails for the costs of housing state
prisoners, DOC makes a per diem payment to local sheriffs
based upon the number of state prisoners housed locally. Ini-
tially, the state paid local sheriffs $4.50 per day per prisoner,
but this number has steadily increased over time.16 At pres-
ent, the state reportedly pays Sheriff Gusman $24.39 per day
per state prisoner housed at OPP,17 $2.00 more than the City
of New Orleans pays Sheriff Gusman for housing its own
prisoners.18 Because state prisoners represent a source of
income, local sheriffs have an incentive to make bed space
available to them, either through expansion of prison build-
ings, or creative housing arrangements. 

At the time of the storm, OPP housed nearly 2000 state
prisoners.19 Some of these men and women were enrolled in
drug and alcohol treatment programs as a condition of proba-
tion.20 These men and women were eligible to be released
once they completed their rehabilitation programs, and there-
fore they were more akin to patients than prisoners. 

OPP also rents bed space to the U.S. Marshal’s Service
to house federal prisoners. Some of these prisoners are
charged with violations of federal criminal law. The remain-
der are federal immigration detainees who are not charged
with any crimes. Over 200 federal detainees were housed in
OPP when Katrina struck.21

B. A Brief History of Problems at OPP

The problems at OPP did not begin with Hurricane Katrina.
OPP has a long history of cruelty and neglect toward its pris-
oners.29 In 1969, a prisoner named Louis Hamilton filed a
class action lawsuit on behalf of all of the individuals in OPP

regarding their living conditions at the jail. By 1970, the Old
Parish Prison was routinely housing from 800 to 900 people
at a time, despite the fact that the building was designed to
hold half that number.30 In June 1970, a federal court con-
cluded:

the conditions of confinement in Orleans Parish
Prison so shock the conscience as a matter of elemen-
tal decency and are so much more cruel than is nec-
essary to achieve a legitimate penal aim that such
confinement constitutes cruel and unusual punish-
ment in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth
Amendments of the United States Constitution.31

The court’s conclusion was based on a set of findings regard-
ing horrific conditions at the jail too numerous to list here.
Among them, the court found that due to overcrowding,
many prisoners were given filthy mattresses, and were told to
sleep either on the floor of their cell, or in the aisles between
beds in the jail’s dormitory units.32 The court also found that
medical care was “woefully inadequate,” and that the “com-
bined effects of the fearful atmosphere and crowded and sor-
did living conditions has a severe effect on psychotics, often
causing those transferred to the prison from mental hospitals
to be returned to the hospitals.”33 Mentally ill prisoners were
occasionally shackled to the bars in a hallway by the main
gate.34 Interestingly, the court also found that “[a]ll of the
inmates are in constant danger of losing their lives should a
fire occur in the prison.”35

Since 1969, the Hamilton class action has been modified
to address continuing problems that have arisen at each of
OPP’s new facilities. The ACLU entered the case as class
counsel in 1989, and obtained court-ordered consent decrees
addressing several of the biggest ongoing problems at the jail,
including substandard medical care and environmental haz-
ards. In 1994, women prisoners filed a separate lawsuit
regarding their living conditions at OPP. They complained

FINES AND FEES

Under Louisiana’s Code of Criminal Procedure, any defendant who is convicted of a crime is liable for all costs
incurred in the trial, even if the court does not assess the costs.22 Where a court imposes a sentence that
includes payment of a fine or costs, a defendant faces additional incarceration for failure to pay.23 In many
cases, indigent defendants charged with petty offenses agree to plead guilty to minor charges in exchange for
time served. As part of the sentence, they are assessed fines and fees, which may total $40 per month for up
to five years.24 According to one local attorney, this “creates a cycle of incarceration where poor people are
routinely sent back to jail for no other offense, except that they couldn’t pay their fines and fees.”25

Some of the prisoners who were in OPP during the storm were there simply because of unpaid fines and fees.
Many still were held for months after the storm, lost in a dysfunctional criminal justice system that was virtually
destroyed by Katrina. For example, Greg Davis was in OPP during the storm, and was released in March 2006
only after law students from the Criminal Defense Clinic at Tulane Law School took on his case.26 When the law
students met Mr. Davis, he had no idea why he was still being held in prison.27

The reason: $448 in overdue court fines.28



15

that they were kept shackled while in labor, and one female
prisoner alleged that she was denied a gynecological exami-
nation despite the fact that she bled for 30 days after giving
birth.36 That case, Lambert v. Morial, was subsequently con-
solidated with the Hamilton suit.37

Immigration detainees at OPP have also endured horrific
conditions. In a 1998 report by Human Rights Watch, immi-
gration detainees at OPP provided “[s]ome of the most dis-
turbing and consistent complaints of inhumane conditions,”
including being subjected to excessive force by deputies,
receiving inadequate medical care, and being denied visits
with their lawyers.38 Upon arriving at Central Lock-Up, one
detainee explained: “I thought I’d gone to hell,”39 An attorney
remarked, “it’s easier to visit my clients on death row than it is
to visit an INS detainee at Orleans Parish Prison.”40

Juveniles housed in OPP’s CYC faced similar problems
to the adult prisoners. In 1993, the Youth Law Center filed a
lawsuit on behalf of CYC juveniles, alleging that they were
physically abused, denied educational programs and medical
and mental health care, housed in unsafe environmental con-
ditions, and denied visits.41 That same year, the Magistrate
Judge handling the Hamilton case held a hearing to investi-
gate continuing reports that deputies were physically abusing
juveniles at CYC. After interviewing several juveniles, the
court personally addressed 33 deputies who worked at the
facility. “Now, frankly, I am sick of having to come over here
and deal with this issue that there has been mistreatment of
juveniles in this facility,” she said.42 The court went so far as
to explain basic principles to the deputies, such as:

If [juveniles] stand up and bad mouth you and curse
you, that does not give you an excuse to hit them in
the face. If they do something else that is provocative,
that does not give you an excuse to kick them, to hit
them, or to do anything other than to bring them to
disciplinary, that’s what disciplinary is there for.43

Ten days later, the court entered an order against all 33
deputies she had chastised, prohibiting them “from, in any
way, violating the civil rights of any juvenile inmate either
now or in the future to be housed in the Conchetta facility of
the Orleans Parish Prison system.”44 The Youth Law Center
lawsuit later was settled after the first day of trial, resulting in
a number of changes, including a 50% reduction of the popu-
lation and increased educational opportunities for juveniles.45

Despite the Hamilton court’s order, and the Youth Law
Center settlement agreement, both CYC and YSC remained
violent and dangerous. Conditions were so poor that in 1997,
the New York Times called the Orleans Parish juvenile justice
system the worst in the nation.46 In June 2002, a 16-year-old
boy held at CYC complained that that “guards hit kids and
threaten to beat them up . . . guards beat kids up every day.”47

When interviewed by Juvenile Justice Project of Louisiana
(“JJPL”), he was very upset about having had to wear the
same underwear for three days in a row.48 Children also
reported that staff failed to protect them from violence by
other children. One 14-year-old boy told JJPL that CYC
staff members did nothing to protect him from the threats of
other children; he stayed in his cell all day to avoid being

injured.49Among the problems one 15-year-old boy had to
endure were routine strip searches and awful food.50 He also
reported that the rat-infested detention center made his
“nerves bad.”51

C. Recent Deaths at OPP

Many of the problems at OPP in the years preceding Hurri-
cane Katrina were remarkably similar to those found to
“shock the conscience” of the trial court judge in 1970. In
June 2004, two OPP deputies allegedly beat to death a man
named Mark Jones after he was picked up for public drunk-
enness. According to a lawsuit filed by Mr. Jones’s father, dur-
ing processing at the jail, one deputy “grabbed Mr. Jones by
the neck with sufficient force to result in a fracture of Mr.
Jones’[s] thyroid cartilage and other injury to his neck.”52 A
short time later, a second deputy allegedly punched Mr. Jones
in the face, “causing severe head trauma, including the lacera-
tion of Mr. Jones[’s] vertebral artery, damage to his brain and
bleeding from his nose, mouth and head.”53 Rendered uncon-
scious by these attacks, Mr. Jones was taken to the hospital,
where he was declared brain dead just one day after his
arrest.54 Both deputies were indicted by a grand jury, one on a
charge of manslaughter and the other on a charge of battery.55

A number of OPP prisoners have also died in recent
years from medical conditions that appear to be entirely
treatable. In October 2004, an OPP prisoner died of a rup-
tured peptic ulcer. According to the Orleans Parish coroner,
the man probably writhed in agony for twelve hours before
his death.56 Members of the public organized a rally to high-
light the problems with medical services at OPP after
another prisoner died in February 2005 of tuberculosis, and
an OPP deputy died of pneumonia two weeks later.57 On the
same day as the rally, an OPP prisoner died of bacterial
pneumonia.58 In April 2005, a 64-year-old prisoner with
health problems died nine days after his attorneys com-
plained that he was not receiving his proper medications, and
the following month a prisoner with a history of health prob-
lems died at Charity Hospital while receiving kidney
dialysis.59 In the two months preceding Hurricane Katrina,
two more prisoners died while under medical observation at
OPP.60 Another prisoner is believed to have died the day
before Hurricane Katrina hit New Orleans, although no
information is currently known about his death.61 

OPP has also had major problems with the provision of
mental health care. In 2001, a young man named Shawn
Duncan entered OPP on traffic charges. Identified as suici-
dal, Mr. Duncan was placed in HOD’s 10th Floor mental
health tier. During his seven days at OPP, Mr. Duncan was
twice placed in five-point restraints: in a bed, his arms were
strapped down at his wrists, his legs strapped down at his
ankles, and a leather belt was strapped across his waist, com-
pletely immobilizing him. The second time he was placed in
restraints, he was left largely unsupervised for 42 hours and
died of dehydration.62
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S hawn Duncan, a 24-year-old

resident of New Orleans, was

arrested on August 2, 2001 for vari-

ous traffic offenses.63 Mr. Duncan

notified the arresting officers that he

had ingested several valiums and

Somas, and was transported to the

Medical Center of Louisiana at New

Orleans, where he was treated in

the emergency room.64 He was dis-

charged from the hospital to OPP

with a diagnosis of drug overdose

and suicidal ideation, and a recom-

mendation for “Psych followup.”65

Upon entering OPP, Mr. Duncan

was housed in the psychiatric ward

on the 10th Floor of HOD.66 He was

immediately placed in four-point

restraints, and was later placed in

five-point restraints.67 A prisoner in

five-point restraints is secured to a

bed by straps on his arms, legs,

and across his waist. In five-point

restraints, a person cannot eat,

drink, move, or relieve himself with-

out the attention and care of cor-

rectional and medical staff. Mr.

Duncan remained in five-point

restraints for nearly 24 hours, dur-

ing which time he was not properly

examined by medical staff, nor

given enough water.68

Two days after being released from

restraints, Mr. Duncan was again

placed in five-point restraints.69 The

physician who ordered Mr. Duncan

back into five-point restraints never

examined him prior to giving this

order.70 After 12 hours, a second

physician ordered that Mr. Duncan

remain in five-point restraints for an

additional 12 hours; this doctor

also did not examine Mr. Duncan.71

Nine hours later, yet another doctor

finally examined Mr. Duncan, but

failed to note that he had received

no fluids for the past 21 hours, had

not been allowed to use the bath-

room, and had not been released

from the restraints for range-of-

motion or circulation checks.72 The

doctor ordered that Mr. Duncan’s

restraints be continued with no time

limit specified.73

Over the next 22 hours, no doctor

examined Mr. Duncan. The deputies

who were charged with checking

Mr. Duncan every 15 minutes failed

to perform their duties.74 They never

responded or called for medical

attention when Mr. Duncan began

“cursing, yelling or screaming.”75

Mr. Duncan remained in five-point

restraints for over 42 hours

straight.76 On August 10, 2001,

another prisoner noticed that Mr.

Duncan was not breathing.77 That

prisoner notified the nursing staff,

and Mr. Duncan was later declared

dead at Charity Hospital.78 The

cause of death was dehydration.79

During the autopsy, Mr. Duncan

was described as “gaunt in

appearance, with his abdomen

and eyeballs sunken in.”80 His

weight was 158 pounds. Just three

days earlier he weighed 178

pounds.81 Mr. Duncan received flu-

ids once during the entire 42-hour

period when he was in five-point

restraints. Logs maintained by the

deputies on duty indicate that Mr.

Duncan was monitored every 15

minutes, and that he regularly ate

food. However, at his autopsy, there

was no evidence that Mr. Duncan

had ingested any food during this

period.82 Mr. Duncan’s mother and

two children filed a lawsuit following

his death. The Sheriff’s office settled

the lawsuit in 2004 with an agree-

ment that the terms of the settle-

ment remain confidential. n

THE DEATH OF SHAWN DUNCAN

A prisoner in five-point restraints is secured to a bed by

straps on his arms, legs, and across his waist. In five-

point restraints, a person cannot

eat, drink, move, or relieve him-

self without the attention and

care of correctional and medical

staff. Mr. Duncan remained in five-point restraints

for nearly 24 hours, during which time he was not properly

examined by medical staff, nor given enough water.
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Less than two years later, another suicidal OPP prisoner died
while restrained in the exact same cell where Shawn Duncan
died.83 The prisoner, Matthew Bonnette, was placed on suicide
watch in HOD’s 10th Floor psychiatric unit after he threat-
ened to harm himself during his arrest. Although Mr. Bonnette
was on suicide watch, deputies left him in a cell where they
could not keep him under close and constant watch.84 Mr. Bon-
nette was confined in four-point restraints, his wrists hand-
cuffed and latched to a waist belt and his ankles shackled.85

Twelve hours after Mr. Bonnette was placed in the cell,
another prisoner notified deputies and nurses that Mr. Bon-
nette was hanging from the upper bunk and appeared to be
dead.86 Mr. Bonnette hanged himself with a leather belt that
inexplicably had been left in his cell.87 Just over three weeks
before Hurricane Katrina hit OPP, yet another prisoner in the
mental health tier committed suicide by hanging.88

D. Racial Justice and OPP

Hurricane Katrina exposed the deep racial divisions that
have long existed in New Orleans. The city is one of the most
segregated metropolitan areas in the country,89 and its crimi-
nal justice system reflects this fact, from the disproportionate
targeting of African-American residents by its police depart-
ment to the over-incarceration of African-Americans in its
jail. The New Orleans Police Department (“NOPD”) in par-
ticular has a longstanding history of racism and brutality. In
1980, a mob of white cops rampaged through a black section
of the city in retaliation for the murder of a police officer,
killing four people and injuring as many as fifty. According to
reports, people were tortured and dragged into the swamps to
face mock executions.90 In 1990, a black man accused of
killing a white officer was beaten to death by officers who
had gathered to wait for him at the hospital to which he was
transported; no officers were criminally prosecuted or
administratively sanctioned.91

These incidents, which would be termed a race riot and
a lynching if performed by private citizens, are merely the
most sensational examples of the department’s racially dis-
criminatory practices. The NOPD also has faced repeated
accusations of racial profiling.92 The number of complaints of
police violence and unwarranted stops and arrests of black
citizens recently reached such proportions that in April 2006,
the ACLU of Louisiana filed a state Public Records Act
request with the NOPD seeking information on racial profil-
ing and police misconduct, and urged systemic reforms of the
department.93

Institutional racism and the targeting of African-Ameri-
cans by the NOPD have resulted in the over-incarceration of
African-Americans in OPP. OPP itself is but one product of
a larger pattern of racially differentiated incarceration prac-
tices in the United States. For example, while only 12.3% of
American citizens are black, they make up 43.7% of the
incarcerated population across the country.94 In 2005, the
incarceration rates for black males of all ages were 5 to 7
times greater than for white males in the same age groups.95

Prior to Katrina, an astonishing 12% of all black males in
their late twenties were in prison or jail in the United
States.96 In Louisiana, which has the highest incarceration
rate of any state, the black incarceration rate at state prisons

and local jails was 4.7 times higher than the white rate in
2005.97 Orleans Parish was no exception: although the parish
itself was only 66.6% black prior to Hurricane Katrina,
almost 90% of the OPP population was black.98

Racial considerations pervade every aspect of the OPP
story, from the administrative decision not to evacuate the
prison population to the mistreatment of individual prisoners
in the weeks that followed. Endemic racial tensions played a
central role in the disaster that unfolded following Hurricane
Katrina. The testimonials of prisoners, staff, and deputies
depict a situation marked not only by chaos and mismanage-
ment, but also by racially motivated hostility on the part of
prison officials. 

E. Legal Protections for Prisoners

1. Domestic Legal Protections

The state’s power to imprison its citizens carries with it the
duty to provide for their basic needs.99 The Eighth Amend-
ment of the U.S. Constitution, which prohibits the infliction
of cruel and unusual punishment,100 protects prisoners from
the deprivation of food, clothing, shelter, medical care, and
reasonable safety.101 The Eighth Amendment is violated
when the state shows “deliberate indifference” to conditions
that pose a substantial risk of serious harm to prisoners.102

From the outset, the lack of preparedness demonstrated
by OPP officials raises serious constitutional concerns, as
does the chaos that followed, both at OPP in the days follow-
ing the storm and at various receiving facilities in the weeks
and months after the evacuation. Prison officials failed to
meet their constitutional duty to adopt adequate emergency
procedures and evacuation plans to protect prisoners from
dangerous conditions or natural disasters.103 Prison officials
also failed to provide prisoners with adequate food and
water,104 and held them in unsanitary and hazardous condi-
tions that posed a serious risk to their health and safety.105

Prisoners were subject to unnecessary and wanton infliction
of pain by deputies and staff, in violation of the Eighth and
Fourteenth Amendments.106 Prison officials also failed to
meet their legal duty to protect prisoners from physical and
sexual violence from other prisoners,107 and failed to provide
adequate medical treatment to prisoners during and after the
storm.108 Seriously mentally ill prisoners likewise did not
receive adequate mental health care, as the Constitution
requires.109

Prison officials at OPP and at several receiving facilities
may have also violated constitutional and statutory prohibi-
tions on racial discrimination. Specifically, the direct partici-
pation of prison officials in race-based violence and abuse at
several other Louisiana prisons likely constitutes a violation
of the Fourteenth Amendment and the 1964 Civil Rights
Act. In addition, the brutal mistreatment of black prisoners
at several receiving facilities may also have violated state and
federal hate crimes statutes.

2. International Legal Protections

The violations of prisoners’ rights that are detailed in this



report also implicate several human rights instruments.110

Many of these rights revolve around a tenet of human rights
law that is absent from U.S. constitutional law: “All persons
deprived of their liberty shall be treated with humanity and
with respect for the inherent dignity of the human person.”111

This principle was ignored from the very beginning, when the
welfare of the prisoners was not given its due, to the present
day, when evacuees continue to sit in jail on minor charges—
or no charges at all—without any ability to speak with a
lawyer or appear before a judge.

In the days before the storm, phones were cut off, pre-
venting prisoners from communicating with loved ones about
their plans for evacuation. This problem was repeated at
some receiving facilities, when prisoners were prevented for
months from using the phones to locate family members. This
denial of contact with family contravenes international pro-
tections,112 particularly when it comes to the children who
were separated from their parents during and after the
storm.113 Additional violations occurred in the mixing of juve-
niles with adults at several of the buildings during the storm.114

International principles prohibit the denial of food and
water that prisoners in OPP experienced for days,115 and
require that prisoners receive proper medical attention.116

The unsafe and unsanitary conditions in which OPP prison-
ers were forced to live inside the jail and at various receiving
facilities violate several human rights standards.117 Interna-
tional treaties also prohibit the kind of violence against pris-
oners that occurred at OPP and elsewhere.118 At no time
would the macing or beating of prisoners without instigation
be permissible, storm or no storm; these norms cannot be
avoided. The racial discrimination that prisoners faced at
OPP and at several receiving facilities is universally prohib-
ited by international norms.119
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Most OPP build-
ings remain
abandoned
nearly one year
after Hurricane
Katrina
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In the days leading up to Hurricane Katrina’s landfall, local,
state, and federal officials were taking steps to prepare for the
storm.2 According to a report issued by the Select Bipartisan
Committee to Investigate the Preparation for and Response to
Hurricane Katrina, the Federal Emergency Management
Agency took efforts that “far exceeded any previous operation
in the agency’s history.”3 On Saturday, August 27, Louisiana
Governor Kathleen Babineaux Blanco asked President Bush
to “declare an emergency for the State of Louisiana due to
Hurricane Katrina for the time period beginning August 26,
2005, and continuing.”4 Later that day, the President declared
an emergency for the state of Louisiana.5 The next day, Gover-
nor Blanco again wrote to President Bush, asking that he
“declare an expedited major disaster for the State of Louisiana
as Hurricane Katrina, a Category V Hurricane, approaches
our coast . . . beginning on August 28, 2005 and continuing.”6

The next day, President Bush declared a major disaster for the
state of Louisiana.7

The evacuation of southeastern Louisiana began on Sat-
urday, August 27. Governor Blanco and Louisiana state
agencies implemented an emergency evacuation plan that
called for communicating with the public and opening up
roadways on major highways to avoid congestion (the “Con-
traflow Plan”).8 Although several parishes called for manda-
tory evacuations, and New Orleans Mayor C. Ray Nagin
declared a state of emergency for the city, the Mayor did not
order a mandatory evacuation of Orleans Parish. Instead, he
recommended only that people living in certain areas of the
city begin to evacuate.9

On the morning of Sunday, August 28, Governor Blanco
and Mayor Nagin called a press conference at which the
Mayor declared the first mandatory evacuation of New
Orleans in the city’s history. Mayor Nagin recognized that
the city was “facing a storm that most of us have feared,” and
he emphasized, “the first choice for every citizen is to figure
out a way to leave the city.”10

Mayor Nagin’s mandatory evacuation order for Orleans
Parish excluded “[e]ssential personnel of the Orleans Parish
criminal sheriff’s office and its inmates.”11 When the Mayor
began to field questions, he was asked about the decision not
to evacuate the prisoners in OPP. Mayor Nagin referred the

I I .  PREPARING FOR THE STORM
“We’re going to keep our prisoners where they belong.” 1
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question to Sheriff Gusman, who responded: “[W]e have
backup generators to accommodate any power loss. . . .
We’re fully staffed. We’re under our emergency operations
plan. . . . [W]e’ve been working with the police department—
so we’re going to keep our prisoners where they belong.”12

One day earlier, across town from OPP, the Louisiana
Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals (“LSPCA”)
made a different decision regarding the welfare of the 263 stray
pets that were in their care.13 Despite the fact that on Saturday
morning the wind had not yet begun to blow, LSPCA staff

A. What Makes a Good Emergency Operations Plan?

Having an emergency preparedness plan is critical for both public and private institutions, particularly prisons and jails,
which “are responsible for the safety of large numbers of individuals who are usually locked up and cannot protect them-
selves in many emergency situations.”17 In 2005, the U.S. Department of Justice, National Institute of Corrections, pub-
lished A Guide to Preparing for and Responding to Prison Emergencies (the “NIC Guide”).18 The NIC Guide contains a
self-audit checklist of hundreds of questions that a facility’s commanders should ask to assess the facility’s emergency
readiness. The questions address a prison’s written policies, its training practices, and the organizational structure needed
to maintain command and control. The checklist is intended to serve a variety of functions, such as providing “manage-
ment with an objective assessment of the progress and status of the emergency system” and creating an “opportunity to
evaluate or reevaluate resource allocation.”19 The “ultimate goal” of an audit is to “improve the system.”20 The self-audit
checklist contains questions regarding:

EMERGENCY GENERATORS21

• Is there an emergency generator?

• Is the emergency generator adequate to run critical areas of the institution and critical equipment safely for 24 hrs?

• Are staff trained to know which systems will be run on emergency power and which will be inoperable during a

main power outage?

• Do all emergency generators have sufficient fuel to run for a minimum of 72 hours continuously?

• If the emergency generators must be started manually in the event of a main power outage, are there staff on

duty on a 24-hour basis who are trained to start and operate those generators?

OFFSITE EVACUATIONS22

• Is there an offsite evacuation plan?

If yes, does the offsite evacuation plan include the following:

• Potential destinations?

• Specific transportation alternatives?

• Security procedures during evacuation?

• Which inmate records must be moved with inmates?

• Procedures for providing medical services during and after the evacuation?

• Provisions for coordinating with local and state police during the evacuation?

• Arrangements for meal services at the new location?

• Arrangements for inmate identification and count at the new location?

• Arrangements for housing and security at the new location?

• Predetermined evacuation routes?

• Procedures for protection or destruction of confidential records that cannot be evacuated?

MEDICAL SERVICES23

• Is there a comprehensive medical plan for an institutional emergency?

• Does the plan include mass casualties/triage?

• Are staff trained in blood-borne pathogen precautions?

• Is a location other than the infirmary identified for mass casualties/triage?

• Does the institution have an emergency-equipped medical crash cart?

• Are there adequate numbers of gurneys?

• Are backup medical resources for emergencies identified in the community?

packed up all of the animals and evacuated them to safety.
Before doing so, they took digital photographs of every single
animal.14 LSPCA staff “made sure each pet’s paperwork was
in order. And we IDed each collar; we had a tracking system
in case any animal got separated from their paperwork.”15

Although the process of moving 263 dogs and cats was diffi-
cult, the decision to evacuate was not; the animal shelter’s
emergency policy unambiguously required an evacuation “for
Category 3 hurricanes and above.”16
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The NIC Guide contains a separate checklist to test a prison or jail’s readiness to prepare for and respond to natural disasters.
Natural disasters are different from other types of emergencies, because the proper response may require an offsite evacua-
tion of the entire prisoner population. Given the unique challenges raised by natural disasters, a special degree of preparation
is also needed. The natural disaster checklist contains additional questions regarding:

GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS24

• Does the institution have policies in place specific to natural disaster planning, response, and recovery opera-

tions?

• Does the institution conduct routine training in natural disaster response, including drills and exercises?

• Does the institution have current mutual aid agreements with outside agencies to coordinate response activi-

ties during a natural disaster?

• Does the institution have emergency response plans and checklists specific to natural disaster response?

• Has the institution identified supplies and equipment that may be needed in a natural disaster (water, tents,

portable toilets, portable lighting, blankets, etc.)?

• Does the institution have evacuation and relocation plans, alternative sites selected, and arrangements and

agreements for natural disasters?

• Does the institution have a plan to operate the institution with reduced staffing levels should a natural disaster

make that necessary?

• Does the institution have an emergency staff services (ESS) program to respond to staff and staff family needs

in the event of a natural disaster?

• Has the institution planned for ‘desert island operations’ (operating for an extended period without contact or

assistance from outside) in the event of a natural disaster?

• Is the institution prepared to maintain security and essential services, in the event of loss of power or other

utilities, for as long as 72 hours?

• Does the institution have a 3-day supply of potable water onsite or an alternate water supply system?

• Does the institution have a 3-day supply of food that would not need cooking?

• Does the institution have a 3-day supply of medications for inmates onsite?

• Do staff and inmates participate in severe weather drills?

FLOOD DISASTERS25

• Has the institution conducted a thorough risk assessment of vulnerable areas and equipment in the event of

rising water?

• Does the institution have detailed plans for a complete offsite evacuation in the event of a flood?

• Have those offsite evacuation plans been reviewed carefully within the past 12 months?

• Has the institution practiced or drilled with a flood-related offsite evacuation scenario within the past 24

months, at the level of table-top exercise or above?

• Does the institution have a plan for moving expensive or crucial equipment in the event of rising water?

• Is the institution’s offsite evacuation plan for flood developed in stages, so it could be enacted in response to

predetermined flood stages or severity of warning?

• Do the institution’s flood plans include an analysis of which access and egress routes would be rendered

unusable at various flood stages, along with alternate access and egress plans for those flood stages?

HURRICANE DISASTERS26

• Is there a plan for managing the inmate population while waiting to see if a hurricane actually will hit the insti-

tution?

• Have staff received any training specifically on preparing for and responding to a hurricane within the last 24

months?

• Do the institution’s hurricane plans include an assessment of potential for localized flooding?

• Do the institution’s hurricane plans include an assessment of the vulnerability of various utilities?
• Does the institution have portable water pumps?
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M y son, Corey, was 15 years

old when the hurricane hit

New Orleans. Before the storm, I

used to visit my son at OPP every

Thursday. The last time I saw him

was in August 2005, the Thursday

before the storm hit. Now it is June

2006 and I still have not seen him.

When the storm hit, at first my fam-

ily wasn’t going to leave. The day

before the storm, we went to a

hotel room and stayed there. I tried

to make contact with my son to see

if he was okay, but I couldn’t get

through to the jail. After the hurri-

cane hit, by the grace of God they

let us come home to get our things.

Our telephone was still on and I

tried reaching the jail again—still no

answer. We packed up our things

and left on September 1, 2005.

After the storm I called all of the jails

I could, trying to find my son. I kept

bothering the jails, but no one was

giving me any information. I was

calling radio stations trying to get

information and was given different

numbers.

I heard stories on the news that

they had inmates floating out on

the water, that some had drowned.

I was hysterical, not knowing were

my child was, not knowing if he had

eaten, not knowing if he was one of

the body count. It was a mess. 

It wasn’t until a month and a half

later that I finally found out that he

was okay. The reason the jails

couldn’t find him was because he

was a juvenile being held as an

adult, so no one had him listed. I

finally got through to Winn Correc-

tional Center, and they told me that

they had my son for a week or so

after the storm. When they found

out he was only 15 years old, they

shipped him to Tallulah.

At Tallulah, Corey was being

housed with adults; they said, “you

came in with adults, you stay with

adults.” He got beat up there by

two adult inmates. They split

Corey’s jaw open and gave him a

black eye. I still couldn’t go to see

him. They put him in isolation and

told me he didn’t have any privi-

leges because he was an evacuee

and was only there temporarily.

When I called Tallulah, they wouldn’t

let me talk to my son, and they told

me that the inmates were not able to

make phone calls because they

were in isolation. But I kept calling. I

just wanted someone to let him

know I was calling, hoping they

would let him make just one call. I

was also worried because my son

takes medication for Attention

Deficit Disorder and another behav-

ioral disorder. He received that med-

ication when he was on the street,

and he also received it at the juvenile

facility where he was previously held.

When he got to OPP, they didn’t

give him medication. They said

Corey “should’ve thought of that

before he did what he did.” I was

told they don’t administer meds to

juveniles housed with adults at OPP.

After the storm, Corey still didn’t get

his medication. I think he first got the

medication in April, over seven

months after the storm hit.

The deputies at the prison told me

he would be able to make phone

calls in one week. We were staying

with other people, but we went

back home because we had tele-

phone service in case Corey called.

We went home even though it was-

n’t a place to be. 

When I finally got to speak with my

son, to tell him that we wasn’t home

and that we had evacuated, he had

a lot of things to tell me about what

happened at OPP during the storm.

He had a lot of things to tell me but

he couldn’t because they only gave

him three minutes on the phone.

The funny thing is that my son had

the opportunity to escape and

come home. At least then I would

have known that he was okay; I

could’ve turned him in later, as long

as I knew he was okay.

About two months ago, my son

was moved to Forcht-Wade Cor-

rectional Center, which is over 300

miles away from New Orleans.

When he was there, he called me

on the phone every weekend, but I

still couldn’t visit him. Because he

was getting his medication, he was

doing a lot better. He was able to

focus, he could write. He is 16

years old now and he hasn’t even

been to court. In May, I went to

court in New Orleans when I found

out that his case was supposed to

be heard. The judge was there, a

lawyer was there for my son, and I

was there, but Corey was still up at

Forcht-Wade, so the case was con-

tinued. That was the third time his

case was called in New Orleans,

and the third time his case was con-

tinued because they hadn’t brought

him back to New Orleans to see the

judge. I went again in June, this time

with my husband and Corey’s two

younger brothers. I called Forcht-

Wade the day before the court date

to make sure they brought Corey to

New Orleans. The people I spoke to

said they had no idea he had a

court date at 9am the next day, but

they promised to get him to New

Orleans. Before arriving in court I

called Forcht-Wade again, and they

confirmed that he had been sent to

New Orleans.

When I walked into that courtroom, I

looked around and I couldn’t see my

baby. I wanted to see him so bad,

but he wasn’t there. An attorney for

the ACLU called Forcht-Wade, and

they said they had sent Corey to

New Orleans early in the morning,

and that he arrived in Orleans Parish

Prison at around 8am. The Sheriff’s

deputy in the courtroom said that

they only bring inmates to the court

twice a day and they had already

brought all of the inmates for the

morning court hearing. Corey’s

lawyer told the judge that my son

was sitting in the jail, just two blocks

away, but the judge decided to set a

trial date for my son without bringing

him to court.

After that was done, I went to Cen-

tral Lock-Up to see my son, but they

don’t allow visitation for inmates in

Central Lock-Up. Corey has been

locked up for over one year, and he

was finally back in New Orleans and

I couldn’t even see him. One deputy

allowed Corey to call me on my cell

phone, and it was good to hear his

voice, but I wish my other sons had

a chance to see their brother.27 n

I wish my other sons had a

chance to see their brother. 

GLYENDALE AND COREY STEVENSON



B. What Was the Emergency Operations 
Plan at OPP?

Several months before Hurricane Katrina hit New Orleans,
the DOC contacted the Orleans Parish Criminal Sheriff’s
Office to schedule a meeting regarding the evacuation plan of
OPP; that meeting never occurred.28 The day before the
storm, Sheriff Gusman stated that the prison was operating
under its emergency operations plan. But in the aftermath of
Hurricane Katrina it became clear that the plan the Sheriff
was relying on did not exist, was inadequate to provide guid-
ance to staff and prisoners, or was ineptly executed.

Days before the storm, the DOC offered to assist local
sheriffs in evacuating their prisoners. DOC successfully
evacuated Plaquemines Parish Prison and St. Tammany
Work Release on August 27, and completed the evacuation
of St. John Parish Prison, Lafayette Community Correc-
tional Center and Lafourche Work Release by the afternoon
of August 28.29 Sheriff Gusman declined the DOC’s offer to
assist in the pre-storm evacuation of OPP.30 “We knew it was
headed there,” said Warden Jimmy LeBlanc of Dixon Cor-
rectional Institute, a state prison in central Louisiana, north
of Baton Rouge. “We need to have contraflow emergency
evacuation plans for corrections.”31

But according to a technical assistance report commis-
sioned by the Louisiana DOC, the contraflow plan for south-
eastern Louisiana does address the evacuation of prisons.
According to that report, the evacuation of prisons in south-
eastern Louisiana is supposed to occur during a “specific
window[] of time, but much earlier than the general popula-
tion evacuation.”32 It is not clear whether this plan pertains
only to DOC facilities, or if it applies more broadly to all pris-
ons and jails in southeastern Louisiana. The DOC denied a
Public Records Act request by the ACLU of Louisiana to
review that portion of the plan.33

The scene that developed inside OPP was “nothing but
chaos,” according to Brady Richard, the jail’s Medical Sup-
ply Officer at the time of the storm. “People need to under-
stand that we just should never have been in there in the first
place.”34 One deputy who was present throughout the storm
agrees, noting: “It wasn’t like there weren’t people telling the
sheriff you need to move these inmates out before the storm
hits. It should have been done and would have kept every-
body out of harm’s way. . . .”35 Another deputy explains that
he faults Sheriff Gusman “for not reacting sooner. When he
knew the water was going to rise up—on the 30th at the latest
we should have been evacuated.”36

The Sheriff’s decision not to evacuate OPP when DOC
first offered to assist also hindered the rescue efforts. Due to
the late notice provided by OPP, some of the buses that DOC
could have used for the rescue were already being used to
transport prisoners back to facilities that had been evacuated
earlier, and were not damaged by the storm.37 Speaking
months after the storm, a DOC spokesperson acknowledged,
“[w]e had not planned for the evacuation of the entire
Orleans Parish Prison all at one time and we did not plan for
the fact that we would only have a certain amount of time
because the water was still rising.”38

Rather than evacuate, OPP opened its doors on August

28 to several hundred additional adult and juvenile prisoners
from St. Bernard Parish, as well as juveniles from YSC.
Because of a lack of space, the male prisoners from St.
Bernard Parish were placed in a gymnasium on the first floor
of the Templeman III building. In addition to importing addi-
tional prisoners, OPP also allowed family members of the
deputies and staff at OPP to remain in the prison buildings,
along with people from the neighborhoods around the jail.

Only after the storm did it become clear how horribly ill-
prepared OPP was for Hurricane Katrina. According to one
employee, Sheriff Gusman held a meeting on Sunday,
August 28 to discuss hurricane preparedness. When notified
that the jail was the least prepared for a storm it had ever
been, and that there was insufficient water, flashlights, bat-
teries, and food, the Sheriff reportedly stated: “Those are
incidentals, and we’ll deal with them later.”39
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A t the time of the storm, I had

been working for the Orleans

Parish Prison for less than one year.

I was the Medical Supply Officer,

which meant that I was in charge of

purchasing medical supplies and

distributing them to the 10 medical

clinics in the prison system. In the

days before the storm, I was not

consulted about making any

preparations for the storm. I was

only told that I had to report to duty

on Sunday evening, August 28. My

supervisor, the Medical Director,

was not included in any of the plan-

ning meetings for the storm either. I

was told that on the Sunday of the

storm, the Sheriff held a meeting

with the ranking officers. At that

meeting I understand it was

brought to the Sheriff’s attention

that there were insufficient amounts

of supplies needed for the storm. 

When the storm made landfall, I

was in the Community Correctional

Center (“CCC”) building on Gravier

Street. The situation there deterio-

rated as the water rose. There

appeared to be little communica-

tion with the inmates. As time

passed the inmates became more

volatile; they were breaking through

concrete walls, yelling and chanting

in unison, banging loudly, and

knocking out exterior windows.

They were in the dark for days and

went without food or water for

extended periods of time. The situ-

ation became too unsafe for med-

ical personnel to distribute

medication to them. I was unable

to access my office and supply

rooms on the 5th Floor of the build-

ing. Instead I set up a makeshift

supply room and medical triage in

the IT department on the 1st Floor

from which I worked with doctors

and nurses treating patients. It was

really hot and stuffy in the 1st Floor

administration area of the jail, and

conditions had to be much worse

on the prisoners’ tiers. 

On Tuesday night, I was sent out to

the HOD building located on Per-

dido Street to deliver medical sup-

plies. I was brought there by boat,

but had to wade through chest-

deep water from the entrance of the

building to the stairwell inside that

was filled with feces, diesel fuel,

dead rats, garbage and other

debris. It took about seven trips

through the flooded halls to deliver

everything. After making the last trip

I sat in an empty boat that was tied

to the entrance of the building for

about 11/2 hours while waiting for

another boat to transport me back

to the CCC building. As I sat there in

the dark night above at least six feet

of water an eerie red glow illumi-

nated the dark water as the electri-

cal systems of the submerged

vehicles shorted out. It was then

that I reached a real low point as the

severity of the situation began to set

in to my mind and as I listened to

the cries for help from civilians

trapped in their nearby homes as

the floodwaters rose inside of them.

Conditions continued to deteriorate

and really took a turn for the worse

just as I was approaching the CCC

building on my return trip. The build-

ing’s generators failed as the electri-

cal systems in the basement

became flooded. There were at

least 200 frightened civilians (family

members of employees) who had

taken refuge at the prison now all in

total darkness camping out on the

1st Floor veranda of the building.

The deputies and the staff were

rationing our food; one of my

employees who had sought refuge

at the prison with her family had an

orange and some sliced bread, and

she said it was what was given for

breakfast. No one, including the

deputies, seemed to know when or

whether help was going to arrive.

The administration and the Sheriff

failed us miserably and communi-

cation was non-existent. At one

point in CCC, the inmates breached

walls and gained access to the

entire building down to the 1st

Floor; there was only one last door

separating them from the employ-

ees and civilians. The employees

broke cots to use the wooden legs

for protection. One deputy grabbed

a curling iron to protect herself. Can

you imagine how unprotected we

felt? Conditions became better

when the Department of Correc-

tions arrived in armored gear to

secure the building and assist in the

evacuation of the inmates.

From the veranda of the CCC build-

ing, I could see snipers on the roof

of the HOD building shooting at

inmates. At the time I thought they

were shooting real bullets, but I was

later told that they were shooting

rubber bullets at inmates who were

trying to escape. At the same time

that guards were shooting they were

yelling “Get back, get back! Don’t

jump!” I remember thinking: “What in

the hell have I gotten myself into?” I

thought I was in a war zone. From

my angle I could not see who was

hit or whether there were injuries,

but I guess that over a couple of

days they fired dozens of shots.

From the veranda of CCC, I could

see doors open on the 3rd Floor of

the Templeman III building, and there

were sheets hanging out. The doors

probably once opened onto a fire

escape, but there was no fire

escape that I could see. 

I arrived at the jail on Sunday at

around 5 pm, and I left on one of the

last boats out on Friday afternoon

around 4 pm. When I got to the

Broad Street Overpass, I had to

climb down scaffolding to get on a

bus. There was no meeting of staff

or deputies before we got on the

bus, and we did not even know

where the bus was going. The

Medical Director did his best to

keep the medical staff together so

that wherever we ended up we

would end up together—at least

then our group could pool our

resources and work together as a

unit to help one another. We ended

up at the Lions Club Hall in Gray,

Louisiana, near Houma. Sheriff

Gusman got on a stage with the

owners of the building and some

dignitaries. He told everyone that

we “should be thankful to these two

gentlemen for taking us in and

opening their building for us” and

“you should be appreciative

because they could be at home in

their recliners watching television.

Instead they opened their building

up for you.” The Sheriff then chas-

tised the employees to contain their

children and to respect the building.

He stated: “I’m not sure what you’ll

eat tonight, but we’ll try to get

something hot for you tomorrow.”

He then left the facility without even

thanking his employees. Luckily, the

people of Houma began showing

up with food and supplies for us.

Dominos donated pizza for us also.

Some people from the community

offered to wash clothes and offered

to let anyone shower in their homes.

The medical staff took turns using

one another’s cell phones and

chargers to make calls for help.

That night I was finally able to get a

call out to a friend who came to get

me. I was luckier than others who

were still at the facility a week later.

After the storm, in the local paper’s

online forum, I posted a response to

a request for information about an

OPP employee. I provided the per-

son with factual information about

our evacuation and made some

general comments about how peo-

ple were treated at OPP. The com-

ments were posted on the general

forum instead of a private message.

I have been told that Sheriff Gusman

does not want anyone who was not

100% behind him to return to the

Sheriff’s Department. It seems that

his method of damage control is to

just not acknowledge certain things

or people. My request for informa-

tion regarding the status of my

employment and my desire to con-

tinue my health care benefits under

the Consolidated Omnibus Budget

Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”) has

been ignored.40  n

From the veranda of the CCC building, I could see snipers on the roof

of the HOD building shooting at inmates ... I remember thinking:

“What in the hell have I gotten myself into?” 

BRADY RICHARD, MEDICAL SUPPLY OFFICER
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So what was the emergency operations plan in place at the
time of the storm? The ACLU of Louisiana filed written
requests to state and local officials, including Sheriff Gus-
man, for any evacuation plans that were in place for OPP on
August 26, 2005.41 Although the Louisiana Public Records
Act requires that government officials respond to such
requests within three business days, the Sheriff failed to
respond for over seven weeks. Only after the ACLU of
Louisiana sued the Sheriff for violating state law did the
Sheriff’s attorney respond to the request.42 That response
contains the cryptic statement: “All documents re[garding]
evacuation plans were underwater—can’t find any now.”43

It defies common sense that all copies of the evacuation
plan were destroyed in the storm, since each staff member
who was responsible for carrying out the evacuation should
have had a copy. However, long-time deputies at OPP state
that they knew of no evacuation plan. Christina Foster
served as a deputy in HOD for over two and a half years
prior to Hurricane Katrina. According to Deputy Foster, the
only plan she knew of to evacuate the building was the fire
escape route displayed on the walls of the jail.44 Rhonda
Ducre, also a deputy in HOD, agrees: “I’ve been here four
years and it’s always the same old thing when hurricanes
come. There’s no plan.”45 Another OPP deputy who joined
the Sheriff’s office in 2002 recalls that there was “no training
for emergencies in the training back in 2002. I’m certified to
carry a firearm and every year we go and get re-certified. Ini-
tial training for deputies went on for like three months. We
had a 90-hour course, and then we went to work and to acad-
emy class at the same time. We didn’t even have fire drills.
Only way we knew about fire exits is because they had
posters on the wall, but no one ever told us.”46 Speaking with
a reporter shortly after the evacuation, Deputy Luis Reyes
said prisoners in CCC “had been escaping throughout the
night because we were so shorthanded. People just did not
come in. There was no plan for this situation.”47

At the same time that the Sheriff said that all evacuation
plans were underwater, he provided the ACLU of Louisiana
with an undated, two-page document entitled “The Orleans
Parish Criminal Sheriff’s Office Hurricane/Flood Contin-
gency Plan” (the “Contingency Plan”).48 It is unclear whether
this plan even existed at the time of Hurricane Katrina, or
whether it was hastily prepared in response to the public
records request. 

The deficiencies in the Contingency Plan are so vast that
it would have been of little use even if it had been executed to
perfection.
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The Contingency Plan provides no information about how to
manage the prison population in advance of an expected
hurricane. 

The Contingency Plan contains no information about how to
conduct an offsite evacuation of the prison buildings in the
event of an emergency. 

The Contingency Plan requires that generators be fueled and
tested to ensure that they are operational, but makes no
mention of the fact that generators must be placed above
100-year flood levels in order to ensure that they remain
effective throughout an emergency. The Contingency Plan
also makes no mention of what essential services should be
supplied power in the event of an emergency. 

The Contingency Plan requires that departmental vehicles and
watercraft be fueled and tested for proper operation, but it does
nothing to ensure that enough vehicles are available to evacu-
ate thousands of individuals in the event of an emergency. 

The Contingency Plan states that each building shall be
stocked with a 96-hour supply of food and water, but says
nothing about how food and potable water will be distributed
to staff and prisoners during an emergency.

The Contingency Plan states that the Sheriff shall meet with
the Wardens of each building 24 hours prior to the storm to
discuss the provision of medical services during an emer-
gency, but says nothing about how medical services will be
administered to staff and prisoners during an emergency.
The Contingency Plan also makes no mention of whether
prisoners who are particularly vulnerable should be evacu-
ated in advance of other prisoners.

The Contingency Plan provides no information on what train-
ing staff members and prisoners should receive on proper
evacuation procedure. 

The Contingency Plan states that if a housing area is “ren-
dered unfit for habitation for a period exceeding 12 hours,”
the Sheriff shall call for an “emergency evacuation of the
affected building(s),” and that such an evacuation will be
“coordinated by the Sheriff with the La. DOC, the La. Sheriffs’
Association, or any other available agency.” 50

Prisoners were prevented from making phone calls to family
members days before the storm hit. They were not kept
informed about the status of the evacuation, and were often
falsely informed that their evacuation would be imminent.

The evacuation was haphazard. Power tools were needed to
open locked cells, and exterior walls and windows had to be
destroyed to remove prisoners from the building. Deputies in
at least one building chained cell doors closed using hand-
cuffs and leg shackles, further endangering the lives of
trapped prisoners.

Soon after power was lost, the backup generators in each of the
buildings also failed, plunging the jail into darkness. Some gener-
ators flooded because their electrical systems were located in
the basement of facilities. Other generators appear to have failed
because staff members ran out of fuel and/or were untrained at
operating them. Even while the generators were working, power
was not supplied to enable cell doors to open. In some buildings,
prisoners were left trapped in flooded cells without ventilation
and without any possibility of reaching a safe area.

Only three boats were available to evacuate nearly 7,000 pris-
oners, along with many hundreds of deputies, staff members,
and civilians.49 Many prisoners waited in Central Lock-Up for
over ten hours in chest-deep water, while boats took a handful
of prisoners at a time to the Broad Street Overpass.

Prisoners and deputies report that food and water were not
provided for days at a time following the storm. Deputies and
their family members ate the food intended for the prisoners,
while prisoners drank dirty floodwater or water that they col-
lected in garbage cans before the storm.

Deputies and medical staff in several buildings abandoned
patients in need of critical assistance. In at least one building,
all medical supplies were destroyed when the first floor of the
building completely flooded. The loss of power and the gen-
eral absence of deputies and medical staff from prisoner
areas prevented prompt responses to medical emergencies in
several buildings.

Deputies report that they had no knowledge of any evacuation
plan. When the evacuation began, it was led almost entirely by
DOC guards, not OPP deputies, and it was accomplished in
many buildings with excessive force.

Flooded areas of several jail buildings were evacuated haphaz-
ardly; others were not evacuated at all. Prisoners found them-
selves trapped behind locked cell doors as rising floodwaters
reached their chests. In many cases, fellow prisoners had to
break open locked cell doors to free trapped prisoners. The
plan does nothing to identify the actual responsibilities that
state and local agencies will have to respond to an emergency.
The state DOC was only contacted to assist with the evacua-
tion on Monday night, after buildings had already flooded, and
chaos was already rampant.

26 A M E R I C A N C I V I L L I B E R T I E S U N I O N

Flaws in the Contingency Plan Effect on Conditions in OPP



To his credit, Sheriff Gusman seemingly acknowledged the
inadequacy of the plan when asked about it several months
after the storm. The Sheriff explained that no evacuation
plan in place at the time of the storm could “detail[] what we
did because no one ever imagined we would be surrounded
by 7 to 8 feet of water.”51

In fact, local officials identified precisely that risk fewer
than two years prior to Katrina. In 2003, the Parish convened
a planning team in response to the Disaster Mitigation Act of
2000, a federal law requiring all local governments to develop
disaster plans in order to remain eligible for federal disaster-
relief funds. The planning team included representatives from
a wide array of private and public organizations,52 and con-
cluded that the area in which OPP is located faced a risk of
floodwaters rising up to eight feet.53
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The Nebraska Emergency Plan

The problems with the Contingency Plan become even starker when the plan is compared with emergency
preparedness systems from other state prison and jail systems. For instance, the Nebraska Department of
Correctional Services has a comprehensive set of policies that provide for a coordinated emergency response
in the event of a natural disaster. The Nebraska DOC employs an Emergency Management Supervisor
charged with emergency preparedness for all DOC facilities. Nebraska has developed a series of interrelated
policies that define who is responsible for what tasks in the event of an emergency, and what criteria should
be used to decide when or whether to evacuate a facility. In the event of a total evacuation, the Nebraska
DOC has policies in place for the sending and receiving institutions, and those policies include information on
the amount of bed space available at each potential receiving facility and the types of prisoners that the facility
is capable of accepting. The policies even identify which receiving facilities have the ability to hold evacuated
prisoners with special needs. 

Nebraska’s policies also discuss what steps need to be taken should a facility decide not to evacuate, but
rather to “defend in place.” The policies call for the warehouse to stock thirty days worth of essential provi-
sions. The policies also contain the contact information for emergency services personnel. Finally, the
Nebraska emergency management system provides a series of checklists that are to be used before, during,
and after a disaster to ensure that the most important steps are not forgotten in the middle of an otherwise
chaotic situation.54
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Prisoners 
broke holes in
walls to
escape the 
rising 
floodwaters.



There is no precise and reliable count of the number of peo-
ple in OPP on the day Hurricane Katrina hit. According to
the Sheriff’s statistics, OPP held 6375 prisoners on August
29, 2005.1 This figure includes OPP’s own population of
6021, plus 354 juveniles from YSC who were evacuated to
Templeman V prior to the storm.2 The Sheriff’s count does
not include the more than 270 adult prisoner-evacuees from
St. Bernard Parish, nor the handful of juveniles from St.
Bernard Parish who came to OPP. Media reports vary
wildly, with some estimating that there were as many as 8000
OPP prisoner-evacuees.3

The prisoners ranged in age from 10 to 73, and were
overwhelmingly male (89.5% male, 10.5% female). Although
only 66.6% of Orleans Parish was African-American prior
to the storm,4 OPP’s population at the time of the storm was
almost entirely African-American—89.3% of the population
was black, and only 9.6% were white.5 The racial disparity is
even greater with respect to the juveniles who were being
held in OPP: 98.7% of the juveniles held at CYC were
African-American, and 95% of the juvenile population at the
YSC was African-American.6 More than 300 of the prison-
ers in OPP on August 29 had been arrested and booked
between August 26-28, when the City of New Orleans and
the State of Louisiana were under states of emergency.

A. The Phones Go Dead

On Friday, August 26, the prisoners’ phones went dead,
although Hurricane Katrina was still days away from land-
fall, and the power had not yet been lost in any of the build-
ings. One prisoner recounts, “[n]o one was allowed to call out
and talk to family members to see where they were going and
if they were going to evacuate.”7 One female prisoner housed
in Conchetta remembers being “pushed back [by deputies]
because I was crying asking why did they turn the phones
off. I wanted to know if my kids were okay.”8 Several prison-
ers recall seeing deputies using the phones in the control
booths to speak with their loved ones. Another prisoner in
Conchetta says that she was not able to speak to her family
members who lived in the Ninth Ward, an area that was par-
ticularly devastated by Katrina; as of October 19, 2005, she
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still did not know whether her family even survived the
storm.9

On Sunday, many of the prisoners watched Sheriff Gus-
man’s televised announcement that they would not be evacu-
ated, but would instead remain in the prison to ride out the
storm. Like everyone else in New Orleans, they worried for
their safety and the safety of their loved ones. Unlike so
many others, however, they were powerless to do anything
about it. “What hurted also when Mr. Gusmen said to leave
the inmates where they are. My God, he left us there to die.”10

B. The Prison Goes into Lockdown

Before the storm, deputies placed all prisoners on lockdown:
those prisoners who were housed in units with cells were
locked behind their cell doors; those prisoners who stayed in
dormitory-style housing units were locked in their dorms.

In Templeman III, Tiers A and B serve as Receiving
Tiers, where prisoners are held for a short period of time
after being arrested and booked. While President Bush was
declaring a state of emergency for Louisiana, and the popula-
tion of New Orleans was ordered to evacuate the city, OPP
was still packing in its prisoners. Over 100 of the men who
were held in the Receiving Tiers during Hurricane Katrina
had been arrested and booked on minor charges on August
27 or August 28.

One man was arrested five days before the storm for
allegedly having failed to pay an old debt of $100 in fines and
fees.11 He was assigned to Unit B-2, where he spent several
days before the storm sleeping in the common area. He
reports that the riot squad came through the tier to put every-
one on lockdown. Although each cell was designed to hold
two people, all of the prisoners were placed into cells. He was
placed in a cell with seven other people. “They maced our
whole cell twice while locking us up for asking when they
would let us out.”12 Another prisoner in that unit also writes,
“we was mace because we was asking them why are they
locking us down where theres water is riseing by the
minute.”13 One prisoner in Unit A-1—arrested several days
before the storm for possession of marijuana (first offense)—
explains that on Monday afternoon, water started to enter his
unit. Prisoners were: 

Complaining and becoming loud because of the lack
of food, water and plumbing (we were unable to use
the toilets because the power was out, so all water was
turned off). They [Special Investigation Division]
told us if we’d go back in our cells they would feed us.
We went, they locked us down, and did not return for
hours. They knew water was coming in at that point.
By the time anybody came back, the generator had
gone out and we were pretty much in darkness, with
the water substantially higher (about 3 feet).14
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Iwas detained in New Orleans in

August 27, 2005 on a public

intoxication charge. I was brought

to central lock-up at OPP for pro-

cessing, then I was moved to Unit

B-3 in Templeman III. There were

no empty beds in cells available in

that unit, so I slept in the day room

that night. When I awoke on

August 29, 2005, the day room

floor was covered in several inches

of water. The deputies gave prison-

ers a mop and bucket and told

them to clean the unit’s floor, and

also announced that we would not

be served breakfast that morning.

We also had not been given food

the previous night. The deputies

then left the unit, as well as the con-

trol cage for the unit. Prisoners

used the mop bucket to break the

windows in the day room. Deputies

then re-appeared wearing riot gear

and forced prisoners into cells in

my unit. I was forced into a cell on

the upper tier of the unit with seven

(7) other prisoners. The deputies

then left the unit and disappeared

from the floor. Prisoners began

popping open their cell doors.

Some prisoners broke into the

control cage, and opened cell

doors in the unit. Our cell door

could not be opened. There were

two other cells on my tier that also

could not be opened—one cell

held two prisoners, and the other

cell held one prisoner.

Some deputies returned to the

unit, and took all of the prisoners

who were not locked down in cells

out of the unit. One of the prisoners

in my cell began to kick the cell

door to get the deputies’ attention.

Two deputies came to our cell, and

told the prisoner to stop kicking the

cell door. When the prisoner con-

tinued to kick the door, the

deputies sprayed two cans of

mace into the cell, and left. I was in

the back of the cell at the time, and

I got mace on my arms. Other pris-

oners got mace in their eyes and

on their faces. They washed the

mace out with water from the sink

in our cell. Some of us took off the

clothing that had been maced and

threw it out of the cell. The paint on

the cell walls that were hit by mace

began to peel off.

I did not see another deputy for the

next two days. The power went off

in our unit soon after the deputies

left. We did not have ventilation.

We had nothing to eat or drink for a

total of four days. Though our cells

had a toilet, all eight prisoners in

my cell agreed not to use the toilet

in case we could not flush it. The

window in our cell was broken out,

and we began waving our orange

prison uniform tops every time we

heard a helicopter pass overhead,

in order to signal that we were still

in the jail. We attempted to kick the

cell door off of its track. On Tues-

day, we broke off the metal top to

the property bin that was below

one of the bunks, and we used the

metal to chisel around the cell win-

dow frame in order to kick the

frame out and climb out of the

building. We worked in shifts over

the next two days. By the time we

were rescued Wednesday night,

we had carved around half of the

window frame.

On Tuesday, August 30, 2005, I

saw flashlights in the hallway out-

side the unit. We began kicking on

our cell door and yelling. Law

enforcement officers came to our

cell. They had weapons. They told

us that they needed a key to open

our cell door, and they left. We did

not see these officers again. The

next day, Wednesday, at around

dusk, a female deputy came into

the unit with a maintenance man,

and another man who had a gun

but no uniform. She told us that

she had been told by officers that

there was no one left in our build-

ing. She told us she came in to

investigate only after she saw a

prisoner who had jumped from

another building on to the roof of

Templeman III and had broken his

ankles. She and the maintenance

man opened our cell door through

the control box on our floor. The

female deputy told us that she had

already found three dead bodies

before she got to us during her

search of the building.

She then gathered the 11 prison-

ers on our tier, along with about 14

other prisoners she found on the

three other tiers in our unit. We left

the Templeman building through

water that reached my chest (I am

six feet tall). One of the prisoners in

our unit was so weak that we had

to sling him over a cooler that

floated in the water, and pull him

along with us. Once we were out-

side of Templeman, we were put in

a pick-up truck in groups of ten,

then got on to boats, and were

taken to an underpass, and loaded

on buses bound for Hunt Correc-

tional Facility.

At Hunt, all of the evacuees eventu-

ally were put on a football field.

There were many prisoners there

who had shanks and weapons,

and there were assaults and fights.

I did not see an officer on the foot-

ball field in the three days I spent

there. At Hunt, I spoke with fellow

OPP evacuees who had been

housed at Templeman III during the

hurricane. Some of them told me

that they attempted to swim out of

the building through central lock-

up, but were shot at from adjoining

buildings. I did hear gunshots

before I was rescued. Another pris-

oner I met at Hunt told me that he

had been locked down at the

House of Detention. He said that

two deputies found him in his cell.

After being removed from his cell,

one deputy told him to stand

against the wall, while another

deputy told him to move. When he

began to move, he told me that he

was shot with beanbags. He also

told me that a deputy pushed him

down a flight of stairs for not moving

fast enough. He had welts over his

backs, shoulders, and arms.15

The window in our cell was broken out, and  we

began waving our orange prison

uniform tops every time we

heard a helicopter pass overhead

in order to signal that we were still in the jail. 
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Prisoners were also placed on lockdown in HOD; according to
one deputy, deputies “weren’t supposed to let them out for any-
thing.”16 On Monday during the storm: 

The prisoners started getting rowdy. They wanted the
mops to clean the floors, but I said I couldn’t give
them the broom or mop per orders. They were also
upset because they couldn’t take showers because of
the lockdown—the showers were not in the cells, they
were in each tier. It was freezing cold on the tier
because the windows had nothing to block the air
and water. Lots of water kept coming on the floor.17

Eventually, prisoners began popping open the locks on their
cell doors. This was easy to accomplish in HOD even before
the storm, because the building is old and the facilities are
rundown. “HOD is a raggedy building. In that building . . .
there is no central air or heat. You freeze in winter and burn
up in summer. We would have to bring our own heaters to
work to stay warm. The maintenance on that building was
terrible.”18 When one deputy notified the Watch Commander
on duty that prisoners were opening their cell doors, the
Watch Commander told the deputy to wrap handcuffs and
leg shackles around the gates to secure them: “[b]efore the
storm we used to do this on a normal basis because the
inmates would leave their cells during the night.”19 When
prisoners on the fourth floor managed to get out of their cells,
one prisoner writes: “[D]eputies came up firing rounds down
the hallways to keep us in the cells. . . . [T]hey even hand-
cuffed inmates to bars of the cells.”20

C. Power Is Lost and the Generators 
Quickly Fail

Soon after Hurricane Katrina hit New Orleans, the OPP
buildings lost power. Although backup generators in the vari-
ous buildings initially kicked in, they soon failed. According
to one deputy in Templeman III, the backup generator in that
building only powered certain systems; the generator pow-
ered the lights in the building, but did not provide the power
needed to open cell doors, to flush the toilets in the cells, or to
power the ventilation system for the building.21 In Temple-
man III, as in many other buildings, the lack of ventilation
left prisoners without any fresh air, because the cells and
dorms were sealed. Prisoners on some tiers were provided
with large fans, which were powered by the generator, while
other prisoners did not receive fans, because there were not
enough available.22

According to one deputy in HOD, the building’s lone
backup generator only provided power to the second floor of
the building, where the family members of the deputies
remained throughout the storm.23 Power was lost completely
on the floors holding prisoners.24 Another deputy agrees that
the HOD generator failed on Tuesday “because [it was] old,
and probably no one knew how to operate [it]. I know they
tried to get some diesel to put in there and somehow some-
thing went wrong and [it] didn’t crank back up. [It was] only
on for a couple of hours.”25

Even if the generators had been properly connected to
essential systems, the power they would have provided would
not have lasted very long. Shortly after the generators kicked
in, the levees broke and “water rushed into the jail and
swamped the generators, along with the major mechanical
and electrical systems located in the basement.”26 Many
months after the storm, Sheriff Gusman admitted, “[w]e
started to have power failures because the generators were
not placed high enough when the floodwaters came.”27 The
fact that the generators were not placed in a secure loca-
tion—above 100-year flood levels—is a major failure of plan-
ning on the part of the Sheriff and local officials. It was only
months after Katrina that Sheriff Gusman acknowledged
that “you have to be really careful and not have electrical
equipment in lower-lying areas and vulnerable locations.”28

Other generators apparently failed because the jail ran
out of fuel. Sheriff Gusman notes that in one building, although
the generator itself did not fail, “[t]he tank was on the ground
floor, so [the warden] couldn’t refill it once the water came
up.”29 One deputy in HOD recalls a Sergeant attempting to fill
the generator with diesel fuel until the fuel ran out.30 Deputy
Ducre saw a Sergeant and a Corporal attempting to fill a gen-
erator with diesel fuel, but neither man knew how to make the
generator work, and it eventually failed.31

Without power, prisoners spent their nights in total dark-
ness, in conditions that were growing increasingly foul due to
the lack of ventilation and sanitation, and the presence of
chest-deep floodwaters on the lower levels of the prison build-
ings. Many prisoners remained locked in their cells with bod-
ily waste flowing out of the non-functioning toilets. The jail
became unbearably hot, which made it difficult for many
inmates to breathe.

D. Abandoned By the Sheriff, Many 
Deputies Abandon Their Posts

Female prisoners in Conchetta and Templeman IV, and
male prisoners housed on some floors of HOD, report that
deputies largely remained on duty following Katrina. How-
ever, hundreds of prisoners report that deputies from other
buildings abandoned their posts during and after the storm.
After interviewing more than a dozen deputies and employ-
ees in the weeks after Hurricane Katrina, the New Orleans
Times-Picayune reported “wholesale job walk-offs by
deputies,” and wrote that “[a]ll of the sources told about mul-
tiple resignations, deputies who tossed their badges to the
ground and turned their shirts inside out, only to find them-
selves in the awkward position of being stuck by floodwaters
alongside their former colleagues.”32 Deputy Renard Reed
had worked as a sheriff’s deputy for over seven years at the
time of the storm. He reports that in HOD: “Once the power
went out, deputies started quitting right and left. They didn’t
leave the building of course, but they just didn’t go back to
work. Women especially got scared once the storm hit and
the power went out.”33

Deputies reported to duty at the prison on the Saturday
and Sunday before the storm. Prison administrators notified
the deputies that they had to report to work, or risk being
fired. The decision to report was difficult for some, because
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they had to choose between evacuating the city with their
family members and keeping their jobs. One deputy chose to
report because she did not want to lose her job. “[T]hey told
me I’d be fired if I didn’t come in. I wasn’t doing anything.
They stopped me from evacuating. And my family and
everybody evacuated without me.”34 Many of those who did
report came with loved ones in tow. Deputy Ducre arrived
on Sunday afternoon with her husband, four kids, and sev-
eral close friends. They settled down in a kitchen on the sec-
ond floor of the House of Detention with many other
people.35 Deputy Reed decided to report while his wife evacu-
ated to Georgia. He explains: “I never considered bringing
my family with me into the jail. I don’t believe in bringing my
family there. I don’t want them in that environment.”36

When the storm hit, and conditions inside the buildings
deteriorated, morale quickly collapsed. According to Deputy
Foster, “[a]ll the hard work we put in every day, we risk our
lives going into the jail and dealing with these inmates. And
when something comes like a hurricane we bring our families
in because we think they’re going to be safe and think they’re
going to have food and water. Gusman totally disappointed me
and let me down when we needed him the most.” 37

Shortly after the storm, supervisors in the House of
Detention notified the deputies that their off-days would be
cancelled. According to one deputy, this meant that she
would have to remain at her post after her shift ended.
“Unless you quit, and went down to the second floor, every-
one else had to stay on the floor with the inmates.”38 Another
deputy agrees: “[W]e were told that we had to stay but
weren’t getting paid when we didn’t work. I wasn’t really
doing anything but stressing out and pacing.”39 Deputies in
Templeman III were also told that they would be working
around the clock, but were not going to receive pay for addi-
tional duty.40 Deputy Shantia Barnes resigned her position on
the third day after Hurricane Katrina hit when she was told
that the guards would be left to fend for themselves once the
prisoners were evacuated.41

Deputy Ducre, who was four months pregnant at the time
of the storm, began spotting and cramping, and a nurse told
one of her lieutenants that she needed to rest for one day or
risk a miscarriage.42 “He just stared at me and waited for me to
get up. If I thought I could, I would have done it. So basically
they fired me because I couldn’t go to work that night.” 43

33



Iwas a Sheriff’s deputy for four

years at the time of Hurricane

Katrina. For all of those years, I

worked in the House of Detention.

Before the storm hit New Orleans,

we received forms from the Sheriff’s

office telling us that it was our obli-

gation to come to work during the

storm. All employees are obligated

to come to work, and if you do not

you are supposed to be terminated.

I came into work on Sunday after-

noon, and I brought with me my

husband, four children, and a few

close friends. In my four years there

has never been a plan for what to

do when hurricanes hit. To my

knowledge, there was no prepara-

tion for this storm. If there had been

anything special for us to know, I fig-

ure they would have told us about it.

My family settled into the 2nd Floor

of the House of Detention. When it

was time for me to go to work, I

was assigned to the 5th Floor,

where the juveniles are. At some

point, inmates started to complain

that their phones weren’t working,

but I knew the phones were work-

ing for the deputies. I called and

told the people working the control

room that the inmates’ phones

were not working, but I don’t know

what happened after that.

On Monday, the day of the storm,

there was heavy rain, and the

general population was being held.

I was moved because I was four

months pregnant and the elevators

quit.  At one point I started getting

cramps and I was also spotting. I

told my supervisor about the prob-

lem, and some nurses told my

supervisor that I needed to rest

one day and should not be

returned to duty. I was supposed

to get an off day anyway, but they

wanted to cancel our off days.

When it was time to go to roll call to

report to duty, I said that I couldn’t

go to work, and my supervisor

basically told me that if I didn’t

report to work immediately, I didn’t

have to bother reporting at all. I fig-

ure I was fired.

The State Department of Correc-

tions finally initiated the removal of

the inmates. That happened on

Wednesday and Thursday morn-

ing. The deputies had food to feed

themselves, and we wanted to put

all of our food together so that we

could ration it. When the deputies

were out of food, however, I went

out onto the mezzanine of the

building and found supervisors

barbequing, surrounded by 50

cases of water.

I was finally evacuated to the Over-

pass on Friday, after all of the pris-

oners were gone. When I got there

on Friday, nobody knew what the

deputies were supposed to do.

You could get on a helicopter, but I

didn’t want to leave without my

family intact. I couldn’t climb down

the scaffolding, because I was

pregnant, so I waited for a helicop-

ter to bring my family to the airport.

I did see Sheriff Gusman in a boat

riding to the bridge on Friday, but I

never saw him during the storm.

I returned to New Orleans to resign

my position as a deputy in January

2006. I turned in my badge and my

commission badge and I signed a

release. I left the Sheriff’s Office

because I wasn’t planning on

going back to New Orleans, but

even if I did return I wouldn’t go

back under the current leadership.

They should have been more pre-

pared. Sheriff Gusman’s people

were reporting that he waded

through the water to cut through

bars with handcuffs in his mouth.

That man didn’t touch that water,

and he didn’t try to tell anyone no

different. My child was born on

February 9, 2006. 44 n

There has never been a plan for what

to do when the hurricanes hit. To my knowledge, there

was no preparationfor this storm. 
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power went on and off. Monday

evening the power went out

entirely, and the backup generators

came on until the levees broke.

When the levees broke, the kitchen

connected to the Community Cor-

rectional Center went underwater,

and there was no food to give the

inmates. They ate one last time

and it was a sandwich. It was at

that point—when the water was

shut down, the power was off, and

the food was not coming on

time—that everything got really

hectic. From the 2nd Floor, we

could hear prisoners shaking bars.

They hadn’t eaten, knew the water

was rising, couldn’t get in touch

with families, and were hearing

rumors. They started making

noise—it sounded kind of like an

army shaking on the bars. The

supervisors got shotguns, and

when my kids saw them going

upstairs with the shotguns they

really got scared.

After the power went out, I moved

to the 3rd Floor, which is where the



One deputy in Templeman III recalls that throughout Mon-
day evening, deputies were moving some of the prisoners in
the lower-level cells on the first floor to different parts of the
building, and were moving St. Bernard Parish prisoners from
the flooded gymnasium to another flooded area on the first
floor of the building. “Once the moving of inmates was done,
that Monday night — every deputy other than myself went to
sleep, including the ones who were scheduled to work the
night shift  . . . . All of the deputies were pulled from the
tiers.”45 A prisoner in South White Street reports, “some
guards quit the job doing the storm. They couldn’t handle it.
They thought there lives was in jeopardy to.”46

E. Trapped: Prisoners Remain on Lockdown
as Floodwaters Rise

On Monday, August 29, floodwaters began to enter the
lower levels of the OPP buildings. According to one prisoner
on the bottom floor of the Old Parish Prison, “we had water
past our feet at the time, they [the deputies] gave us brooms
and told us sweep the water out the cells.”47 On the first floor
of Conchetta, deputies ordered one prisoner “to use a
squeegie and pushbroom to push rising water of ground floor
coming from outside and from inside sewer drains. It was
futile. I looked for sandbags thinking we would use those for
doorways and saw none.”48 Another prisoner in South White
Street reports that as a janitor/floor worker, or “Yank,” he
was ordered to place sandbags to prevent water from enter-
ing the building. Once that was done, he returned to his unit,
where he remained until water began flooding his cell the
next day.49

On the first floor of Templeman II, prisoners saw water
seeping into the dorm through drainage holes in the floor.
According to one prisoner, they began

sweeping the water under the door, in order to get the
water from out the tier. . . . Unfortunately that did-
n’t work, water continue to rise. Before I knew it my
bottom bunk was underneath water. At this point I
knew for sure the deputies was nowhere in the build-
ing. Still time continue to pass by, water still rising.
No food for us to eat. Finally a female deputy came
by we shouted to her about our conditions. She than
replied there’s nothing we can do because there’s
water everywhere and she left. At this point water
had risen to at least 4 ft deep. I thought for sure I
would never see freedom again.50

Many of the women in Templeman IV were being held on
minor offenses such as prostitution or simple drug posses-
sion. Templeman IV contains dormitory-style housing units
with triple-stacked bunk beds. When water began to enter the
building, it quickly rose to chest-level, forcing the women to
climb onto the second and third levels of their bunks. One
female prisoner reports: “[w]omen were made to urinate and
deficate over the sides of the beds into the water; the water
was well over the toilet seats.”51 Another woman recalls

“standing one foot on one bunk & one foot on the bunk
across & pissing.”52
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I ris L. Hardeman was a 53-year-

old, African-American woman

who had been arrested in March

2005 on minor charges. Ms.

Hardeman had been in OPP

before, and many of the women

who were in Templeman IV (Unit

B) with her during the storm

remember her from years past. 

According to Gedra Payne

Robinson, Ms. Hardeman’s clos-

est friend at OPP, Ms. Hardeman

took high blood pressure medica-

tion as well as heart medication.53

“Iris was always complaining

about having bad headaches; her

head hurt real bad.”54 Because of

Ms. Hardeman’s poor health, she

had a pass requiring that she be

assigned to a bottom bunk.

Approximately three weeks before

the storm, Ms. Hardeman began

to complain of bad chest pains

and difficulty breathing. Joyce

Gilson was present at the time:

“You could see it in her face. She

was weak and she wasn’t feeling

good. It took them about a half an

hour to come and get her to the

infirmary.”55 Ms. Payne Robinson,

whose bed was right next to Ms.

Hardeman’s, believes that she

“had a real bad heart attack and

she went to the hospital and

stayed gone a couple of days, but

they brought her back.”56

When Ms. Hardeman returned

to the dorm, several of the

women checked in on her.

Although she said she was fine,

the women were concerned for

her health. Ms. Hardeman took a

sharp turn for the worse a few of

days before the storm. “Iris was

feeling really bad. We kept call-

ing the nurse, and Iris went out

to see the nurse at some point.

When she came back she went

straight to her bed.”57 Ms. Payne

Robinson believes that Ms.

Hardeman had a stroke, and she

recalls that an ambulance came

for Ms. Hardeman to bring her to

Charity Hospital. 

After three days, Ms. Hardeman

returned to the dorm with a new

prescription for medication.

When the storm hit, and Unit B

began to fill with water, Ms.

Hardeman was forced to climb

to the top bunk along with the

other women. Many hours later,

deputies moved the women to

the Templeman III building.

When they arrived, they were

placed in a room that had previ-

ously been the scene of a fire.

The air was filled with smoke,

and the women still received no

food or water. According to Ms.

Bailey Wilson, Ms. Hardeman

“was doing a lot of sleeping”

when they moved her to Temple-

man III.58 The women were even-

tually moved from Templeman III

to Central Lock-Up, where they

had to stand for hours in deep

water. “We were helping to hold

her up in the water.”59

According to Ms. Gilson, after

14 hours in Central Lock-Up Ms.

Hardeman was taken by boat to

the Broad Street Overpass. “We

was all instructed to sit down

and stay where we were. I knew

Iris was sick, and I was con-

cerned for her.”60 When many of

the women were loaded onto a

bus to be transported to the

Louisiana State Penitentiary at

Angola, Ms. Hardeman was

transferred by van.

At Angola, Ms. Hardeman and

Ms. Payne Robinson were placed

in Camp F, 4-Right. According to

Ms. Payne Robinson: 

When we got to Angola, we were

fed, we saw a doctor, and we had

to tell the doctor what kind of med-

ication we were taking. A couple of

days after that we had a physical by

a doctor. It took about three days

for me to get my medication. Iris got

her medication at Angola as well. At

Angola, Iris started to swell up with

fluid. Her feet swelled up with fluid; I

had never seen her fill up with fluid

like that before. She put in sick call

slips at Angola, but I don’t think she

had a chance to see a doctor. In

September, in the early morning

hours—maybe 3am—I was in my

bed sleeping and hers was next to

mine. I don’t sleep hard, but she

wasn’t feeling good that night. She

got up, said my name, and kind of

reached over to touch me. She fell

off her bed and hit her head on the

corner of my bed. I got up and

called the officers. They called the

ambulance, and they took photo-

graphs, and they took her away.61

The rest of Iris Hardeman’s

account comes from her brother,

William Hardeman. When Mr.

Hardeman heard the above

account of his sister’s final weeks

in jail, it was the first time he

heard about what she had expe-

rienced during and after Katrina.

“You telling me that story just put

everything out of my mind,” he

explained.62

My family lost everything in Katrina.

We lived in Mid-City, and when I

went back almost a year after the

storm there was nothing to recover.

After the storm, my family and I

were living in a shelter. The Red

Cross had representatives come

around to see if there were any fam-

ily members they could try to locate

for us. We knew Iris had been

arrested, so they took down her

name and her last whereabouts in

the city of New Orleans, and they

did whatever they do. Eventually a

family in Houma, Louisiana, took

us in, and one day Red Cross gave

us a call to say that my sister was

in Baton Rouge, in the hospital.

My mother and I went to the hospi-

tal, and Iris was in intensive care, in

a coma. They had a guard right

there in the room. Initially we were

there about three days, three

nights. Then we had to leave,

because my mother is elderly and

she needed her own medical

attention. We later came back and

stayed almost about a week. We

slept right there in the waiting area

of the hospital. There were some

blankets and pillows. The guard

was in the room at all times.

When Iris passed, we had actually

gone back to Abita Springs to get

a change of clothes and come

right back, and we got a call from

the hospital saying that we should

come right back to the hospital.

And that was like 9am, but it was

kind of obvious once we got there

that my sister had already passed

away. We had no money. We didn’t

have credit cards or that stuff; it

was all lost in the flood. So we got

some donations from a church in

Covington, Louisiana and used

that money for a crematory. That

was the most that we could do.

We were told that my sister was

actually supposed to be released

shortly after Katrina, but because of

being transported to Angola, and not

having any paperwork, she never got

her release. But who knows.63 n

... because of being transported to Angola, and not hav-

ing any paperwork, [my sister] never

got her release.

THE DEATH OF IRIS L. HARDEMAN
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In Templeman III, one deputy recalls that when the water
started to enter the building: “Our supervisors told us not to
worry about it, so at first we did nothing. The water went
from an inch to literally three feet in a matter of minutes.
Then it eventually got up to four feet. This is on the first floor
of the building. That’s when they decided to start moving
inmates.”64 The prisoners who most urgently needed to be
moved were those who were locked in the lower-level cells in
A-, B-, E-, and F-Sides, as well as the St. Bernard Parish
prisoners who had been locked in the first-floor gymnasium.

David Williams was arrested and booked on a charge of
public intoxication on August 27. Mr. Williams was placed in
a cell on the lower level of Unit A-1 in Templeman III. Mr.
Williams describes his experience in Unit A-1:

I initially was booked and incarcerated on Sat. Aug.
27th. I was placed in TP3/A1 before noon and by
4pm the phones were purposely cut off, so I had no
contact with my family members. We vaguely
received a report about the possible evacuation
before the televisions were turned off in the middle of
the news broadcast. This was cause for alarm,
because we were made to go into our cells and the
deputies were constantly leaving their post. We are
now locked down with no idea of what was to
become of us. I constantly yelled for a deputy, only to
be ignored. As an entire 24 hr. period passed we ate
only once more. Now it is Sunday night and panic
has set in because we began to suspect that something
awful was about to take place and we are helpless to
fend for ourselves. As the first waves of the storm
came in, the lights (all power) went out. Into Mon-
day morning—still locked down, no power, no food,
no water. Into the evening on Monday, the toilets
began to fill with water. The drains in the back of the
dorm began to overflow with water and now we see
the sewerage system backing up into the dorm—
water began to rise slowly. I panicked to no avail
because there was no way possible that I could open
the steel cell locks to free myself. Now the water is
waist deep, deputies come into the dorm, some
armed with bean-bag guns, clubs, and others with
crow bars. They had to use the crow bars to pry the
cells open.65

Another prisoner in Unit A-1 explains that the water was 5 to
6 feet deep by the time prison officials returned to free the pris-
oners from their locked cells. “Inmates were on the top bunk
in their cells trying to escape the water. Due to the water the
cell doors short circuited. The staff had to use long hammers
to try in force the doors open. It was a race against time!”66
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B efore the storm I was in St.

Bernard Parish Prison. Maybe

around 12:30 pm on Sunday,

August 28th, they put us in buses

and took hundreds of us to Orleans

Parish Prison. They put us in a big

gym facility, where we were fed two

times. We were also given water to

drink, but whoever was able to get

water before the container ran dry

got water. That was the last water

we had for days. When we first

arrived, one guy was coughing up

blood and a St. Bernard Parish

deputy said he couldn’t take the

guy to the hospital because the

Sheriff wouldn’t want cars to get

damaged.

Five hours after we arrived in the

gym we were given mats to lie on;

this was done in the same disor-

ganized way. After people got mats

the St. Bernard Parish deputies left,

and there was no supervision after

around 5:00 pm on Sunday. The

tension was real high in the gym.

There were only two bathrooms for

hundreds of people. There were

groups of people going around

fighting with different people picked

at random. I was scared as was a

lot of people. We were thinking

there may be a free-for-all. There

were no deputies in the facility. The

hurricane became worse late Sun-

day early Monday afternoon.

Around 4:00 pm it was knee deep

in an hour. Some people got

through an open door and

escaped. Two got caught. I know

of one who escaped. Shots were

fired, but I saw no dead bodies.

After the escapes the deputies

came in and took a count of prison-

ers. The water was waist-deep, and

when they were through they left

again. The water continued to rise.

The deputies came back and prom-

ised food and water. It never came.

Finally they threw loaves of bread to

our crowd, and most went in the

water; people were screaming to be

brought upstairs but the deputies

left again and didn’t return. While

we were in the gym, one inmate

who was epileptic had some

seizures. There were no deputies

there, so at first we put him on his

back. One of the other inmates told

us to put the guy on his side so he

wouldn’t choke on his tongue or

something, so we did that.

now dark. People were lighting sty-

rofoam plates, paper—anything to

see where we were. People were

scared and were screaming that

they could not swim. At one point,

Orleans Parish juveniles who were

in another tier came into our area

and started breaking windows and

attacking people.

On Wednesday, we were escorted

out with our hands on our heads,

and automatic guns pointed at us.

I waded through slimy, greasy,

trash-filled sewage water up to my

neck to boats waiting for us 11/2

blocks from the jail. I climbed into a

boat by getting on the tailgate of a

pickup truck, and was taken to the

Broad Street Overpass. On the

Overpass, a group of Orleans

Parish inmates came up to us

because they saw some of us

were wearing their shoes and their

clothing. People started shoving

and a St. Bernard Parish deputy

sprayed mace at the crowd—I got

hit in the face, chest and arm and

my body burned for half an hour. I

later was hit by tear gas a second

time on the Overpass.67 n

I was scared as was a lot of people. We were thinking

there may be a free-for-all. There

were no deputies in the facility.

A L B E R T  G .  C O U V I L L I O N
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The water rose another foot by the

time the deputies from St. Bernard

returned to move us early in the

morning on August 30. We thought

they were going to move us

upstairs, but when they led us

down the hall and opened the door

to F Side I couldn’t believe they

were going to put us in another

area on the first floor. The water

was above the tabletops in the day

room. The people who had been in

that area before had already been

moved upstairs, so I don’t know

why they put us there. Some peo-

ple stayed on the top bunks in the

lower level cells, but most of us

crammed into cells on the upper

level—7 to 8 in a two-man cell—

and on the walkway along the

cells. Some people put on fresh

clothes and shoes from the Orleans

Parish inmates who had been

evacuated from these cells. When

the water level continued to rise,

the people who had decided to

stay downstairs came upstairs,

crowding us even more. No one

could see, because the lights had

been off since Monday and it was



When the St. Bernard Parish prisoners were finally moved
from the flooded gymnasium, they were brought to F-Side, still
on the first floor of the building. “Where they brought us next
was worse than where we were before. They brought us to F-
side in Templeman III where the water was up to our shoul-
ders inside of a tier where people were still locked in lower cells
screaming for us to help. There was no guards in the control
booths, no food, no water, lights, or medical attention.”68 One
deputy who reports that he assisted with the transfer explains
that “[w]e moved the St. Bernard inmates to F-Side—we put
them in the dorms, not in the cells. They were on the lower
level, so the only way they could have gotten out of the water
would have been if they had gone up the steps to the F-Side
mezzanine. We didn’t have anywhere to put them.”69

F. Food and Water Are Nowhere to Be 
Found

Although the Contingency Plan called for stockpiling enough
food and potable water to last 96 hours, nearly every prisoner
with whom we spoke reports going days after the storm with-
out receiving either.

Deputy Ducre was on duty in HOD when the storm hit.
She reports that “when the levees broke, the kitchen con-
nected to the Community Correctional Center went under-
water, and there was no food to give the inmates. They ate
one last time and it was a sandwich.”70 Another deputy
agrees, noting that the food ran out on Tuesday. “Apparently,
they were trying to feed the inmates plus trying to feed the
employees and their families and eventually ran out.”71 A
third deputy in HOD similarly recalls: “[t]he inmates only got
one piece of cheese. The food that was for the inmates was
given to the families.”72 Deputies were “walking down the tier
with a shotgun giving the inmates one piece of cheese. They
didn’t have any water for them.”73 The only water deputies
gave to prisoners were bags of ice, which were distributed to
groups of 30 prisoners. According to this last deputy, no ice
remained by Wednesday night.74

In Templeman III, prisoners received no food after their
Sunday night meal, according to deputies.75 One prisoner
from the Templeman III building who served as a Tier Rep-
resentative was called to a pre-storm meeting with the rank-
ing officer on duty. According to this prisoner, the officer told
the Tier Representatives to prepare for the worst. She
advised them to “fill garbage cans with water so we would be
able to flush toilets if we lost power.”76 Another Tier Repre-
sentative in Templeman III met with the Warden of Temple-
man III, Chief Gary Bordelon: “Chief Bordelon told us to get
prepare for a serious mess in our jail. He told us to fill all the
trash cans with water so we would have water to flush the
toiles. Now he never mention anything about how we was
suppose to feed the dorm.”77

Brady Richard reports that in CCC, staff, deputies, and
family members were rationing their food. Each person was
given an orange and some sliced bread, while the prisoners
received nothing.78

In Conchetta, the kitchen was located on the first floor,
which began to fill with water on Monday afternoon. One
prisoner reports that she was:

Ordered to move deputies personal belongings to the
3rd floor classroom. When asked about the food in
kitchen (kitchen was on 1st floor) boxes of cereal,
leftover grits, crates of bread, cheese in refridgera-
tor—was told to not worry about it to just get there
stuff—I then assisted inmates on locked dorms 1-1 to
move their belongings and mattresses upstairs to 2-
2 then my dorm inmates belongings & mattresses to
dorm 2-1, when asked what else I could do to help
about food downstairs I was told to go on dorm 2-1
and they locked us all in. We waited hours for food—
none came and then generators went down. No
power, no windows, no air, no food.79

Dozens of female prisoners in Conchetta report that
deputies had prisoners fill garbage cans with water in
advance of the storm. According to one woman held on the
second floor: “The tier reps filled up our used garbage cans
with water. That was the water we used to bath with and
drink. It was nasty, dirty and funky. One large garbage can
for over a hundred women.”80

With no water to drink, many of the prisoners resorted
to drinking the contaminated floodwater, or water that was
backed-up in the toilets. One man in the Old Parish Prison
reports, “the only water we had was from the toilet and when
we had to use the restroom we had to take our waste from
the toilet and throw it out the window.”81 Another prisoner in
the Old Parish Prison writes: “As we the (inmates) were
yelling for the deputies we were getting negative responds
from them like: you better do the best you can with what you
got, when mentioning about us being dehydrated and hungry,
we were then told that we better swallow our (spit) or drink
the toilet water which was contaminated, from chemicals,
urine and bowel’s from inmates.”82

G. Denial of Medical Care 
“I will not just accept that this happened to me.”83

The Contingency Plan calls for the Sheriff to meet with
each building’s Warden one day before a storm’s expected
arrival to discuss, among other matters, “provision of med-
ical services to inmates.”84 The medical services provided in a
jail range from responding to a prisoner’s complaints about
his or her health, to handling promptly a medical emergency
such as a seizure or a severe asthma attack. Many prisoners
also require daily medications or special diets to treat chronic
conditions such as HIV/AIDS, diabetes, and heart disease.
More than half of the 6000+ OPP prisoners were receiving
some kind of medication prior to the storm.85 Regardless of
whether Sheriff Gusman met with each of the Wardens prior
to the storm, it is clear that proper medical care was entirely
absent in the days immediately following Hurricane Katrina.

OPP endangered the lives of its HIV positive prisoners
by failing to provide them with their medications after the
storm. Since the advent of combination drug therapy a
decade ago, patients living with HIV/AIDS have been
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advised of the importance of adhering to their HIV drug regi-
mens. Clinical studies have shown that patients who inter-
rupt drug treatment have higher rates of HIV-related health
problems, including death.cclxxx The National Commission
on Correctional Healthcare (“NCCHC”)—the leading cor-
rectional health care organization in the nation—offers the
following recommendation to prison and jail health care
providers: “Successful HIV therapy requires that there be no
interruption in antiviral medications. Correctional medical
programs can assure this necessary continuity by establish-
ing mechanisms to enhance the continuous availability of
HIV treatment to infected patients.”87
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Prior to Hurricane Katrina,

Keanna Herbert was housed

in the Medical Observation Unit

(“M.O.U.”) of Templeman I. Sev-

eral months after being evacu-

ated from OPP to the Louisiana

Correctional Institute for Women

(“LCIW”), Ms. Herbert wrote to

the ACLU: 

During my inccarcerration at

O.P.P. my health was very poor. I

am diabetic and am HIV positive.

During Katrina extreme medical

care was needed and not pro-

vided. From the neglect of O.P.P. I

developed a severe bacteria infec-

tion in my stomach which made it

swell to the size of a 9 month preg-

nant women. This is still visible and

pictures should be taken. . . . Due

to neglect my T-cells went down to

11 making me extremely ill. No

medication’s were adminisitered,

injections for diabetes, nor HIV

treatment etc.88

Months later, Ms. Herbert wrote

to the ACLU again, after she had

been returned to OPP from

LCIW. Ms. Herbert wrote:

“I am wrighting back to stress the

importance and seriousness of my

accuations. I do not have the ability

to care for the problems that came

about when M.O.U. (Medical

Observation Unit), by no choice of

my own, disregarded my problems

overlooked the fact that everyone

needed to be evacuated.

The outcome of that tragic mistake

has left me and my already serious

problems worse with much more

complications on top them. As I

made it clear in my 1st letter I am

HIV positive also a diabetic. I take

care of myself, treat myself. All that

is choices I have made sure that

my problems are taken care of.

In the days of Katrina my choice to

do so was taken from me and put

in the hands of M.O.U. We were

abandoned there for 3 days in

stagnant water without care for any

of my problems.

In those 3 days I received an infec-

tion that affected me so bad that I

looked as though I was 9 months

pregnant. I recieved no care till I

got to St. Gabriel where I was put

in the hospital and had the infec-

tion drained out of my stomach.

I will not just accept that this hap-

pened to me.” 89  n

From the neglect of O.P.P. I developed a

severe bacteria infection in my

stomach which made it swell to the size of a 9 month

pregnant women. 

K E A N N A  H E R B E R T
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One HIV positive prisoner who was in the Old Parish
Prison during the storm writes that OPP “had a lot of sick
people without there medication, which I was one of those
people without my medication, and the medication is H.I.V.
medication.”90 He explains that he was finally evacuated
from OPP and transferred first to Hunt Correctional Center
and then to Rapides Parish Detention Center (“RPDC”).
From RPDC, he wrote:

[T]hey treat me bad, meaning the food my medica-
tion I’m not getting, then the mental disturbances
from the guards at Rapides Parish. All they do is
harress me all day for know reason, all I be asking for
is the medications I need, and the food that goes with
the medications, do to the medications I take which is
H.I.V. med I need the proper food, which I’m not
getting, I’m not getting the proper medications. It’s
my life they are messings with.91

At the time of the storm, OPP also held a number of preg-
nant women. At least ten pregnant OPP prisoners ended up
being evacuated to Angola.92 Two women report that they
suffered miscarriages in OPP after the storm. One woman
was seven months pregnant when Katrina hit. During the
storm, she suffered a miscarriage and “[t]hey didn’t do any-
thing to help me at OPP.”93 It was not until she arrived at
Louisiana State Penitentiary at Angola that she received
treatment. Another woman, held in Templeman IV Unit B,
reports that she “was refuse medical help so I miscarried and
had blood all over me.”94 When she was evacuated from OPP
and brought to the Broad Street Overpass, she writes: 

[W]e slept out there all night long in urine because
we couldn’t get up. I passed out because I was bleed-
ing very bad. No we didn’t receive water or food.
They refuse to give me medical service at all. . . .
These days I wake up in cold sweats at night. I’m so
afraid these days I bearly sleep and when I do I wake
up in a cold sweat crying. I don’t think I will ever get
over this at all. I thought I was going to die and never
see my kids or family ever again. I prayed so much
that day and night and God heard my prayers.95

Another pregnant prisoner was transferred from St. Bernard
Parish Prison to Conchetta. Once she arrived, she was led to
the 3rd Floor, and given a meal. She and her fellow prisoners
then went without food for four days. “There was one deputy
that tried to work with me since I was pregnant. She would
give me some of her snacks, granola, a bottle of water.”96 The
officers let her sleep on the floor by a large hallway window
so that she could get some air.97

In Conchetta, at least one nurse remained on duty after
the storm, but she was unable to provide the female prisoners
housed there with any medical care. “There was no medica-
tion on or at hand, only a nurse was present. All medical sup-
plies and medicine was under water on the 1st floor.”98 One
woman writes, “women were having seizures, birthing pains,

panic and asthma attacks.”99 Another woman states: “Tues-
day, I was woken up from screams because an elderly
woman was catching a seizure and all we could do was
watch and fan her not knowing if she was going to be okay
but we all started praying and God must have heard our cries
because she came threw. . . . [A] lady was going in labor and
had her baby in all of that pollution.”100

Asthmatic prisoners reported suffering severe attacks
after Katrina. Some prisoners ran out of asthma medication,
and others lost their asthma pumps in the floodwaters. One
17-year-old being held with the adult population in Temple-
man III reports that he left his dorm to check on his uncle.
When he found his uncle: “[H]e was drinking chemical water
because that was all he had to drink. . . . I had to go and find
him some water. He had asthma and didn’t anymore medical
to use. I also have asthma but it didn’t affect me.”101 Another
prisoner in Templeman III writes: 

I have asthma very bad & could not breath because
inmates were setting fires in tha jail. So for 3 days I
drunk sink water & was sticking my nose out of a lil
window that someone had bust open for fresh air
because it was so foggy & moint in tha jail. My cell
mates kept trying to help me by sticking T-shirts out
that window so tha fresh breeze could hit because I
started having a astma attack. Finally after Sunday,
Monday, Tuesday of being lockdown in my cell I was
rescued by some other inmates who spot me lying on
tha floor gasping for air thanks to my cellmates who
kept hollering for help for me.102

One deputy was on duty several days after the storm when a
prisoner in HOD suffered an asthma attack. She states:

I know of one specific instance during the storm that
an inmate was having an asthma attack and they
thought he was gonna die. He could not breathe.
They brought the medical team to the floor but they
could not give him medical treatment because it was
total lockdown and they couldn’t open the door.
They couldn’t let nobody out or in. They opened up
the tier, but not the cell, and they gave him a breath-
ing mask or whatever and injected him with some
type of medication, I don’t know what it was.103

Deputy Reed recalls what may be the same, or a similar, inci-
dent that took place several days after the storm on the 3rd

Floor of the building. He recalls that when the prisoner’s con-
dition continued to worsen, he: 

tried to beat on the back door to get help, but no one
heard. Eventually, I had to knock out a window with
a broomstick to get help. Someone downstairs hap-
pened to hear me, and they called medical. There
was no running water or anything, and they had to
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bring him oxygen to save him. The doctors came and
saved his life.104

One prisoner on the 3rd Floor of HOD appears to recount
the same incident, writing:

One of my cellmates caught a asthma attack. It took
at least 25 minutes before help arrived. The deputies
claim that they just had one set of keys throughout the
whole building, so they had to scream for the certain
deputy to come and due to the power being out no
door or cell could be open so they had to work on him
through the bars.105

When one of his cellmates at the House of Detention
started to have a seizure, a prisoner says he called for the
guards. “He went to shaking and his eyes went to rolling and
stuff. One of the OPP deputies was trying to hand him water,
but we were reaching for it too. They finally got him out of
the cell after 20 minutes and took him away, but they brought
him back.”106

Dr. R. Demaree Inglese was OPP’s Medical Director at
the time of the storm. After the storm, he attributed his
inability to provide proper medical care to prisoners during
the storm to their bad behavior. “It would have been easier,”
he stated, “had they not been lighting fires or breaking
through cinderblock walls.”107 Of course, those who lit fires
to signal for help, and broke through walls in order to escape
dangerous conditions, were driven to do so after they were
abandoned in the jail.

The physically disabled prisoners housed in the first-
floor M.O.U. of Templeman I required particular attention
during and after the storm. One wheelchair-bound prisoner
explains: “I was in a wheelchair and my whole unit was fill
with sewer water. The deputies left they post and we had to
kick on the door to get help. It took for the water to get over
our beds before we were moved and when they did move us,
they brought us upstairs in a small room on the second
floor.”108 Several months before the storm, one prisoner in
Unit A-4 had his right leg amputated due to bone cancer. He
reports that deputies abandoned their posts, leaving him “in a
medical housing unit in a wheelchair in such a dangerous sit-
uation and I actually drowned. Fortunately a guy on the tier
knew CPR and brought me back to life.”109 He continues:
“There is no way a man with one leg could swim in all that
water.”110 “[M]any amputated inmates had to be carried out
by other inmates due to shortage or refusal of deputies.”111
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T yrone Lewis was born on June

11, 1961. He was a gifted

musician who wrote many popular

songs, including some that were

performed and recorded by the

Neville Brothers. He was an active

member of the Austerlitz Street

Baptist Church, where he often

gave free concerts of his Gospel

music. Approximately five years

ago, doctors implanted a pace-

maker-defibrillator into Mr. Lewis’s

chest to treat his chronic heart

problems.112

On July 11, 2005, Mr. Lewis was

booked and placed in Templeman I

(Unit B-1). According to Gary

Wainwright, the Lewis family’s

attorney, Mr. Lewis notified the

OPP staff at booking that he had

been hit in the chest shortly before

his arrest and that the blow may

have dislodged his pacemaker-

defibrillator.113 During the time he

was held at OPP, Mr. Lewis rou-

tinely complained to deputies

about chest pains and shortness

of breath.114 His sister made

numerous calls to the jail on his

behalf, telling staff of her brother’s

need for proper heart medica-

tion.115 According to Mr. Wain-

wright, despite these repeated

complaints, Mr. Lewis “wasn’t able

to get any help.”116

Like the other prisoners in OPP, Mr.

Lewis spent days in the jail after

Katrina struck, at times wading in

chest-deep water for 8-9 hours at

a time.117When he was finally evac-

uated from the building, having

received no food or water for sev-

eral days, he was placed on the

Broad Street Overpass.118 Mr.

Lewis was transported to Hunt

Correctional Center, where he was

placed on a field with thousands of

other OPP evacuees, and left

exposed to the late summer

Louisiana heat and sun. Guards

delivered food to the evacuees by

throwing it over a fence.119 Mr.

Lewis had no opportunity to wash

off or change clothing, despite the

fact that he, like all of the other

inmates, had spent hours or days

in the same highly caustic and

contaminated water that had

stripped paint off of cars aban-

doned in New Orleans.120

On or about August 31, Mr. Lewis

was transferred to Winn Correc-

tional Center. According to his cell-

mate, Mr. Lewis complained to the

deputies there about his chest

pains. The only response he got

was: “Fuck you nigger, we’re not

doing shit for you niggers from

New Orleans.”121 At some point

during the next two weeks, Mr.

Lewis’s condition deteriorated. He

was admitted to E.A. Conway Hos-

pital in Monroe, Louisiana on Sep-

tember 14, and died three days

later.122 According to his death cer-

tificate, complications with his

pacemaker-defibrillator played a

role in his death.123 “From what I

saw of Mr. Lewis prior to the storm

Katrina,” writes one prisoner held in

Unit B-1 with Mr. Lewis, “he looked

to be in very poor health. Also, if he

was receiving the same level of

medical treatment I was receiving

it’s no wonder why he expired.”124

According to a spokesperson for

the state DOC, officials unsuccess-

fully attempted to contact Mr.

Lewis’s family to inform them of his

death.125 Despite the fact that a

temporary morgue for hurricane

victims had been established in St.

Gabriel, LA, the Warden of Winn

Correctional Center ultimately

decided that Mr. Lewis should be

buried. Mr. Lewis’s body was

transported to Lookout Point No.

2, a cemetery on the grounds of

the Louisiana State Penitentiary at

Angola for unclaimed prisoner

remains.126

One month after Mr. Lewis’s death,

the chaplain from Winn Correc-

tional Center finally notified Sandra

Thompson, Mr. Lewis’s sister, of

the death. The chaplain explained

that although it was not yet certain,

it was believed that a prisoner who

had died and been buried in

Angola was Mr. Lewis. Not wanting

to alarm other family members,

Ms. Thompson kept the chaplain’s

news to herself for several days.

According to Ms. Thompson, “It

was even worse because I didn’t

know for sure. Eventually, I broke

down and told my younger sister,

and she was able to confirm it. She

told the rest of the family.”127

Although the DOC spokesperson

maintains that Mr. Lewis’s burial

was accompanied by “a very digni-

fied service,” the funeral director

who is required to appear at such

services had no recollection of it.128

Denise Lewis Henry, another sister

of Mr. Lewis, “wonders all the time

what happened, how it happened,

who was with him when he died.

Did he suffer? We don’t know any

of these things.”129 Nearly one year

after the storm, Mr. Lewis’s family is

still working to recover his body

from Angola. According to Ms.

Thompson, “We need to get him

back home where he belongs.”130

n

“... how it happened, who was with him when he died.

Did he suffer? We don’t know any of these

things.” Nearly one year after the storm, Mr. Lewis’ family

is still working to recover his body from Angola. 
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H. Violence Breaks Out Between Panicked 
Prisoners

Tensions began to rise among the prisoners as conditions
inside the prison buildings deteriorated and deputies aban-
doned their posts. One man in Templeman II reports that he
was evacuated on Wednesday morning: “Throughout my
confinement during Hurricane Katrina I watched many
inmates fight each other. There were no safety measures
taken to insure my or other inmates well-being.”131 One
female deputy in HOD agrees: “I couldn’t do a proper secu-
rity check to make sure everyone was alright because I was
the only one on the floor. If I was to go down the floor some-
thing could have happened to me.”132

In HOD, many deputies were unwilling to monitor pris-
oners because they were asked to work their floors without
any backup. One deputy states: 

They had deputies sitting in the dark with the
inmates. The associate warden was going to the
doors and locked them in with the inmates so they
wouldn’t leave off of their floors. If some inmates
escaped. . . . Who’s to say they can’t get out of those
gates because they know how to pop them. 120
inmates per floor and one deputy. Let’s say they
decided to attack a guard, there are female guards
too. No radios or ways to call for help. People were
so scared.”133

Deputy Reed also recalls Associate Warden Pittman
locking the door behind deputies when they reported to duty
on a floor. “I don’t know why they did this, but the Associate
Warden Bonita Pittman locked us on those floors with the
inmates and no way to get out. I was trapped for the entire
12-hour shift! After my shift was over, they’d send someone
to my floor with a key to unlock me.”134

In the Templeman III gymnasium, the water was rising,
the power was out, and hundreds of St. Bernard Parish pris-
oners were thrown together in a single room. One prisoner,
held on a probation violation charge, “couldn’t belive they put
me in the same room with murderes arson rapist armed rob-
bers and so on i was locked in a large room having to defend
my self if i hade to thank god I didnt have to fight I stayed in
one corner of the room for thirty five hours in that time I wit-
nessed nine fights because there was no police at there
post.”135 Another prisoner writes: “As soon the water started
soaking the floors, mattresses started getting wet, and the
water was now floating, tention was on edge, and before any-
body could say anything, fights starts, with one fight here,
one there, 2 on 1, swollen faces, buss lips.”136

Female prisoners began fighting in the Conchetta building,
where overcrowding grew worse once the St. Bernard women
were added to the OPP population, and the first floor prisoners
were evacuated to the second floor. Several prisoners recount a
single incident when a woman named Pearl Cornelia Bland
was jumped by a group of other women. Ms. Bland writes that
when other prisoners asked the deputies to stop the fight, they
shut the door and said “let them kick her ass.”137
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Pearl Cornelia Bland should

not have been in OPP at the

time of the storm. Ms. Bland was

arrested in August 2005 on a

charge of possessing prohibited

drug paraphernalia. At her

arraignment on August 11, Ms.

Bland pled guilty as charged; the

judge ordered that she be

released on August 12 for place-

ment in the intensive drug reha-

bilitation program at Hope House.

Recognizing that Ms. Bland was

indigent, the judge waived fines

and fees in her case.

On August 12, Ms. Bland was

not released to Hope House.

Instead, OPP continued to hold

Ms. Bland because she owed

$398 in fines and fees from an

old conviction. Under normal cir-

cumstances, Ms. Bland may

have been taken to court in order

to have her outstanding fines and

fees waived due to her inability to

pay. In fact, Ms. Bland was taken

to court on August 23, and was

rescheduled for a September 20

status hearing on her case.

When Hurricane Katrina hit

New Orleans, Pearl Bland was

still in OPP, housed on the 3rd

Floor of Conchetta. Ms. Bland

writes that on August 29, the

day the storm hit:

The deputy’s didn’t assault me

personnal, but they didn’t help

stop the assault that the lady’s did

on me. When the lady . . . hit me in

the face 7 to 8 other girls started

hitting me from the back. . . .The

deputy’s shut the door when [three

other inmates] went to the door to

keep asking them to help me they

said “let them kick her ass” and

shut the door back and locked it.

Several other lady’s kept asking

the deputy’s . . . to please help her.

And they just hunched their shoul-

ders and watched. A yank which is

a prisoner for them started pulling

them off me and dragged me to

the door and the deputy’s still didnt

want to open the door.138

When Ms. Bland was evacuated

to Angola, her “right eye was

black and closed,” and the right

side of her jaw was “very very

swollen.” 139

In June 2006, Ms. Bland con-

tacted the ACLU from a correc-

tional center in Avoyelles Parish,

Louisiana. She recounted the

beating that she suffered in OPP,

and also indicated that she had

not yet been to Court, and had

been unable to locate any loved

ones. The ACLU notified a local

attorney with the Tulane Law

Clinic, who confirmed that Ms.

Bland had spent more than ten

months in jail for her failure to

pay $398 in outstanding fines

and fees. On June 28, 2006,

Katherine Mattes of the Tulane

Law Clinic appeared in court on

Ms. Bland’s behalf and obtained

a release order. Ms. Bland herself

was not present when this hap-

pened, because she had not

been transported to New Orleans

in order to appear in court—this

was the fourth court hearing in ten

days that she missed because her

custodians had failed to return

her to New Orleans.140 n

The deputy’s didn’t assault me personnal, but they

didn’t help stop the assault that the

lady’s did on me. 

P E A R L  C O R N E L I A  B L A N D

46 A M E R I C A N C I V I L L I B E R T I E S U N I O N



Some of the worst reports of fighting come from Old Parish
Prison. One prisoner assigned to Unit C-4 explains that the
problems in his unit began when deputies transferred the
prisoners from Unit C-3 into Unit C-4:

After the transfer there were about 48 to 56 inmates
located in one cell designed for 21 inmates. There
was no water, food, or air. Inmates began to be upset
setting fires to plastic or whatever they could find to
burn through the double plated glass to allow some
type of air to circulate on the floor due to the fact that
the door were locked we could not breathe for the
smoke

[I]nmates had reached a level of frustration at that
point they began to destroy the cell breaking through
the chicken wire just to be able to move around, rip-
ping the light fixtures from the ceiling to attempt to
break windows and with the stress level being so high
fights began to break out and the material that was
ripped from the cell were at this time weapons.141

A second prisoner from Unit C-4 explains that some people
from C-4 had enemies in C-3, which is why they were held in
separate units. Once they were combined:

[i]nmates began to fight with each other. Inmates
began to tear the tier apart, broke through chicken
wires and used the items such as pipes broken from
the tier to fight with. I tried to stop one fight and was
hit in the head with a pipe. It left damage to my head
where I still fill pain today and my hair has not grew
back yet in that spot. I didn’t recieve medication or
no type of help in Orleans Parish Prison but was
given Tylenol at Rapides Parish which still to this date
does not work. I still have constant head pains and
head aches.142

Even before the hurricane, OPP was one of the top five pris-
ons in the nation for substantiated reports of sexual vio-
lence.143 According to one deputy, before the storm “[t]here
was always somebody getting raped and abused . . . especially
on the juvenile floor [of the House of Detention] where I
worked.”144 Several prisoners report that the prisoner-on-
prisoner violence in Old Parish Prison included sexual
assaults. “Some inmates were being forced to perform sexual
acts. No way to call for help.”145

I. Prisoners Attempt to Escape Increasingly
Dangerous Conditions

Without power, the prison’s buildings were plunged into dark-
ness. In Old Parish Prison, “[y]ou couldn’t see your hand in
front of your face!”146 Prisoners began to set fire to milk car-
tons, sheets, towels, and other items just so they could see.

We were in the Templeman III building without
power, food, or water for at least three days. It was
total chaos inside the building. Everyone that was
not locked in a cell searched the dark building for
food. We had to set fires just to be able to see. The
building had no air so windows were broken out for
ventilation. (Still no staff.) We tried to get the
attention of people outside by waving sheets outside
the window, but staff members just looked and did
nothing.147

In fact, deputies instructed prisoners to break windows so
they could get fresh air. Shortly after the storm, Deputy Chief
William Short stated that “[t]he inmates did break out win-
dows. . . . In some cases, our staff helped them. If you didn’t
break the windows, you didn’t breathe.”

148

Many of the prisoners began to believe that they had
been abandoned. One man in Old Parish Prison writes: “We
were yelling for the deputies, and was not getting any respond
back at all, at that time we realized that they (deputies) were
not out there meaning on the floor. That’s when everyone
begin to ‘panic.’”149 Another prisoner held in a dormitory in
Templeman I reports: 

All through the time of this you heard screams of ter-
ror, cries for help and no one was answered. . . .
[M]ost of us was on meds, and did’nt recieve them. I
myself went without my asthma pump and struggling
with my breathing severely, being not able to talk and
feeling weak. There was smoke everywhere and all
you heard all night and early the next day was gun-
shots. I really felt inside like I was about to die and
was left there to die!!150

Prisoners in some buildings began to look for ways out of the
flooded buildings. As water began to fill the first-floor Tem-
pleman III gymnasium on Monday evening, the St. Bernard
Parish prisoners were growing increasingly worried. “[T]he
night the Hurricane hit, the gym started filling up with water,
they stopped feeding us, that evening before we had our last
meal, the water got up to our waist for about a day.”151
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On Saturday, August 27,

2005, I was arrested and

charged with possession of mari-

juana. I was taken to the Orleans

Parish Prison (OPP). At the time of

my arrest I had with me approxi-

mately $700.00. That money dis-

appeared and has never been

returned to me.

When I was first imprisoned at

OPP, I was imprisoned on the A

side of a building that I think was

Templeman I. After I had been

there a couple of days, the water

started rising in the building. When

it reached approximately 2 1/2 feet,

the detainees were locked down

and the corrections officers left.

After the staff left, one detainee

was able to open his cell door

because he had fixed his door so

that it would not lock. He got

through a broken window to the

control area and used the controls

to open all the cells in the unit.

Because the cell doors were now

unlocked, everyone was able to go

to the second level of the tier, out

of the water.

The detainees went to a second

area in OPP and tried to help other

detainees get out of their cells.

They were able to get some of the

cell doors open so that these

detainees could move to the sec-

ond tier in that area, but they were

not able to open the doors for all of

the other detainees.

Then the correctional officers came

back and moved us to Templeman

III. We were put into a basketball

court. There was no plumbing,

electricity or air circulation available

at this location. When we were first

in the basketball court, on the sec-

ond floor, we had no access to

water. The staff all left again.

After about a day and a half, some-

one broke glass to get access to a

water fountain. We had no food

during this entire period and every-

one was hungry. People wrote

signs and put them in the windows

asking for help.

Eventually someone suggested

using the rim of the basketball

hoop as a tool to get out of build-

ing to try to be able to breathe and

get food and water. It took about

twelve hours of various detainees

working to try to make a hole out of

the building. Eventually the

detainees managed to create a

hole that was barely large enough

for some of the smaller prisoners to

wiggle through. Some of the

detainees started to escape.

About thirty minutes after people

started to escape, I heard a shot.

Other detainees told me that a

detainee had been shot, but I did

not see it. Detainees told the staff

that we couldn’t breathe, and that

we needed food and water. The

staff went away.

Some people tried to escape

again. After people would start to

escape again, the staff would

come back outside. At first, staff

tried to keep people from using the

hole but eventually staff told us that

if we could get out the hole we

could do so, and then they would

take custody of us. People tied

sheets together to go down the

wall. Eventually the sheets broke. I

believe that some people who got

out this way got away, and some

were arrested. 

All told, I was on the basketball

court for two days without food,

and most of the time without water.

Eventually the corrections officers

said that they were coming in to

get us. When we were told that the

correctional officers were coming

in to take custody of us, we were

afraid because we expected them

to beat us, based on the reputation

of the OPP corrections officers. We

lay down on the floor on our stom-

achs to try to give them no excuse

to beat us. There was a lot a staff

from other jails, and as it turned

out, we did not get beaten.

We were then escorted to the first

floor, where we spent about an

hour. The floodwater on the first

floor was almost up to my neck.

Around 7:00 a.m. I was taken out

of Templeman III to an overpass. 

On the overpass we were put in

rows. The rows in front had flood-

water coming up to them. The staff

who took us told us that we would

be given food and water. Although

we saw lots of food and bottled

water around, we were not given

any. We saw the correctional offi-

cers drinking the water.

The sun was bearing down on us,

and it was extremely hot. Three

boats were taking ten men at a

time from the overpass. They took

people from the front row. It took a

long time to get to the front row,

and lots of people were passing

out in the sun. The only way we

could keep from burning up was to

wet our shirts in the floodwater. We

sat out in the direct sun all day

without food or water.

Eventually I was so desperate that I

decided to act as if I had passed

out, thinking that this would help

me move up in the line. I was taken

to the front, but all the people who

had passed out were just left out in

the sun to the side, and not trans-

ported. One man in this section

started acting out, and the correc-

tional officer just sprayed all the

people in the area, including me. I

got mace all over my back. Even-

tually I got back in line.

At 5:00 p.m. the boats stopped

coming. We were told that we

would have to go down from the

overpass and climb down scaffold-

ing to the Interstate. We were told

that once we got to the Interstate

we would get some food and

water. We climbed down the scaf-

folding around 3:00 a.m. 

When we got down to Interstate

10, we were handcuffed in pairs

and we were each given one small

paper cup of water but no food. I

saw cases and cases of water and

boxes of food there. The Interstate

was covered with ants, and there

was a lot of debris because it

looked as if at some earlier point

food and water had been distrib-

uted to someone. The guy I was

cuffed to and I asked a corrections

officer if we could eat an apple we

found on the ground and he gave

us permission. We each ate half.

We asked for more water. The offi-

cer said that he would check. He

later told us that he was not

allowed to give us water.

We were eventually put on buses

and I fell asleep. We were taken to

Hunt Correctional Center. When

we get there the warden greeted

us by saying so you are the people

Eventually the detainees managed to create a hole that

was barely large enough for some of the smaller prisones to

wiggle through. Some of the detainees

started to escape. 

Q U A N T O N I O  W I L L I A M S

48 A M E R I C A N C I V I L L I B E R T I E S U N I O N



49

who were left to die. We were

promised tents, food, and water.

We were told that we would stay

outside a day or two and live in

tents. We were given salami sand-

wiches the first day.

That night we were taken to a foot-

ball field. There were thousands of

displaced detainees and prisoners

on that field. I saw a large number

of home-made knives, and people

making more knives.  

On the football field we were sleep-

ing on the grass. There was a pipe

that we used for drinking water, but

had no toilets or way to wash up.

There was no security on the foot-

ball field; staff did not interfere with

anything that was going on as long

as people did not try to get out of

the area. I witnessed stabbings.

On the last of the four days we

were held there we were given

sandwiches. Staff first planned to

throw the sandwiches over the wall

to us, but eventually they made

everyone line up and go through

the line to a controlled area to get a

sandwich. During this period,

buses came to remove prisoners

from the area. There was a lot of

confusion. I was in line attempting

to get on a bus but I never got to

the front of the line. During this

period I saw two people wrapped

in blankets on the field who were

not moving during the several

hours that I saw them. I assume

that these people were dead.

I estimate that the population got

down to 800-1000 people. Then

the warden decided to take us into

the housing area of the facility. We

were told that we would get mat-

tresses and a shower. We were

stripped and taken to the housing

area at Hunt. While we were naked

staff sprayed us with a fire hose to

try to make us not so dirty. We

were brought to an outside visiting

area, which had a concrete floor.

We were given sandwiches, a

toothbrush and toothpaste. We

stayed there that night with no

bedding or showers.

The next day we were taken to a

gymnasium where we spent the

night without any bedding. The fol-

lowing day we were taken to a dor-

mitory. There was a water fountain

and we got sandwiches. Eventually

we started getting cafeteria food.

At first we were told that the

phones were down, although we

could hear phones ringing in the

institution. We were forbidden to

write letters. When I was housed in

the dormitory, while we were out-

side for recreation, I saw a man

stabbed and left unconscious.

During the entire recreation period,

he was just lying on the ground

unconscious. I never saw him

again after I went inside back to the

dormitory.

Eventually we were allowed to

stand in line for one two-minute call

after 10:00 p.m. I was very fortu-

nate because I was able to reach

my wife. After a couple of days she

was able to get through the proce-

dure to get me released on a $500

bond. I was released on Septem-

ber 22, 2005.

I suffer from mild congestive heart

failure and asthma. On the street I

use my asthma pump twice a day.

After I got to the dormitory I filled

out a sick call slip to try to get my

asthma pump and medication for

my heart condition. I was never

seen in response to my first sick

call slip. Staff told me to fill out

another sick call slip. I filled out a

slip and a nurse saw me two days

before I left. She said she would

check to see if staff wanted to

order my medications. I never got

my medication.152 n

According to one Templeman III deputy, three St. Bernard
Parish prisoners managed to climb through the ceiling of the
gymnasium at around 8 p.m. Monday evening. “I’m not sure
how that occurred. I was on duty at the time, and I assisted
St. Bernard and several of our deputies in reacquiring those
inmates. When they got on the roof, they didn’t know how bad
it got outside, so they really didn’t have any place else to go.”1

One St. Bernard Parish prisoner who was in the gym at
the time reports: “People were escaping though a side door,
getting on the roof of the gym, and going from their. A few
more were on top the roof when we heard police on the roof
to ‘saying put your hand up’ then a couple of shots.”153

Another states: “People started escaping out of the gym
about 4 people the caught a couple of them and maced them
and hit them with their guns and threw them back in the gym
with us and they told us if anybody else tried to escape they
would come back in bodybags.”154



On Saturday evening before

the storm, there were rumors

at St. Bernard Parish Prison that

we might get moved. Deputies

said buses were outside, waiting to

transfer us. News reports were

saying it looked bad, but that there

was a chance the storm might

turn. On Saturday evening, Sun-

day morning it got serious. At

around 7 or 8am, deputies came

running on our dorm saying that

we should grab nothing but a

blanket and sheet. They put plastic

handcuffs and leg shackles on us

and moved us out to the buses.

By the buses we saw different

guys from different tiers, and we

were talking, thinking nothing was

going to happen. When we got out

to St. Bernard Highway we saw

people still lingering, and in Orleans

Parish we saw a few more people.

We were yelling at people on the

street. It looked like rain, and I won-

dered where we were going.

When I saw OPP, people started

talking about whether we were

going to go to CCC or HOD, the

two tall buildings. Some people

on the bus said that during previ-

ous storms they had gone to high

up floors in HOD. Instead they

took us into the Templeman build-

ings and put us in the gym. It was

raining a bit, but the atmosphere

was still light because we weren’t

thinking about the seriousness of

the situation.

They fed us lunch and then sup-

per. The rest of the day went

smooth, and the lights stayed on.

During feed up, the St. Bernard

and Orleans Parish deputies

would be on a stage in the gym

and OPP Yanks would feed us

when we lined up. The next morn-

ing it was raining and the rain was

running down the insides of the

walls. We managed to get break-

fast, but after that the Yanks and

the deputies were out of there. It

was raining hard, the wind was

strong, and we saw the roof bend-

ing. More water was running down

the walls, and then the water

started rising and rising. The lights

also went out. 

Different guys kept going back and

forth to the door to ask about the

lights and whether we were going

to be moved. At one point, some-

one noticed a door leading to the

yard outside, and they managed

to kick the door open. When the

water was rising, and the deputies

had left, inmates started fighting

each other. The lights were off and

people were fighting everyone.

One inmate who was in for murder

and another guy beat one inmate

real bad—they pulverized him.

There were some other fights, but

in the meantime guy charged with

murder slipped out the door with

another inmate. They must have

climbed up onto the roof using a

drainage pipe or something and ran

across the roof until they escaped.

The guy charged with murder was

only captured after he supposedly

murdered someone else.

Another group tried to escape

after that, and we heard a loud

Boom! A St. Bernard Parish lieu-

tenant threw an inmate through

the metal or tin roof. His hand was

cut really bad from the fall and now

it is disfigured. The Lieutenant

came in after that and did a roll call

to see who was gone. Another guy

who had tried to escape said he

got all the way to the courthouse

steps before he was caught. I

don’t know if that was true, but he

showed us bruises from where he

was shot with beanbag guns.

By that point I had already had two

seizures. One happened right after

breakfast—I had a seizure and an

OPP nurse came and others who

were on my tier at St. Bernard told

her I needed Dilantin and she told

me to take two doses because my

levels were really off. When you

have a seizure, every muscle and

bone—everything—is sore. Your

body is like it’s fighting itself. You

can’t stop someone from having a

seizure. Once it starts it’s got to run

its course.

By Monday night I still hadn’t

eaten. St. Bernard deputies all day

were saying that food was coming.

At night they came in with racks of

bread and started handing out

three slices per person. They must

have had 100 loaves of bread or

something. People started grab-

bing at the bread.

Early the next morning, deputies

came in and said they’d get us out

of the water; it was up to my stom-

ach at that point. They said they’d

bring us somewhere better. When

we got into the hallway, the water

started getting higher—up to my

chest. They led us to a door and I

saw we were still on the bottom

level, by F Side. The water was

freezing cold and had a stench to

it. They told us to go in the room,

and we went up the steps to the

upper level. We ended up with 7-9

people per two-man cell. Two OPP

guys were still locked in a cell

upstairs. After a while, people

started finding things that had

been left in the cells by the OPP

inmates who had been moved:

cigarettes, food, dry clothes. Going

into the next day, people started to

make candles out of Vaseline.

Smoke was everywhere—no oxy-

gen. There was no way to breathe,

and I caught another seizure. I also

have asthma, so I wasn’t doing

well. Another St. Bernard inmate

stayed by my side and helped me

through that third seizure. At one

point, juveniles from Orleans Parish

came in with a key—I don’t know

where they got that from. They

came into our area and were raid-

ing the guards’ booth with the key

It was breezy and I was cold and wet. I remember looking

around and seeing lots of people on the ground, but it was-

n’t until the next morning that I saw

thousands of us and wondered

what was going on. I looked

around and saw water for miles

around. 

LEROY P. GARDNER, I I I
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they had. The deputies had food,

cigarettes. I didn’t go down, but

the inmate who was watching over

me brought back some food. 

Someone found a huge floor fan

with big blades and they disman-

tled it to make a big weapon. They

used the pieces from the fan to

break all of the windows out of the

tier and make a hole in the wall on

the upper level. Some people tried

to jump out the hole, but deputies

on the outside were shooting

warning shots, telling them to get

back in there. Some inmates were

yelling to people on the Overpass.

We were in F Side from early, early

Tuesday morning to Wednesday

night/early early Thursday morning.

I think SID came to get us, barking

orders. I had a seizure on the steps

and another inmate carried me

through the water to the boats. 

When I got to the bridge, nurses

came to see me and told me they

had no meds and I should lay

down and relax. It was breezy and I

was cold and wet. I remember

looking around and seeing lots of

people on the ground, but it wasn’t

until the next morning that I saw

thousands of us and wondered

what was going on. I looked

around and saw water for miles

around. At one point, the guys

whose tier we had been on saw

we were wearing their tennis shoes

and everything, so they sur-

rounded us and wanted their stuff

back. SID stopped that. Later, St.

Bernard deputies told us we could

stand and stretch, but when we

did SID told us to sit down. When

they asked who told us we could

stretch, one of our Corporals said

he had told us to stretch. The SID

officer showed no respect to him

and said you don’t run anything

out here—don’t do anything until

we tell you to. 

I was taken by boat to the Inter-

state, where it was dry, and

boarded a bus to Hunt. At Hunt I

was placed in a small yard, so I

never went to the big yard. I caught

a seizure in the yard at Hunt on Fri-

day evening. They took me to the

infirmary and gave me Dilantin

medication and four breathing

treatments. Breathing treatments

are when they pour Albuterol in liq-

uid form into a mouthpiece and

you inhale. 

That night they put me on a bus to

Claiborne Parish, where I had

another seizure in the lobby. I was

so stressed—I didn’t know where

we were, how my family was. At

Claiborne they increased my Dilan-

tin medication, but I stayed

stressed because they treated us

pretty bad at Claiborne. I’ve never

been through nothing like that in

my life and I pray I don’t have to

again. Now I’m in jail hoping my

lawyer will get me credit for time

served. I have a 22-year old son

and a 16-year old son I haven’t

seen since the storm. My 15-year

old girl is running for class presi-

dent. I can’t live like this.156  n

The CCC building houses prisoners who participate in
OPP’s rehabilitation programs, such as the Francois Alter-
native Center at New Orleans, the About Face Boot Camp
Program, and the Blue Walters Substance Abuse Treatment
Program. CCC prisoners report that they were left in locked
cells and locked dorms. According to the former Medical
Supply Officer, who was in CCC throughout the storm: “It
was terrifying and he [Sheriff Gusman] absolutely put our
lives in danger. . . . The inmates were rioting, burning, busting
down walls. They were angry and mad. We had no idea if
they would take a hostage. We didn’t know what was going to
happen.”157 Medical Director R. Demaree Inglese told one
reporter that the prisoners in the CCC building “were hard-
core people . . . . Some of them were federal inmates, rapists
and murderers.”158

In fact, many of the federal prisoners were actually
immigration detainees, who were not charged with any crime
at all. According to the Sheriff’s own data, none of the prison-
ers housed in the CCC building were charged with rape, and
only one prisoner out of more than 700 housed there was
charged with murder. Rather, hundreds of the people in
CCC during the storm were in on minor charges—including
technical parole violations—and were participating voluntar-
ily in the jail’s rehabilitation programs in an effort to beat a
drug addiction or obtain a G.E.D. What Dr. Inglese took to
be rioting by dangerous and violent prisoners was more their
desperate efforts to escape increasingly hazardous conditions
inside the jail.  

Left unsupervised, some of the CCC prisoners were able
to open their cells and free others. “If it wasn’t for inmates
somehow getting my cell open I probably would have died.”159

One prisoner sentenced to the About Face Boot Camp reports:

Our building lost power the night the hurricane
came. Me and my cellmates were lock in the cell for
two days with no food. The deputies left the night of
the hurricane and never came back. Other inmates
had to get us out of the cell. When we did get out of
the cell some inmates were knocking a hole in the
wall so we could get out to see what was going on.
When we got out we found out that the other domes
in the building were going through the same thing.
Inmates all over the hole building were locked in
there cells and the ones that were out where helping
get them out. They also didn’t have any food. In one
dome you could see inmates escaping they were jump-
ing out of windows in Templeman. They were getting
shot at but we couldn’t see who was shoting at them.160

On the third floor of CCC, prisoners broke through a win-
dow and used the metal window screen as a ramp to get
down to the roof of the second floor of the building. Darnell
Smith, sentenced to the About Face Boot Camp, describes
what happened:



Sunday night, August 28, all the power went out.
The deputies were nowhere to be found. We had to
break out of our cells. About 60 inmates walking
around the tier, with no running water, no food, no
electricity, & horrible living conditions. After 3 days
of this, we decided to try & get out ourselves fearing
we were left for dead. Wednesday morning we took a
metal bar out of the ceiling, and used as a battling
ram to break through the walls until we were out in
the area where the elevators were. Once in this area
we noticed that inmates on other surronding tiers
had started to do the same thing, fearing the worst. A
few deputies showed up peering threw locked doors,
that we could not get through, and told us to go back
to our tiers. When we refused they started to point
guns and threatened to shoot, if we did not comply.
We located a long thin window overlooking Gravier
St. We started to break the brick around the window.
We continued until the window was loose enough for
us to pull out of it’s casing. Once we had the window
removed, we started to jump out onto a patio roof
over the main entrance of the C.C.C. building. We
looked down and spotted a few deputies just sitting
on the steps of the main entrance. We cried out for
help from them. Once they saw us, they started to
point their guns up at us thinking we were trying to
escape, when actually we just wanted help. We
had’nt eaten anything or drank anything since Sun-
day evening, and it had started to take effect on us.
We pleaded with the deputies for help. They told us
that boats were on the way to bring us to safety, and
once the boats got there we would have to return to
our tiers in order to be evacuated. In the meantime
we sat on the patio roof, trying to suck up all the fresh
air we could, before the boats arrived and we would
have to go back inside this horrible building, and
breath that toxic air again.161

One deputy from Templeman III made his way to the CCC
building days after the storm. He reports that the prisoners in
CCC took over the building “because all the guards were
downstairs.” 162 When asked what the guards were doing
downstairs, he replied, “good question.”163

In several buildings, prisoners tied bed sheets together to
lower themselves out of broken windows so that they could
jump to safety in the water below. One prisoner in Temple-
man III writes that after he suffered an asthma attack, other
prisoners carried him to a hole in the wall and “told me to go
through it & climb down a rope that they made from bed
sheets that led from 3 stories high in tha air to ground in tha
flood water once I climb down tha rope. Another inmate was
waiting down there for me to help me they told him I was to

weak to do anything so he told me hold on to his back while
he dog paddle through tha high flood water to safety.”164 One
juvenile who was being housed in Templeman III writes:
“[S]ome inmates were broking through the walls jumping
from the third floor to the water. So of them could not even
swim but that was their alone choice. As soon as they hit the
water the deputies begin to shot at them.”165 Deputy Reed
was on the Mezzanine level of HOD, where he was stationed
to watch for escapes. Deputy Reed describes “people getting
shot by snipers around the jail. It looked like people were get-
ting picked off. You see somebody fall. . . . It seemed unreal. I
don’t know if they were getting shot with live rounds or what;
they were falling in the water and that was enough for me to
see right there.”166 One deputy in Templeman III reports that
he swam to CCC, but chose to go no further out of fear of
being shot by prison officials on the roof of HOD.167

Many prisoners and deputies report seeing prisoners
hanging from the rolls of razor wire lining the fences that sur-
round the facility. According to Ace Martin, a Templeman
III prisoner: “One guy jumped out of the hole and they shot
him. . . . He fell on a barbed-wire fence. They picked him up
in a boat and told us to stay in the hole or we’d be shot.”168

One juvenile in South White Street states that he saw an
escaping prisoner get “caugth on the bob wire, and all his
muscle was out on his arm, and you know he did not get any
kind of medical assitants.”169 Luis Reyes, a Deputy at CCC,
reports that prisoners in a nearby building were “jumping out
of the windows onto the razor wire and they were hanging
there until we could get to them.”170 Another deputy recalls
that the man “was yelling he needed a doctor. I can’t recall
which ranking officer said we can’t get you a fucking doctor
right now. You got to wait till we finish. We couldn’t touch
him without further hurting him. Don’t know what hap-
pened to him.”171 One deputy saw several of the men who had
jumped and landed on the razor wire surrounding the
perimeter of Central Lock-Up:

They were standing against a wall in the carport area
of Central Lock-Up. They were in need of medical
attention—there were some severe lacerations on
them from the razor wire. One of them had a deep
laceration under his right arm and on the side of his
left eye as well as on his chest. Another had a lacera-
tion on his left shoulder blade and on his right bicep.
I recognized these inmates as being in my building,
but I do not remember what tier they came off of.172

In some of the buildings, corrections staff ordered prisoners
to jump into the water. One deputy in HOD recalls seeing
prisoners from the Templeman I building lowering them-
selves onto a roof using blankets that they had tied together.
“At night [staff members] were ordering inmates to jump into
the water, and they were using flashlights to pick them up.”173

Prisoners also hung signs outside of windows and set sig-
nal fires in order to get help. Writing several weeks after the
storm had passed, one local reporter notes, “[n]ext to one
smashed jail cell window, taped to the outside of the building,
is a sign scrawled by an inmate, ‘We Need Help.’”174 One pris-
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oner writes that when he saw a news helicopter several days
after the storm, he and another prisoner hung a sign saying
“HELP NO FOOD DYING.”175 Another prisoner writes
that he wrote a sign stating, “Help us.”176

J. Officers Use Force to Contain Prisoners 
Until the Evacuation

Once OPP fell into disorder, it became much more difficult
for the dwindling security staff to regain the control they
needed to move prisoners to different parts of the buildings.
Many of the deputies who remained on post did not have the
weapons, ammunition, and other necessary equipment they
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BEANBAG GUNS, TASERS, AND PEPPER SPRAY: “Less Lethal,” But Not “Non-Lethal”

Police officers and correctional officers are increasingly using three types of less lethal weapons to carry out their
duties: projectile weapons, electric stun devices (e.g., Tasers), and chemical agents. These weapons are
designed to apply less than deadly force, but three main problems are associated with their use.

1. Less lethal weapons are being misused to stop non-threatening behavior and as shortcuts for
non-dangerous pursuits. Although the weapons were designed as an alternative to deadly force, they are
being used in situations where deadly force would never even be contemplated. For instance, such weapons
have been used on unarmed children as well as individuals who are already restrained or in custody.179

2. Less lethal weapons cause serious injuries, and their use has been associated with deaths
that have not been adequately studied. Projectile weapons such as beanbag guns and rubber bullets
are designed to cause pain and incapacitation without penetrating the body, but they have been the cause
of penetrating traumatic injuries. Such weapons have caused serious injuries, including life-threatening car-
diac injuries and fatalities.

Electric stun devices include various guns, belts, and shields. Stun guns fire a 50,000 volt-charged barbed
projectile, connected to the gun by a long length of wire, causing involuntary muscle contraction and painful
shock sensations. Harms caused by these devices include injuries from the barbs as well as falls or other
injuries due to loss of muscle control. The most serious injuries result from the electrical discharge, and have
included spontaneous miscarriages,180 testicular torsion and sterility, as well as a number of injuries and
deaths from cardiac injury, including ventricular fibrillation. Over 150 people have died in the U.S. after being
shocked with a Taser since June 2001,181 and in June 2006 the U.S. Department of Justice announced that it
is reviewing the deaths of up to 180 people who were subdued with electric stun devices.182

Chemical agents such as tear gas, mace, and pepper spray are used on crowds as well as individuals. They
act on nerve endings, causing pain and burning. The most common injuries from pepper spray include gag-
ging and shortness of breath and eye injuries, including corneal abrasions. Amnesty International reports
that more than 100 people in the United States have died after being pepper-sprayed.183

3. Less lethal weapons are being used in a racially discriminatory manner. Preliminary studies
point to disproportionate use of less lethal weapons against persons of color.184 This preliminary data,
although incomplete, are consistent with findings concerning the disparate application of deadly force by
race, as well racial profiling in traffic and pedestrian stops and searches.

needed to maintain order. Some improvised, throwing hot
water balloons at prisoners in order to keep them in their
cells.177 According to Dr. Inglese, OPP’s medical director, one
deputy brandished a curling iron to keep prisoners at the CCC
at bay. 178

In Templeman III, deputies decided on Monday evening to
move the St. Bernard Parish prisoners out of the gymnasium
and into F-side. They also decided to move some, though not
all, of the men housed in the first-floor tiers. The Special Inves-
tigations Division (“SID”) was called in to help with the move.
SID is the Sheriff’s elite anti-riot force. They arrived with shot-
guns loaded with beanbags, pepper spray (or mace) and batons. 



I am thirty-two years old, and I

worked as a deputy sheriff at the

Orleans Parish Prison from June

1998 until right after the storm.

Every year around storm season

there’s a possibility you might have

to go and stay in the jail. You bring

a change of clothes, your medica-

tions, and you’re not sure how long

you’re gonna be in there. We didn’t

expect anything serious to hap-

pen, because last time the hurri-

cane never actually hit. My

supervisor told me that I had to

report to work the Sunday before

the storm. I think I was supposed to

be off Tuesday through Wednes-

day. My wife wanted me to quit and

evacuate with our family, but I

decided not to. She was upset that

I didn’t go to Georgia with them—

she had a feeling it would be differ-

ent this time.  

I went in to work because it’s like a

family there, and one less person

on staff can make a big differ-

ence—especially since I’m big,

strong, and experienced. I’m 6’7”

and was 500 pounds at the time,

so I knew my presence there

would make a difference. Also, I

worked with troubled inmates on

the psych ward in the House of

Detention, and I didn’t want to let

anyone else down by making

someone else take over for me

with those inmates. Even though I

knew I couldn’t evacuate, I never

considered bringing my family with

me into the jail. I don’t believe in

bringing my family there. I don’t

want them in that environment.

The first day I was there was pretty

much a normal day. It was raining. I

was assigned to the 10th Floor

(psych floor). At night, the storm

hit. I am in a huge brick building on

the 10th Floor, and the whole

building is swaying from side to

side. I was scared. The floors and

stairs got real slippery, and there

was water coming in from places

you didn’t know water could come

in from. The first day of the storm

was alright—you’re looking out at

the rain and the water, it had to be

about two or three feet at the time.

But it was rising and rising even

after the rain stopped. That was

such a weird thing to see. 

The next night, I really couldn’t

sleep. Phone lines were down, so

you couldn’t contact anyone out-

side the building. People’s cells

were going dead. We had these

two-way radios, but they could

only be used between people

inside the jail. We listened to the

radio and heard the levy had

broke. When it got light, I looked

outside and I saw the water was

up to the roof of my truck. It was a

horrible feeling. That’s when it

started to sink in: we’re trapped.

Once the power went out, deputies

started quitting right and left. They

didn’t leave the building of course,

but they just didn’t go back to work.

Women especially got scared once

the storm hit and the power went

out. We really didn’t have any prob-

lems with the inmates except that

they were upset because they did-

n’t know what was going on with

their families. They didn’t have TV or

radio, so they had no way to know

what was happening. It was tough

for them. I let them know what I

knew, which they really appreciated.

Some of the younger deputies did-

n’t know how to handle the inmates

and instead of telling them what

was going on, they yelled at them to

be quiet. Even though they’re in jail,

they are human beings. I am not pro

rights for inmates or anything, but

they didn’t know anything about

their families or anything, and they

deserved to know.

There was never any special train-

ing for us deputies about storm

preparation, emergency evacua-

tion, nothing. We didn’t have fire
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During the transfer, one deputy explains: 

Inmates wanted food, water. They wanted to go
home, some of them wanted to check on their fami-
lies. . . . Pepper spray was used to subdue several
inmates. In a normal circumstance, I would have
said it was excessive, but under the circumstances we
were in I would say it was appropriate. If this was a
regular situation, not an emergency, we could have
taken more time to talk the situation down, but
under the situation we had to use the pepper spray to
get the inmates in order to transfer them to where we
needed to go.185

He says that no prisoners were shot while he was present. 186

Many prisoners tell a different story about SID’s
involvement. One man reports: “Some inmates were shot at
by S.I.D. officers, they used beanbag shotguns. S.I.D. offi-
cers struck some inmates face as well. I was hit in the rib
area (3) three times as well. This occurred during the move
from F-1 to H-1.”187 Another prisoner in F-side reports that
SID:

came and handle 3 inmates really bad. They came
and told everybody get down on the knee’s and put
your hands behind your head. They slowly evacuted
us to higher ground. After they escorted us to higher
ground they then abuse certain inmates because
somebody had cursed them out and he had dread-
locks so whoever had said that they want to find out
who said it. They had guns. I dont know if the guns
were real, but when they first came in they shot the
gun to get order.188

Late Monday night, some of the prisoners who were left on
the first floor at Templeman III began to break out of their
tier. One St. Bernard Parish prisoner moved from the flooded
gymnasium to the flooded F-side explains that deputies “had
the airlock in the hall shut so inmates burnt a hole through it
but the deputies were down the hall by the fence shooting
them with bean bags.”189

SID officers also used force against prisoners in other
OPP buildings. One man on the third floor of Templeman II
reports that when deputies and SID officers came to evacu-
ate his floor on Tuesday, they assaulted and “shot inmates
with mace & bean bag guns.”190 Another man held on the
third floor recalls that on Monday, prisoners began yelling to
get the attention of the guards: 

We simply want food & water. We want to know if
were going to be evacuated. Did our families make it
out??? S.I.D. goes to several dorms spraying mace
& shooting bean bag guns demanding silence. They
simply leave after terrorizing us & answer none of
our questions. It’s the only police presence we see
throughout the day.191



Even though they’re in jail, they

are human beings. I am not pro rights for

inmates or anything, but they didn’t know anything about

their families or anything, and they deserved to know.

D E P U T Y  R E N A R D  R E E D

drills or any other emergency drills

that I can remember. Plus, the new

administration under Sheriff Marlin

Gusman was always cutting down

on spending, and they waited until

the last minute to get supplies for

the storm, so we ended up real

short on supplies. Back when I

started working as a deputy in ’98,

everything was abundant; you

never ran out of supplies for your

floor. There was always enough

toilet paper to go around. If you

needed a mop, you’d go into the

store closet and grab one. As time

went on, it was like you had to

jump through hoops just to get the

stuff you needed for your floor. All I

know is that the supplies were so

low during the storm that we ran

out of food, and I didn’t eat for

almost three days at one point in

time. I’m 32 years old—I was 31 at

the time—and I’m big enough to

survive. All I need is some water

and I’ll be okay. I am diabetic, so

there were some issues with me

not having food for so long, but I

wanted to leave what food we had

for the elderly, sick, and young, so I

just went without. 

Usually there are at least two

deputies per floor. Since more peo-

ple were working during the hurri-

cane, before people started to quit

there were about three to four peo-

ple per floor. After people started

quitting, there was only about one

deputy per floor. I don’t know why

they did this, but the Associate

Warden Bonita Pittman locked us

on those floors with the inmates

and no way to get out. I was

trapped for the entire 12-hour shift!

After my shift was over, they’d

send someone to my floor with a

key to unlock me. 

At one point, I think it was the third

day I was in there, I was locked on

the 3rd Floor for my shift, and I

noticed that one inmate wasn’t

looking too well. I didn’t know what

was wrong with him specifically,

but I asked what was wrong with

him and he told me he had asthma

problems. I asked him if he had an

asthma pump, and he said yeah

but that it wasn’t working. I told

him to lie down, maybe it will pass.

He kept getting worse, so I tried to

beat on the back door to get help,

but no one heard. Eventually, I had

to knock out a window with a

broomstick to get help. Someone

downstairs happened to hear me,

and they called medical. There was

no running water or anything, and

they had to bring him oxygen to

save him. The doctors came and

saved his life.

The fourth day, I was sent to the

Mezzanine, which doesn’t have any

inmates. It’s got the heavy equip-

ment like the generators. There’s an

exit to the roof there. I was sup-

posed to go up there with a shot-

gun; in case anybody got out, I was

supposed to do what I was sup-

posed to do. I had live rounds there

with me, but at the time there were

rubber bullets loaded in the gun.

No one from HOD escaped. You

could see that in the Templeman III

building, someone knocked a hole

in the wall and set the building on

fire. It was almost like the Third

World: people getting shot by

snipers around the jail. It looked like

people were getting picked off. You

see somebody fall. . . . It seemed

unreal. I don’t know if they were

getting shot with live rounds or

what; they were falling in the water

and that was enough for me to see

right there.

I heard rumors of riots going on at

the other jails, but I’m not sure if

it’s true or not. Not in the building

where I was at. Some people tried

to set fires, but those were put out

quickly. I was up on the Mezza-

nine for about 48 hours, mostly

alone. I couldn’t sleep. Adrenaline,

worrying, it kicked in. I hadn’t spo-

ken to my wife since Sunday, did-

n’t know what happened to my

parents. I didn’t have any food.

The inmates were eating cheese

and cartons of milk. We melted

buckets of ice for water.

Some time after that, DOC came

down from around the state to

start evacuating the inmates. HOD

was the last building to get evacu-

ated. We don’t have any heat or

A/C, so it’s naturally ventilated. The

other buildings were sealed shut

because they had A/C and heat,

but neither of those worked with

the power down. So, because we

had some kind of ventilation, we

were better off I guess, and our

inmates got evacuated last. Every-

one had to come through the Mez-

zanine to get out because the

bottom floors were flooded. We

brought the inmates through the

roof. I saw every face as they came

out. The maximum-security inmates

were handcuffed, but everyone else

just had these plastic cuffs that

linked two people together. DOC

had people in full riot gear assisting

the evacuations, with stun guns,

tear gas, mace. Most of the prison-

ers were calm during the whole

thing; they were happy to be get-

ting out. There were a few

instances where someone needed

to get stunned—I didn’t see it, but

you could hear it. A couple people

were shot with plastic bullets, and

a couple were tear gassed. But it

was mostly calm. It’s better to

show force than to have to use

force all the time. 

After we got all the inmates out we

thought it would be okay. But after

they were gone, there were no

more boats. The sheriff was gone

too—he really wasn’t worried about

us deputies. Somebody had a two-

way radio and called Charles Foti,

the old Sheriff. Foti got us boats

and shelters, while the current

Sheriff left us stranded. If it wasn’t

for the Coast Guard who dropped

cases of water and MREs. . . . I

never want to see another MRE in

my life! We finally all got out and

took buses to the airport.

I think, in a situation like this, it’s

more common sense than training

that gets you through. You see who

are good leaders and who are not.

Good leaders stepped up and

solidified things. Bad leaders didn’t.

Two commanders stepped up real

big, but my supervisors kind of

caved in. After the storm, the sher-

iff’s office asked me to come back

to work with a raise. But I can’t work

under the warden, Bonita Pittman—

she is not an honest person.

Today I’m in the process of looking

for a job. My health has made it

tough, because I am diabetic and

now I need to take insulin. I was

getting unemployment for a while,

but not anymore. I never got any

kind of compensation from the

Sheriff’s department. This whole

experience was a learning experi-

ence—a horrible experience.192 n
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In Templeman I (Unit E-2), one prisoner reports that SID
was called in when some prisoners in an adjacent dorm
became “unruly” over conditions:

But, since we were curious as to what all the com-
motion was about, we were all looking out of the
dorms’ window to see. So for our curiosity, “S.I.D.”
came in “our” dorm & made all of us get down, put
our noses to the wet, foul, and unsanitary floor, and
when one of my fellow inmates proclaimed “that we
hadn’t done anything wrong” one of the “S.I.D.s”
assaulted him with the “butt” end of his rifle.193

One man reports that when he was on the Broad Street
Overpass, he

could see prisoners breaking out windows on the 2nd
& 3rd floors, waving blankets yelling for help. I per-
sonally saw 6 prisoners jump to the water below
from the floors mentioned. After the shooting
stopped there was a prisoner with a big whole in his
left upper back bleeding very bad being dragged up
the Broad Overpass where we were seated. 194
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Officers stand
guard over
exhausted pris-
oners on the
Broad Street
Overpass
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A. Breakdowns in the Chain of Command

Having received reports about extensive flooding in New
Orleans, DOC officials became increasingly concerned about
Sheriff Gusman’s decision to not evacuate OPP.2 By Monday
night, many of the buildings in OPP were filling with water
and had lost power. According to Sheriff Gusman, it was at
this point that he called DOC and requested assistance in
evacuating the prison.3 Some deputies tell a different story.
According to them, the evacuation began in earnest only
after officers in charge of the OPP buildings “went over the
head of Criminal Sheriff Marlin Gusman and called Attor-
ney General Charles Foti for state reinforcements.”4

According to one deputy, “[o]ne of the captains called Foti
and said, ‘We’re losing the battle.’ . . . They (DOC) showed
up with all the things we didn’t have: shotguns with beanbag
rounds, tasers, rubber bullets, riot gear, bulletproof shields.”5

The DOC’s technical assistance report indicates only that
the department received a call at approximately 11:55 pm on
Monday night from the Orleans Parish Criminal Sheriff’s
Office requesting DOC assistance in evacuating OPP; the
report does not indicate that Sheriff Gusman placed the call,
or directed that it be placed.6

In Templeman III, the Watch Commanders were disor-
ganized and unable to give clear directions to their deputies.
At one point on Sunday evening, a deputy recalls receiving
“[a] lot of conflicting orders from the Watch Commanders.
The orders from our Watch Commander were to leave the
inmates where they were, and another Watch Commander
said to move the inmates to a higher floor.”7

Deputy Foster reports similar confusion in the House of
Detention. “As the storm approached, [things became] chaotic.
No one gave any orders. Everyone said, ‘I think we need to do
this, I think we need to do that.’ Deputies were running the jail.
. . .”8 One deputy states: “When we got there, they hadn’t told
us anything. They kept telling us they were waiting to see what
the sheriff was going to say. No procedures, no safety precau-
tions. No evacuation plan. The sheriff shouldn’t be a head of
nothing. Anytime a man can’t even handle his employees. . . . I
been there three years and I been through a whole lot.”9
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Ibecame a deputy at OPP in

2002, and I was assigned to

HOD. I showed up to work the

Sunday before the storm at noon,

six hours ahead of schedule. I’d

been told to be prepared to stay

for at least three days, so I’d

brought enough food and medi-

cine for my diabetes to last me that

amount of time. My fiancé and

family all evacuated before the

storm hit. I didn’t go with them

because I’d been told at Academy

class that if you don’t report to

work, you can be arrested for neg-

ligence of duty. My fiancé didn’t

want to me go to work, but I told

her that I took on this job knowing

the responsibilities I needed to do.

She went to the Superdome, and

my mother, niece, nephew, and

daughter went to Jackson, Missis-

sippi first, and then to Dallas.

Between noon and 6:00pm when

my shift started, I helped people

around the building getting sup-

plies and stuff. At 6:00, I went to

roll call and reported to the 8th

floor. Two deputies, including

myself, were on call for the 8th

floor that night. That floor was soli-

tary confinement, federal inmates,

and protective custody. The

inmates knew there was a storm

brewing, but they didn’t show any

emotions that they were scared at

the time. The shift went fine until

the storm hit—about 5:30am. The

transformers blew up, and we

completely lost power. I was doing

my rounds, and once the power

went off, the electronic doors to

the cells stopped working. Once

that happened, I knew we had to

go in and patrol more frequently to

make sure the inmates were safe

and secure. On some floors, the

deputies had to take leg shackles

and tie them around the cell doors

to secure them in order to prevent

the inmates from getting out. 

Sometime that first night after we

lost power, my foot got injured. I

don’t know if something fell on my

foot or what. My foot was swollen

out, and by the time I was relieved

from my floor, we had no power for

the elevators to work so I had to

hobble down the stairs. I needed

help to make it down. By 7:15 am I

told my supervisor that I was

injured, but I continued working

because I felt that with that amount

of inmates and civilians in the

building, it was my duty to protect

the civilians. I’d heard reports, not

sure whether they were confirmed

or not, of rioting in other buildings,

setting floors on fire. When I heard

about that, I thought about the

women and small children in the

building, and I decided it was my

obligation to protect them from the

inmates in case one of them tried

to riot to get out. 

On Day Two, I was placed in a

position to keep people from

swimming up to the building. I was

posted on the Mezzanine area,

and right above there was where

the civilians were staying. I had a

.357 revolver with regular issue

loads. No one tried to come up. I

got very minimum to eat and drink

that whole time. I’d brought my

own food with me, and that was

my main source of food. People

were getting scared, ‘cause there

was no ventilation in the building.

One deputy told people to get

down because he was going to

shoot the windows out on the

Mezzanine where the civilians were

to get some ventilation. That

scared a lot of the civilians who

didn’t know what was going on. 

When they started moving the

inmates out of the building, some

were pepper sprayed and maced

and forced out of the building. I

didn’t have to use force with any-

one. Once we got the inmates out,

they turned their back on us

deputies. The way they treated us

after the storm, you couldn’t imag-

ine it. We really didn’t have any

more food. Tom, a former deputy

who was staying in the building,

needed oxygen and they didn’t

have any oxygen for him in the

building. The refrigeration went

down when the power went down,

so the insulin I had with me for my

diabetes went bad. I was in a lot of

pain, but I had to suck it up and

give the others comfort.

At one point I called my mother

and told her, in case I don’t make it

out, I want you to have it in the

record that we are not being

thought of. There is no food, water,

or any form of sanitation. Thank

God I have these two jars of

peanut butter and two loaves of

bread to help me survive. How can

the Sheriff’s office run out of food?

Another deputy’s husband swam

out and came back with watermel-

ons that were floating in the water.

Now, I wasn’t supposed to let him

out, but I’m not gonna stop him

from trying to get food in a state of

emergency. We had a candy

machine filled with chocolate,

chips, all forms of energy. And we

were told, “You better not break

those machines to get to the

food.” All that food could have

been used to feed people! We had

children in there with us, but we

had milk go sour sitting in the milk

machine. The helicopter came and

dropped of food enough for thirty-

three people, and we had over one

hundred people in the building. If

you had a helicopter drop off food,

you could have that helicopter take

sick people out. You were left to

think, “How you gonna do this all

on your own?” Thinking about all

this now is bringing up a lot of

mean emotions, but it’s hard. The

idea of bring forgotten about, and

not even being told “thank you.”

On the Friday after the storm, they

got me by boat and dropped me

off on a bridge. I was left on that

bridge for about an hour to fend for

myself, and then a helicopter came

and took me to the airport. No one

from the Sheriff’s office was there

to help me onto that helicopter. I

took myself on an ambulance to

Baton Rouge General Hospital for

treatment of my foot. I had two

surgeries done in Baton Rouge try-

ing to save my toe. They thought

they saved it.

I had to be flown from a small plane

to Dallas to be with my family. In

Dallas, I went to Baylor Hospital

and met with a doctor who said my

infection was too bad, that gan-

grene had set in, and we are going

to have to take that toe. Two days

after I woke up from toe amputa-

tion surgery, I received a phone call

from Bonita Pitman. “Lewis?” she

asked. “Are you planning to return

to work?” “Yes,” I told her, “when I

am well. I just had surgery, I have a

On some floors, the deputies had to take leg

shackles and tie them around the

cell doors to secure them in order to prevent the

inmates from getting out. 

D E P U T Y  D U A N E  L E W I S
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106 fever.” What the hell? Not to

send me a get well card? She knew

what had happened to me. 

Being diabetic, I was going through

a real hard time. I went from walk-

ing on crutches to using a wheel-

chair to using a walker. I had to

take antibiotics for roughly a

month—they had to run tubes up

my arm into my heart. When I

called in and filed my first report to

try to get workman’s comp for the

injury, they denied me and told me

my injury wasn’t work-related. To

this day, I cannot work, and it is

undetermined when I can go back

to work. I am on my own finan-

cially. I am two inches from being

put on the street.

These days I deal with post-trau-

matic stress—I am taking medicine

for that—depression—so that I

can sleep at night. I have violent

tendencies from being faced with a

place with no food, no fresh water,

and when we did get food, there

was only so much. Last time there

was a thunderstorm, I ran and got

in a closet. I’ve bitten my fiancé in

my sleep from having violent

dreams. I was fighting in my mind.

I’ve had people send me copies of

the things Marlin Gusman said he

did for the hurricane. Wait a minute

man! You didn’t do shit! I didn’t see

you walking in that water. I didn’t

see you getting people out of that

building. Marlin Gusman made it

seem like some big successful

thing that he done. It wasn’t you.

You were just a figurehead with

makeup on your face. Come on

man, I’m not stupid. You were sup-

posed to be a man among men.

You are the leader—you should

hold your head up and at least

make me feel like you know what

you’re doing. I’m sitting here with

gangrene setting in past my ankle,

and you couldn’t even send me a

get well card. But you managed to

send me a form saying how much I

owe for my equipment. You can’t

even send me a card and say to

me, “I’m sorry you lost your toe and

if there’s anything I can do, let me

know.” I have to deal with depres-

sion, fear, snapping at my fiancé,

and going from a forty-year-old

man to a little baby when it rains.

But all I want to hear is, “Thanks.

Job well done. You did a good job,

bro. I’m glad you were there, glad

you helped out.” That’s the biggest

thing. A lot of us feel that way. All

we wanna hear is for the man to

say thank you. That’s it: thank you.

The one thing the jail needs is to be

better prepared. They need to

have emergency preparedness

training every six months or three

months. They need to train each

building so that each one is a com-

plete self-sustained entity. Train

people so that people in each

building can handle all situations in

each building. Ask: “Is the fuel for

the generator where it can’t be

contaminated by water or wind?”

Train everyone how to use the riot

gear. Train deputies to put on air

packs in case you have a fire inside

the building so they can get people

out in a safe manner. They don’t

have training like that. I am a mer-

chant marine: I’ve had training. But

not here. There is no fire training in

the jail system. There is no biohaz-

ard training. You’re waiting for the

fire department to get here, but the

floor is full of smoke. You should

have a special unit, whether it’s

deputies or inmates or both,

trained to use the thermal imager

to find people who may be lying on

the floor. That might sound far-

fetched, or too far in the future, but

to me, that kind of training could

be done.10  n
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Even after the storm was over, Orleans Parish and St.
Bernard Parish officials continued to bicker over who was
responsible for the St. Bernard Parish prisoners who were
transferred to OPP prior to the storm. Discussing the three
St. Bernard Parish prisoners who managed to escape OPP,
Sheriff Gusman wrote: “The St. Bernard Parish Sheriff’s
Office maintained responsibility for the security and well-
being of these inmates. . . . They provided their own deputies
to guard their own inmates.”11 St. Bernard Parish Colonel
Richard Baumy disputed Sheriff Gusman’s account, stating:
“We sent six deputies there to assist their operation. . . . They
were under the command of New Orleans deputies. It’s their
jail, of course, so we had to operate under their supervi-
sion.”12 According to one OPP deputy who was on duty in
Templeman III throughout the storm, the St. Bernard Parish
deputies were “scared to death of their inmates. We were told
not to deal with them because if something happened we’d be
responsible. We eventually had to feed them because they
[the St. Bernard Parish deputies] wouldn’t.”13

B. The Evacuation Finally Begins

The OPP evacuation began after state DOC officers from
Angola arrived with Warden Burl Cain. The process took
over three days, and appears to have been completed at
some point on Thursday evening or early Friday. Prisoners
report that various corrections personnel rescued them by
boat, including DOC guards, OPP deputies, and national
guardsmen.

In some buildings, rescuers were unable to free prison-
ers because their cell doors could not be unlocked. In Tem-
pleman III, many of the prisoners in the first-floor B-Side
remained locked in lower-level cells while the surrounding
tiers were evacuated. One deputy explains: “The inmates
that were the easiest to move were moved first. . . . B-Side
was primarily last, because one of the Watch Commanders
misplaced the key and we had to find an alternate key.”14

“Before the water got to my waist, we put them all on lock-
down and the scary thing about that was the cells wouldn’t
open back up,” says another Templeman III deputy.15 “[S]o
we had to go in the water, open your eyes and try to open
them manually and only my Chief Bordelon and Major
Jones were able to do it. That was a big help that they were
on hand—without them, the inmates would have died
because they never taught us that.”16

Most prisoners report that they were instructed to leave all of
their belongings behind, and were told that they would still be



At the time of the storm, I had

been in Orleans Parish Prison

for about one year. I was housed in

a ground-floor dorm (Unit B) of Tem-

pleman IV. The women in our unit

stayed in open dorms with triple-

stacked bunk beds. At the time of

the storm, some women were even

sleeping on the floor because there

wasn’t enough bed space.

We found out the storm was com-

ing by watching TV, but on Sunday

the TV cut off. The phones were

already off, so after Sunday we had

no more contact with what was

going on outside. All we knew was

what the Yanks were telling us

when they came back to the dorm

after talking to the deputies. On

Sunday they were telling us that

we should pack our stuff because

deputies were about to move us.

But we never was moved. When

the deputies locked the Yanks and

us in the dorm, we didn’t know

what was happening, and we did-

n’t see the deputies for a long time. 

When the power went out, it was

dark—no lights. Water backed up

from the commodes and sewer

water from the flood came under

the doors and filled up our unit to

the second bunk. We didn’t know

what was going on, and it was

hard to even know what day it

was. In our unit there were elderly

women who had trouble getting

onto the top of the third bunk to

avoid the water, and there was at

least one pregnant lady who also

had trouble. We tried to help those

women as best we could. My friend

Iris Hardeman was really sick, and

we were worried about her.

We were all trying to stick together,

praying, singing. Trying to be

strong through it all because we

didn’t know what was going to

happen. We had no food to eat,

except the little bit that people had

bought from commissary, but we’d

eaten all of that long before they

finally moved us.

When it was time to move us,

deputies came in at night with

flashlights and everyone got up. It

was completely dark, and they just

told us to get all of the stuff that we

could and bring it with us. With no

light, we couldn’t find anything, so

we just carried out our own bodies,

and we held people who couldn’t

hold themselves up.

We walked through the jail on the

ground floor from Templeman IV to

III; the water was up to my chest

and I am 5’2”. It probably took half

an hour to one hour to get all of us

to Templeman III. When we were

walking through that water, Sheriff

Gusman was there. He was telling

us to be careful, to hold on to the

wall or the fence as we were walk-

ing. That was the only time I ever

saw him.

In Templeman III we climbed the

stairs to a higher level, and male

deputies with flashlights were lead-

ing us up the stairs. There wasn’t

any floodwater in that dorm, but it

was dark and we couldn’t see any-

thing. The men had already set

fires in that dorm, which they did

so the guards would get them out

of there. But then they moved us in

there instead. There were all kinds

of smoke in the air, like they just put

a fire out. We were coughing, black

stuff was coming out of our noses.

It was terrifying. At that point, the

deputies were telling us that they

were trying to contact people to

get us out of there, but they could-

n’t get any help. We were there for

a few hours, until the next morning

when the sun came up and we

could see around the room. There

were blankets in the bathroom that

the men had burnt before we got

up there, and the room was all dirty

and nasty. All the chemical bottles

they use for cleaning were thrown

around. When we looked out the

window we saw how high the

water was and we wondered how

we would get out of there.

They came up to take us out of the

building and took us to Central

Lock-Up, which was filled with

water. We left Templeman III proba-

bly at around 7 or 8am, and we

only got out of Central Lock-Up

late that night. In Central Lock-Up

there were men as well as women.

The women were still being pretty

supportive of each other, but some

men were trying to escape any

way they could and there was

shooting around us. There were

big double doors where the boats

were picking people up and we

could see outside. We stood up on

a truck to get into the boat.

They took us to the Overpass and

told us to sit down. We were on

one side of the bridge and the men

were on the other side. There were

dogs and other officers there. The

officers used plastic cuffs to cuff

each woman to the woman next to

her. Then they told us to sit down

back-to-back with other women.

There were ice chests full of bottled

water on the bridge, and we were

asking for the water. We were so

thirsty and it was really only then

that we started to get wild, really try-

ing to get to the ice chests. They

could have given us a piece of ice or

something. Some women reached

in and that was when they maced

us and put the dogs on us. I didn’t

get to touch any of the ice. Some

civilians on the bridge were trying

to give us water too, but the officers

wouldn’t allow them to get close.

Some of them threw bottles to us

and we just tried to get a few sips.

They took off the plastic cuffs so I

could get into a boat to go to the

interstate. On the interstate they

put the cuffs back on and told us

to sit down again. They threw bot-

tles of water to us, but still no food.

I was tired and very weak. They

had people passing out at that

point. I lost sight of my friend Iris at

that point and didn’t see her again

until we got to Angola and they

were deciding where to put us.

You wouldn’t imagine that one person would let another

human being go through that, when there was time to let

us out. It never would occur to me that a person could let

that happen; even though we’re in jail

we’re human beings.

J O Y C E  G I L S O N
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there when they returned to the jail after the storm. Prison-
ers lost irreplaceable items such as legal paperwork and per-
sonal belongings. They also lost medications and medical
paperwork that would have helped them obtain treatment at
the facilities to which they were later sent. Ronnie Lee Mor-
gan, Jr., a federal prisoner in HOD, explains: 

On Thursday, DOC guards came on the tier throw-
ing guns in our face. They told us to leave everything
there, because it would be there when we got back. I
tried to get my legal paperwork, but a guard pulled
his gun on me so I left it there. I lost all of my legal
work. I also lost baby pictures of my daughters, and
the storm took the pictures that their mom had. My
daughters are now 9 and 11 years old, and that
whole memory of them as babies is gone now.18

C. Prisoners Were Held for Hours in Central
Lock-Up Before Being Evacuated by Boat

Central Lock-Up is a small building where prisoners are
brought to be booked after they are arrested. It served as a
staging area for the evacuation from OPP: hundreds of pris-
oners were moved there from other buildings, where they
remained in chest-deep water for as long as twelve or thirteen
hours. One reason prisoners waited there so long was
because the Sheriff did not have enough boats to transport
them. Early reporting indicated that the Sheriff had only five
boats to transport the nearly 7000 prisoners who were in the
facility when Katrina hit, not to mention all of the deputies,
staff members, and civilians who were invited into the facility
to ride out the storm.19 More recent information from the
Sheriff’s office indicates that only three boats actually were
on-hand.20 According to one high-ranking official in the Sher-
iff’s office, when one of the larger boats broke down, prison
officials “broke into an adjacent parking garage at police
headquarters so they could ‘scavenge’ car batteries for the
boat’s electric trolling motor.”21

When they arrived in Central Lock-Up, prisoners were
“bunched together like cattle.”22 The water was deep. Some
prisoners report it reached their necks. Some were too short
or too weak to stand above the water on their own. When Iris
Hardeman passed through Central Lock-Up, other women
took turns holding her up.23 Another woman from Temple-
man IV reports that she carried an elderly woman on her
back from her building to Central Lock-Up: 

We waded thru 4 1/2 sometimes 5 foot deep water. I
carried a 65 year old lady on my back because she
was 4 foot 9 inches and could not swim and had a
heart condition and the officers told her that if she
didn’t learn to swim quick they had a body bag with
her name on it. . . . [W]e were moved to Central

She died a little while after we got

to Angola, but I didn’t see her die

because they placed me in a differ-

ent part of the building.

I can’t remember how long it was

before I found out where my family

was—maybe two or three weeks. I

was sitting down talking to another

woman abut how I still didn’t know

if my family was okay, and she was

saying she didn’t know where her

family was. Then a deputy came

and brought me the message that

my family was okay and that they

were in Mississippi and that I

should call them. I will never forget

that. It was a relief—so wonderful.

I thank God today that I am alive.

With all that we went through I

thought they would really leave us

for dead. I’m still trying to get

myself together. Some people I

meet ask me about what hap-

pened, because they talked to

someone who was there during

the storm, and they heard that I

was at the jail too. I don’t conver-

sate about it because I’m trying to

forget it. 

If I could talk to the Sheriff, it

wouldn’t be nothing nice. The peo-

ple from Angola said they came to

the jail on Friday and Gusman

refused to let them take us. He

should have let them take us. You

wouldn’t imagine that one person

would let another human being go

through that, when there was time

to let us out. It never would occur

to me that a person could let that

happen; even though we’re in jail

we’re human beings. And then

Gusman lied about us having food

and water when he knows we did-

n’t. He knows we didn’t. There’s

just no way he can correct this. If I

had anything to tell him, it wouldn’t

be nothing nice.17 n



Lock Up to wade and stood in water for 9 1/2
hours. Where I stood with the 65 year old lady on
my back or in my arms we were not allowed to sit on
any desk or tables. After 5 1/2 hours my legs started
giving out so some of my friends saw me go under
water while trying to keep the old lady up and came
and held us up for 4 hours.24

One prisoner from Templeman I reports that when he arrived
in Central Lock-Up: “The water looked as if it had sat in an
outside pool for months. It smelled as if someone mixed it
with 90% diesil gasoline. I sware, the whole while I was in
that water, I feared for my life. Imagine someone 5’0 feet
moving through say about 5’3 or 5’4 feet water?”25 Another
writes, “[t]he water was literally burning my skin it was so
thick with Disel feul.”26

By the time they arrived in Central Lock-Up, many of
the prisoners had gone days without food, water, or medical
attention. Female prisoners from Templeman IV were held
alongside male prisoners in Central Lock-Up. One female
prisoner reports that when she was in Central Lock-Up, a
male inmate grabbed her leg underwater. “I screamed and
the deputies started running toward me while the other
female inmates said that theirs is a man under water. The
deputies started shooting in the water by my legs and the
male inmates which was 3 at that time got up and started
running and then the deputies start shooting over my head.”27

Another female prisoner from Templeman describes a simi-
lar incident in which “[a] few men went under the funky
water grabbing on the women inmates.”28

One prisoner from South White Street was incarcerated
for failing to meet with his probation officer. He reports that
before leaving South White Street, a guard provided the pris-
oners with plastic bags so that they could leave with their
belongings. After walking two blocks through neck-deep
water, he reached Central Lock-Up. Once there, he faced
“armed guards w/ rifels and machine guns demanding us to
remain still at that point, and to drop our belongings (which
was everthing we own, including all address and phone num-
bers to all relatives everwhere.) We dropped our bag as
instructed and proceeded to the boat. They hit some us with
the muzzel of the guns and shove some in the back.”29

Another prisoner states that in Central Lock-Up, “prisoners
were being shot with beanbags & rubber bullets & they were
only trying to get to safety.”30 “[T]he deputies had shotguns
shooting them over our heads at the wall and the ceiling caus-
ing sheet rock and debrie to fall on our heads and face and eye.
I was scared for my life because things were out of control.”31

D. Reports of Deaths Inside OPP

Sheriff Gusman has consistently stated that there were no
deaths at OPP during the storm and the subsequent evacua-
tion.32 However, several deputies and many prisoners report
witnessing deaths at the jail. Speaking to a reporter shortly
after the evacuation, Deputy Luis Reyes stated: “There are
dead inmates in there still. When the guards were doing their
last sweeps there were one or two here and there. We were

not giving them any food or water.”33 Deputy Deborah
Williams recalls being with juveniles during the storm. After
making her way from Louisiana to New York to be with her
daughter, Deputy Williams recounted: “It was horrible. Two
of our kids drowned, and there was nothing we could do to
help them. One of them was pregnant. There were bodies
floating by, and the soldiers kept telling us to hurry, that it
wasn’t safe.”34

After the storm passed, Corey Stevenson was moved
from his juvenile tier in Old Parish Prison to an open dorm
that housed adults. He recalls that the man sleeping in the
bunk above him was diabetic, and he died some time after the
power went out in the building. “When it was time to move
him, I was shaking him hard—harder than normal—and he
wouldn’t get up. I put my arms around his back and pulled
him off the bed. His feet hit the floor and I was dragging him.
A US Marshall pointed a shotgun at me and said what the
hell is in your pocket. It was my mail bag. The US Marshall
told me to leave the man by the showers, so I did.”35 Two pris-
oners housed in the upper tier of Templeman III (D-3) report
that an elderly prisoner passed away during the storm.36

Reports of deaths have not been limited to prisoners.
During Sheriff Gusman’s reelection campaign, his opponent
ran a television ad featuring a maintenance worker at the jail
claiming that two female deputies died of smoke inhalation
following the storm.37

One year after the storm, no deaths at OPP have been
confirmed. It is certainly conceivable that given the chaos at
the jail deputies and employees were mistaken about having
seen dead bodies there. When asked about this possibility,
however, one prisoner responded, “[h]ow could I forget it?”38

Bodies are still being found in parts of New Orleans,39 and
FEMA has admitted, “it’s likely that many of the lost will not
be found.”40 The Orleans Parish coroner’s office reported
recently that 49 persons found dead in Katrina’s floodwaters
remain unidentified.41 Some of the prisoners for whom fugi-
tive arrest warrants were issued have not been recaptured,
and the only evidence of their “escape” from OPP may well
be that they did not show up at DOC facilities in the weeks
after the storm. Several groups and individuals have gener-
ated lists to identify any prisoners who may have died at OPP
during the storm or while in transit to state facilities, but
those lists will never be complete, because there does not
appear to be an entirely accurate list of all of the individuals
who were detained in OPP at the time of the storm.
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“I was on the overpass for several days alongside the prisoners. Civilians were told not to take photographs, but I took this
picture on Wednesday afternoon. At one point, the prisoners were seated all the way up the bridge. The trash in the photos is
actually the belongings of the prisoners that some of them were able to take with them from the jail. When they were moved
from the bridge on Wednesday morning, they were told to leave all of their belongings behind.”
-Mary Gehman, writer, New Orleans.  PHOTOGRAPH: MARY GEHMAN

Prisoners
await rescue
on a freeway
overpass



Interstate 10 lies several blocks away from the main build-
ings of OPP. Parts of the Interstate were submerged by the
time officials began evacuating prisoners from OPP. There-
fore, prisoners were taken by boat to the Broad Street Over-
pass, which rises in an arc above Interstate 10. Boats
dropped the prisoners off a short distance from the Interstate
10 on-ramp, and prisoners then waded through chest-deep
water until they were able to climb the on-ramp and get to the
dry portions of the Overpass. 

Thousands of prisoners were eventually transferred to
the Overpass, where they remained anywhere from several
hours to several days. When buses arrived to transport pris-
oners out of New Orleans, they stopped on the Interstate
below. DOC officers eventually built a scaffold that prisoners
were ordered to use to climb down to the buses on the Inter-
state. Later, evacuees from the prison were driven by boat
directly to the Interstate.

When prisoners reached the Overpass, most of them
were filled with the hope that their ordeal was now over. One
prisoner writes: “[W]hen I made it to the bridge I thought
things would get much better but it got worser. I though I was
going to die that I was’nt going to make it out there. I was
stuck on that bridge for 3 days no water or nothing I past out
I was miserable.”1 Unfortunately, many of the prisoners
found that “on the bridge, we were exposed to even worse
treatment then when in the prison.”2

On the Overpass, prisoners were placed in rows, and were
ordered to remain seated back-to-back. One prisoner writes:

Apon arriving to the broad St. Bridge the guards
then were placing us in rows. Each row were back to
back and next row were the same. This was going on
all through the night. We had to sleep sitting up in a
cural like position. All through the night they conti-
nously transporting inmates to the bridge. Placing
them into the back to back position all night long.
This was the most uncomfortable sitting position I
ever sat for at least 10 hours.3

Sitting on the hot asphalt, prisoners began suffering from
dehydration and heat exhaustion. A deputy witnessed “sev-
eral inmates passing out from heat exhaustion, dehydration.
About twenty inmates passed out before water was even
considered to be brought to the bridge.”4 A prisoner from
South White Street saw “one gentleman laying under a van
for shade, seemed near death. . . . His breathing was real
slow, he wasn’t responding. I brung it to a number of deputies
attention, even a couple of nurses who was walking by and
they refused to give him attention. The guy was like foaming
from the side of his mouth.”5

Prisoners were assaulted when they attempted to stand
to go to the bathroom. One man says that he was “maced
several times because I either wanted to stretch my sore &
numb limbs or because I need to use the bathroom.”6

According to one deputy, on the Overpass there were “some
instances where pepper spray was used where it could have
been avoided. . . . When the inmates were getting pepper
sprayed, the only things they were asking for was food or
water. They wasn’t getting hostile or whatever. But when
they got loud, they got pepper sprayed.”7

Prisoners complain that the use of force went beyond
pepper spray. Dozens of prisoners recall officers using taser
guns on prisoners who were stretching or who asked for
help. “Many inmates suffer being maced, shot at with bean-
bag gun, tasered and I saw an old man being attacked by
police K-9s simply because his limbs became numb & he
needed to stretch,” writes one man.8 Another states that he
watched an inmate he knew “get bitten by a dog because he
had to use the bathroom and ‘stood up’ when were ‘told’ to
stay sitting in the sun on that ‘hot’ concrete. . . . The guard
couldn’t get the dog to release [his] leg for about 5 minutes.”9

One female prisoner states: “Some inmates got mace or
sprayed. They brougt the dogs out on us. I have never seen
anything like this in my 45 years of living.”10

Robie Waganfeald was arrested several days before the
storm on a charge of public intoxication; he was in New
Orleans for the night after returning from a seven-week sum-
mer vacation with a childhood friend.11 In a letter written to
his father, Mr. Waganfeald states that he sat in the sun on the
Overpass for ten hours with “no water and with National
Guardsmen threatening to shoot people. Some got hit with
rubber bullets, others with pepper spray. It was the most
humiliating, unjustifiable thing I’ve ever seen.”12

Another prisoner writes:

By mid-day many inmates were falling down,
apparently from dehydration or sunstroke. Many
inmates were pushing and shoving one another to get
onboard one of the airboats. At this time I was
pushed by a crowd of inmates toward the boats and
S.I.D. ordered everyone back. I couldn’t turn back,
and S.I.D. began to spray the crowd with pepper
spray. I was sprayed heavily in the eyes and on my
back. Over the next several hours I was sprayed twice
more for no reason whatsoever.

More officers arrived to relieve S.I.D. personnel,
bringing dogs with them. I saw one man attacked by
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a dog while heading to the side of the bridge to relieve
himself. I saw guards “march” an inmate past me
with Taser Wires attatched to his back. At no point
were we given food or water, and we spent the entire
day sitting directly in the sun, at gunpoint.13

A female prisoner states that she “had to urinate behind a truck
with a rifle pointed at me.”14 Another writes, “[w]e were made
to sit there, back to back, unless we had to use the bathroom,
then we could stand walk a few feet away and urinate right
there on the overpass in front of everyone!”15 Another female
prisoner recalls that SID and members of the SWAT team:
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made us urinate and make bowl movements in our
clothes where we sat. It was inhumane, humiliating
and also degrading. I an other females we on our
ministration and had no sanitary napkins to change
our old ones. We wore what we had on for 3 days.
Some of us had ministral blood all over us. The
S.I.D. and Swat team called us “crackheads”,
“whore”, “bitches” and all sorts of other names.16

Prisoners
await rescue
on the 
Broad Street
Overpass

PHOTOGRAPH: AP/WIDE WORLD PHOTOS



To this day, it is still unclear how many children were
detained in OPP at the time of the storm. According to the
Sheriff’s own statistics, over 300 children were transferred to
OPP shortly before the storm from the city-run YSC alone.1

The Juvenile Justice Project of Louisiana (JJPL) estimates
that the number was closer to 150.2 Neither figure includes
juveniles at OPP who were being held and tried as adults.

Following the storm, the JJPL interviewed dozens of the
boys and girls who were trapped in OPP during and after Kat-
rina. Their experiences, though no different in many ways
from that of the adult prisoners at the jail, are particularly
troubling in light of their age and vulnerability. For all of the
prisoners in OPP during the storm, it is worth asking why they
were not evacuated when the threat posed by Katrina became
widely known, and DOC offered to assist. For the adult pris-
oners arrested on minor charges in the two days before the
storm, it is also worth asking why those arrests were even
made, and whether it would have been prudent for the city to
release such prisoners in order to allow them to evacuate the
city with the their families. 

These questions grow more pointed when one considers
the fate of the juveniles who were at OPP, many of whom
were being held on minor charges, and were separated from
their loved ones and left to fear that they had been aban-
doned to die in the jail. What makes the juveniles’ suffering
all the more tragic is that in the five days before the storm,
now-Chief Judge David Bell of the Orleans Parish Juvenile
Court issued orders releasing those pre-trial juveniles who
were held in Orleans Parish detention centers, and were not
deemed threats to society.3 Those release orders appear not
to have been executed.4

A. The Move to OPP

Some of the children who were at OPP throughout the storm
were already being housed at the jail in CYC. Others were
brought to the jail on Sunday, August 28, from the city-run
YSC, and from the St. Bernard Detention Center. No offi-
cial from either facility has explained why the juveniles were
brought to OPP in the face of New Orleans’s mandatory
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evacuation order that exempted only inmates of the Orleans
Parish Criminal Sheriff’s Office.5

Before leaving YSC, one 17-year-old boy reports the
children were told “to take one sheet with them. We weren’t
allowed to take deodorant or mail or anything else.”6 A 15-
year-old boy, also from YSC, was brought to OPP in a van
with eight other boys, “all cuffed and shackled.”7 A 15-year-
old girl says she was taken in a van with fifteen girls, two of
them pregnant, to OPP from the YSC girls’ ward.8

Once they arrived at OPP, many of the YSC youths
were taken to Templeman V.  The boys were taken to the
second floor and crowded into cells designed to hold two peo-
ple. Both an OPP staff member and a number of St. Bernard
Parish prisoners report that juveniles were also held in Tem-
pleman III,9 although it is unclear whether these were juve-
niles who were being held and tried as adults. One of the
juveniles from St. Bernard Parish reports that he was first
locked in a first-floor “open dorm with about 200 adult
inmates.”10 In addition to being the only juveniles in the
room, he recalls that he and the other juvenile from St.
Bernard Parish were the only two white people in the room;
he reports that he was threatened with violence until he was
moved to a holding cell with his companion.11

There were approximately 16-20 girls who were trans-
ferred from YSC, and they were initially brought to a room
where there was only a curtain separating them from the
adult male inmates.12 A 13-year-old girl states that at some
point the girls were brought to a “20 person dorm” room on
the second floor.13

B. Last Meals
“One boy found some dog snacks.”14

Like the adults held in OPP, the juveniles ate their last meals
at different times. However, no juvenile interviewed reports
eating after Monday, August 29. The children spent between
three and five days without receiving food. Three of the boys
said deputies at OPP had food during and after the storm.
One 17-year-old reports that “[p]eople’s nerves were very
bad. Guards were leaving . . . [then] coming back with their
own food and eating [it] in front of [us] without giving us
any.”15 Days after Katrina, a 16-year-old boy said that once he
and other boys were evacuated, they still did not receive food,
though they could “see guards eating. . . . They had food with
them on the rooftops. When [adult] prisoners tried to take the
food, the guards threatened to shoot them.”16

One 16-year-old boy reports that another youth found
and ate “dog snacks” during his evacuation by boat from OPP
because it had been so long since he last ate.17Another boy
states: “When we got on the boat [to evacuate OPP], [guard]
Mo took us (6-9 kids) to [the Broad Street Bridge]. There was
food floating in the water and we tried to catch it and eat it.
That’s how hungry we were.”18 One youth states: “We went
five days without eating. . . . Kids were passing out in their
cells. The guards never explained anything to us.”19

VI .  JUVENILES AT OPP



ASHLEY GEORGE

Iwas thirteen years old when the

storm happened. I was in the

Youth Study Center (“YSC”), but

on Sunday, August 28 they moved

me with other boys and girls from

YSC to the prison. We were in the

jailhouse across from the big boy

jail. We were in a big dorm on the

second floor with the adult women. 

Across the hall from us there were

adult men prisoners. Before the

storm when we were still able to

use the toilets, the men watched

us. When the storm started, water

broke through the gate and started

rising. The day after the storm,

water came into the place and I

was in water up to my neck for a

couple of days. We got no food, no

water. I felt like I was going to die.

The guards didn’t do anything to

help us. We weren’t going to get

out, but the adult prisoners

escaped and got help for us. Mili-

tary people told us that if we had

stayed in there another day we

would have drowned. Adults took

a mattress and floated some girls

out to the boat. I took another boat

and went to the bridge, where I got

chips and water. Sometimes we

had to go to the bathroom on the

bridge, and they put a box around

us and made us go to the bath-

room in front of the adults and

other boys. There were pregnant

girls with us also, but they did not

get any special attention.

We got on a bus that took us to

Jetson. At Jetson they gave us

food and water and we took show-

ers. They also gave us teddy

bears. I was there for about three

or four days, before they brought

me to some group home. I got to

go with my grandmother about

one month later20

RUBY ANN GEORGE

A shley is my granddaughter.

After the storm I was going

crazy. I kept calling and calling and

calling and calling. I thought they

took them to Baton Rouge before

the storm. They ain’t nothing but

children. I kept calling all over, but I

didn’t find out where she was for

about a month. She was in Baton

Rouge. They kept giving me differ-

ent numbers to call and finally she

called me on my son’s phone.

It’s horrible. Nobody should have

gone through that—adults or chil-

dren. They should have gotten

them out of there. I was mad. They

should have taken the children to

Baton Rouge in the first place. If it

wasn’t for the prisoners, they

would have drowned.21 n

If it wasn’t for the prisoners,

they would have drowned. 

ASHLEY & RUBY ANNE GEORGE
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C. Heat, Humidity and No Drinking Water: 
“I felt like I was about to die.”22

With few exceptions, the boys report not receiving any drink-
ing water after Monday, August 29. Many of them resorted
to drinking the floodwater, which contained urine and feces
from backed-up toilets.23 One 16-year-old boy told JJPL,
“[t]he water . . . looked like it had a lot of oil in it. It had rain-
bows in it and lots of trash.”24 A 15-year-old boy saw a boy get
“maced” by guards when he asked for drinking water while
waiting to be evacuated from the Broad Street Overpass.25

According to one youth: “One kid passed out from dehydra-
tion. . . . I started to get really dizzy, like the roadrunner when
he gets knocked down, with the birds flying all around his
head. I felt like I was about to die.”26 A 16-year-old boy
reports: “I had been locked up before, but not behind real
bars. We couldn’t do anything. We had no sheets, no blankets,
nothing. It got really hot, people started getting naked and
cursing other people out because they were so hot.”27 A 15-
year-old girl similarly recalls that “[i]t was so hot at night we
sometimes slept without clothes.”28 She reports the girls at
OPP received two gallons of drinking water per day to share
among 15-20 of them. “We got a little every day.”29

D. Flooding
“I can’t seem to get that smell  out of my skin.”30

1. Inside OPP

The children from CYC were held on the first floor of a
building where the floodwaters rose to several feet. Boys
climbed to the highest bunks in their locked cells to keep out
of the rising waters.31 Many of the juveniles were held in dor-
mitories that did not have enough beds for all of them. Fights
broke out when the water started to rise, and space grew
more limited. Some of the juveniles report being injured dur-
ing these fights and complain that they received no medical
attention.32 A few children who were held on the second floor
started to panic when they looked outside and saw the water
rising. One 16-year-old boy states:

A few hours after the storm hit, the water started ris-
ing. That night the water started coming out of the
toilet and the drains. It smelled like straight swamp
water. I was crying and thinking about my people
because right before the power went out we saw what
was happening on the news and saw the Ninth Ward
flooding. Kids were really upset because most of them
were from the Lower Ninth.33

Most of the children report that their toilets backed up, spilling
human waste into the floodwaters and filling the facility with
an unbearable stench. A 14-year-old boy describes it as
smelling “dirty because of the toilets. You couldn’t use [them]
and they smelled.”34 Another youth says that the smell in his
cell was so bad that he covered the toilet with a mattress, but
that didn’t help to relieve the stench.35 According to one 15-

year-old boy: “We had human feces floating around us in the
water . . . we was forced to survive in for 3 days. I still have
little sores on my skin. I can’t seem to get that smell out of my
skin . . . . [M]aybe it’s all in my head but that smell will be
with me, and be in my head for a very long time.”36

2. Outside OPP “Tall adults carried little ones.”37

Depending on their age and size, children had to wade, swim
or be carried through the toxic floodwaters during their evacu-
ation from OPP. Some of them were taken by boat to the
Broad Street Overpass. Others went to the fishponds outside
OPP, where they waited with adult prisoners to be taken to the
Jetson Center for Youth (JCY). Several children were shack-
led and handcuffed while trying to walk through floodwaters
that came up to the chins of some of the tallest youth. A 15-
year-old boy who is 6’2” said that the water was “up to my
chin. . . . [The] tall adults carried little ones.”38 Some juveniles
report that only the smaller children were given life jackets.
Several children recall being tied together with plastic cuffs,
and then being pulled out by a rope and put on boats.39 One 15-
year-old boy states: “It was scary because I can’t swim and
they were pulling us by our shirts and I went under the water a
few times. I even swallowed a lot of water.”40

As for the girls, a 13-year-old states that adult inmates
“took a mattress and floated [us] out. [We] were taken by the
mattress to a boat.”41 One 15-year-old girl says: “We walked
through the water up to my mouth. I’m 5’7”. We carried [a]
twelve year-old through the water. Guards watched ‘trustees’
[adult prisoners] help us into the boats.”42

E. No Medical Care

A 16-year-old boy reports that children who got into fights
were placed in separate cells, but they received no treatment
for their injuries.43 One youth was hit in the face with a
phone, while another had his jaw broken. Other children
were injured after being hit in the face or maced by guards.44

Two pregnant juveniles received no medical attention,45

although it is not known if they or their babies suffered any
ill-effects as a result.

Many of the juveniles complain that they became cov-
ered in bumps and spots from the floodwaters. A 15-year-old
boy says that his feet “turned all white, with mildew and
sores on them. I was throwing up blood . . . . My feet are still
messed up and still itching.”46 Some of the juveniles also
became ill as a result of going under the floodwaters, and oth-
ers complain that they suffered bad sunburns due to being
exposed to the late August sun and heat for long periods.47

F. Youth Are Beaten by Guards
“We can shoot to kill”48

As conditions at OPP deteriorated, deputies and other secu-
rity personnel used violence and threats of violence against
children in an attempt to maintain order. Some children were
injured as a result.49 While in OPP, one youth was hit in the
face multiple times by a guard. He says that guards threat-
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ened other children “with guns raised to their heads.”50

The violence and threats by guards increased when the
children arrived at the Broad Street Overpass. A 14-year-old
boy states that once they arrived at the Overpass, children
were threatened by armed, uniformed officers he believed
were from the NOPD: “They had big guns. . . . They told us
that the mayor said ‘We can shoot to kill.’ There was military
there, too, but it was mostly NOPD. NOPD beat up an adult
prisoner. They busted open his head. . . . You could see the
meat.”51 One 15-year-old girl and one 16-year-old boy both
say that on the bus from the Broad Street Overpass to JCY,
“one girl got beaten by a guard for fighting with another
girl.”52 The girl was removed and taken to a van. According
to the boy, the guard used “closed fists.”53

Other youth witnessed adult inmates being beaten. One
17-year-old states:

One man was maced and beat up really badly. His
head was busted. . . . They let the dogs loose on that
man. . . . The dogs were biting him all over. They
told people they would kill them if they moved. . . .
The worst thing I saw was the guards beating that
man while everyone was just sitting there. . . . Those
people need to go to jail or something.54

There are also reports of youth being maced by guards. One
boy writes: “When [we] were shackled it was ten youth
shackled together. [Another boy] slipped out his handcuffs so
they maced him and since we were all shackled together, the
other kids basically got maced too.”55 Another boy states:
“Guards did not really care about us. [One] kid got maced
requesting water. Some kids were too weak to act, or do any-
thing for themselves.”56

G. Arriving at JCY

Most of the children report that conditions improved substan-
tially once they arrived at JCY, a facility operated by the
Office of Youth Development (“OYD”). Juveniles were fed,
allowed to bathe, given clean clothes, and some received
medical attention. A 15-year-old boy reports that at JCY “we
got food and water. We were treated very nicely.”57 OYD staff
report that upon hearing that the children were being trans-
ported to their facility, they immediately began preparing for
their arrival by getting clothing and food ready, as well as set-
ting up a place for all the children to sleep. 

According to Dr. Heidi Sinclair, a pediatrician who
examined children as they arrived at JCY, she encountered

[o]ne 10 year-old with broken arm, one girl preg-
nant, one girl with child in foster care. . . . [Chil-
dren] told stories of chest-high water and floating
bodies. . . . A few kids passed out from heat exhaus-
tion. . . . Six employees from YSC . . . were com-
pletely traumatized, vowing to never go back to New
Orleans.58

Dr. Sinclair recalls that they “kept boys in the infirmary with
health problems, then put half in JCY and half in other
places; some of the kids broke down crying when they were
forced to be moved.”59 OYD staff also worked tirelessly to
help children locate and contact their family members. By
way of contrast, “[t]he prison never notified the parents
where they were going to take the kids,” according to Lynette
Robinson, the mother of one 15-year-old boy who was in
OPP during the storm.60 She continues: “I didn’t know if he
was alive or dead. I was afraid he was floating somewhere.
He shouldn’t have been afraid he was going to die.”61

The entire experience had a profound effect on these chil-
dren. One 15-year-old states, “it was a horrible experience
and I would never want to go through that again and I know
this will have a long-term effect on me until I am dead and
gone.”62 Another 15-year-old sums up the entire experience in
this way: “We were treated like trash in New Orleans.”63
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Before Katrina, Ahmad Nelson spent
one-and-a-half years away from his
daughter after being wrongfully accused
of shooting a police officer. Charged
with public drunkenness three days
before the storm hit New Orleans, Mr.
Nelson found himself back in OPP dur-
ing the storm. Once guards abandoned
him and other the others prisoners in
Templeman III without food or water, Mr.
Nelson found a way to bring himself to
safety. Mr. Nelson’s experience inside
OPP during and after Katrina began
spreading on internet message boards
shortly after the storm. He has not seen
his daughter since the storm.
PHOTOGRAPH: THOMAS BACON,  
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According to the National Institute of Corrections (NIC)
Guide, it is important that leaders respond properly to criticism
following an emergency. When faced with “controversial
issues, media criticism, and inmate complaints,” the NIC
Guide warns leaders not to “make snap judgments and simply
exonerate staff out of hand. The leader must see to it that these
matters are investigated promptly, thoroughly, and honestly.”2

Sheriff Gusman responded reflexively and defensively to
criticisms by deputies, staff members, and prisoners. When
faced with the accounts by his deputies who described a com-
plete loss of order inside the jail, Sheriff Gusman dismissed
their claims as “lies” and said “the people making them are
disgruntled ex-employees and possibly deserters.”3 Sheriff
Gusman’s response to reports by prisoners of their experi-
ences during the storm epitomizes a callous disregard for
prisoners’ welfare that has long been endemic to OPP. The
Sheriff denied the truth of their claims, stating: “They’re in
jail, man. They lie.”4 Sheriff Gusman later told one reporter:
“I have 75 accounts from inmates given by lawyers with mis-
leading questions. It’s kind of hilarious to read them. . . .
None of it was true. But when you put it in the paper it
becomes more credible and it frustrates the hell out of me.
Don’t rely on crackheads, cowards and criminals to say what
the story is.”5 The response given by the head of Louisiana’s
Department of Corrections was hardly better. When asked
about the OPP evacuation, Secretary Richard Stalder
reportedly quipped, “[s]ome have assured me they will never
be late on child support payments again.”6

Soon after the storm, Sheriff Gusman assured the
public that all of the people in OPP had been evacuated
safely, and that no prisoners had escaped.7 Even while he was
making these claims, however, his office issued fugitive arrest
warrants for fourteen prisoners believed to have escaped
from OPP. Sheriff Gusman’s claim was ultimately proven
false when several of the prisoners who managed to escape
the floodwaters were recaptured. One man escapee was
George Schaefer III, a St. Bernard Parish prisoner who was
being held on murder charges.8 On November 2, Mississippi
authorities arrested Mr. Schaefer after he allegedly commit-
ted another murder. One St. Bernard Parish prisoner who
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was in the gymnasium with Mr. Schaefer during the storm
reports, “a convicted murderer had plotted, and went
through with his escape.”9 That man also reports on several
other escape attempts he witnessed: “[T]here was only
approx. 3 I know of who actually were successful. 2 were
thrown back through the roof, one was beaten & maced
while being drug back into the gym, and one had made it as
far as the courthouse steps, before being shot with riot bags,
and returned to the gym.”10

Of course, not all of the prisoners who fled the jail were
captured in connection with new arrests. For instance, an
arrest warrant was issued for David Fernandez, a 20-year-
old who was awaiting trial on drug charges. From an undis-
closed location, Mr. Fernandez spoke with a reporter for the
New Orleans Times-Picayune months after the storm. He
explained: “It wasn’t like we wanted to escape. The charges I
had wasn’t really about nothing. Why would I want to
escape? I escaped for my life.”11 Another prisoner who man-
aged to escape the jail was Ahmad Nelson, who was arrested
three days before the storm. Despite the fact that the story of
Mr. Nelson’s escape from the horrible conditions inside OPP
began spreading on the internet as early as September 7,
2005,12 the Sheriff’s office continued to deny that anyone
escaped, and only obtained a fugitive arrest warrant for Mr.
Nelson in late October 2005. According to one nonprofit law
enforcement watchdog group, the Sheriff’s refusal to
acknowledge that prisoners escaped from OPP made it
seems as though his office was “more concerned with their
own public relations issues than public safety.”13

The evacuation was the centerpiece of Sheriff Gusman’s
recent re-election campaign.  The Sheriff continues to main-
tain that the evacuation was accomplished “without casualty
or serious injury,”14 and that his deputies stood fast and main-
tained order during and after the storm.15 A spokesperson for
the DOC similarly commented that she had not heard of any
OPP deputies abandoning their posts.16 Sheriff Gusman also
claims that no prisoners were left alone for more than one
day,17 and that “the inmates were fed and supplied with
water.”18 This last, astounding claim appears in an article
entitled “What Really Happened At Orleans Parish Prison
in the Aftermath of Hurricane Katrina.”19 The Sheriff’s
office spokesperson wrote the article, which quotes Sheriff
Gusman, but no one else.

At one point, Sheriff Gusman reportedly said, “jailers
served 21,000 meals a day and had enough in storage to feed
the entire population during the crisis.”20 Deputy Chief
William Short, who was on duty in HOD during the storm,
made the wild claim that “in the House of Detention we had
three walk-in coolers full of hot dogs, hamburgers and
chicken. . . . We emptied a warehouse full of food and dis-
pensed it throughout the jail. We had cases and cases of
water.”21 After reviewing more than 120 testimonials by pris-
oners who were in HOD during the storm, and speaking
with a half dozen deputies who also were in that building, we
found no corroboration for Deputy Chief Short’s account.
The most similar accounts came from two deputies in the
building. Deputy Ducre reports that on the mezzanine level,
Assistant Warden Bonita Pittman had about fifty cases of
water and ice in a cooler for herself and her family when the
rest of the deputies, their family members, and all of the pris-

oners were already evacuated.22 Another deputy similarly
complains about the conduct of Assistant Warden Pittman
during and after the storm:

She wasn’t worried about whether or not we ate. . . .
She was trying to get a personal boat to get her family
out of there. They just treated us like dirt. They had
Kentwood jugs. . . . [Y]ou know those big jugs of
water. Warden had those things stockpiled when no
one else had any. She’d only give them to her family.
You got to think about the little kids and babies other
people had. If she cared, she would have helped the
other people out. But she’s calling people in to be at
work and then don’t want to help them. People had
little kids and new born. . . . [I]t was just terrible.23
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From Interstate 10, OPP evacuees were bused to prisons
and jails throughout Louisiana. Most female prisoners were
sent directly to Louisiana State Penitentiary at Angola, while
thousands of men were transported to the Elayn Hunt Cor-
rectional Center in St. Gabriel, Louisiana. After spending
several harrowing days at Hunt, the men were further dis-
persed to over three-dozen facilities across the state, and
some were sent to the Federal Correctional Institute in Cole-
man, Florida. At many of these receiving facilities, their
abuse and mistreatment continued.

State and local officials cannot be excused for the chaos
that the OPP evacuees endured during Hurricane Katrina.
However, their failure can be understood, in part, as the
product of poor planning in the face of the greatest natural
disaster in this country’s history. That many of these evac-
uees endured continuing abuse and neglect at their receiving
facilities is a reflection of the larger crisis in the Louisiana
criminal justice system. The racism and violence that these
prisoners describe should have no place in any prison. How-
ever it is still very much a reality in many facilities throughout
the state. In the case of these evacuees, state and local officials
not only failed to abide by constitutional and human rights
standards, but also failed the test of human compassion.

A. Elayn Hunt Correctional Center

The Elayn Hunt Correctional Center is located approxi-
mately seventy miles northwest of New Orleans, and was
not damaged as a result of the storm. On arrival, the OPP
evacuees were given food, water, and a blanket, and were
placed on fields inside the prison’s grounds. The fields had
very limited shelter, so thousands of men remained in the
open, even after it began to rain. Although some of the men
were transported out of Hunt shortly after their arrival,
thousands spent days in Hunt’s muddy fields.
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1. Rampant Assaults of Prisoners Abandoned on the 
Football Field “The most unsafe conditions that I’ve
been exposed to in prison.”1

For the OPP evacuees, conditions at Hunt were nothing
short of terrifying. When the first OPP evacuees arrived,
they were placed on several small yards. When it began to
rain, many of the men were consolidated onto a single field
surrounded by a fence. Armed guards watched over the pris-
oners from towers and from behind the fence. The guards
established a gun line along the length of the fence which
prisoners were not permitted to cross.

Prisoners were not separated by offense. Pre-trial
prisoners arrested on public intoxication charges were held
side-by-side with convicted felons. Municipal, state, and fed-
eral prisoners were also mixed together on a single field. Pris-
oners who were previously housed for good reason in
protective custody were suddenly placed on the field with no
protection at all. Given their sheer numbers, the evacuees
found themselves sitting on a powder keg. One man describes
his time at Hunt as “the most unsafe conditions that I’ve
been exposed to in prison.”2

Violence broke out all over the large yard at Hunt. One
man writes that on the yard, “people [were] getting stabbed
for they food and the guards just let it happen. Guys were
constantly fighting and stabbing each other up all day we
could not really sleep because we had to watch ourselves all
the time.”3

Instead of intervening to control the prisoners, Hunt
guards remained outside the fence. One man reports that
after he was stabbed on his left wrist by another prisoner, “I
went for help [and] the guards pointed their guns at me & told
me to leave or I would be shot at.”4 Many prisoners report
that they joined groups in order to gain protection. One pris-
oner “saw one young man . . . get his face ‘cut up’ so bad that
the flesh was hanging from his cheek and forehead.”5 He
states that “[y]ou had to be within a group in that environ-
ment, because if you went to sleep, someone had to be awake
to watch your back, it was just that brutal.”6
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D uring the storm, I was in the

House of Detention building,

in the 8th Floor CLU (Southside). I

am a federal inmate in protective

custody, and I was being held in a

cell without any cellmates. We

were locked down on the Saturday

before the storm, and stayed

locked down for days without food

or water. I had a small jar of peanut

butter that I had bought through

commissary, but that didn’t last

long. On Monday morning during

the storm, the building was shak-

ing. I was never really sleeping, I

just passed out a bit because of

the heat. At times, deputies came

by to talk to us. Through the win-

dow I saw fires in Templeman III,

and I also saw a guy being

dragged off of the razor wire while

guards were firing into a hole in a

building. On Thursday, DOC guards

came on the tier throwing guns in

our face. They told us to leave

everything there, because it would

be there when we got back. I tried

to get my legal paperwork, but a

guard pulled his gun on me so I left

it there. I lost all of my legal work. I

also lost baby pictures of my

daughters, and the storm took the

pictures that their mom had. My

daughters are now 9 and 11 years

old, and that whole memory of

them as babies is gone now.

I was taken under the Broad Street

Overpass where I boarded a bus

that took us to Hunt Correctional

Center. Before we got off the bus,

the Warden got on, and we were

telling him that we were federal

U.S. Marshal prisoners, and that

some of us were under protective

custody and needed a special tier.

He told us not to tell anyone else,

and we told him to look at the bold

white letters on our sweatshirts

that read “FEDERAL.” The Warden

said he didn’t care, and he sent us

out onto a yard that was filled with

what looked like several thousand

state inmates.

The guy who had been in the cell

next to me said he couldn’t go on

the yard, because he could see his

enemies out there. He was also an

inmate in protective custody. He

walked onto the yard and got

stabbed all over his face. Blood

was like a waterfall out of his face.

He ran to the guards and they shot

at him and then stripped off his

clothes. He was a really light-

skinned black guy, and his face

was bleeding so bad he looked like

a peppermint. They ended up

slamming him into the back of a

truck like meat. I don’t know if he

lived or what, but he was pretty

bad off.

I wasn’t on Hunt yard more than 30

minutes, and I was beaten and

stabbed one time in the head and

one time in the back of the neck,

by several gang members. I had to

retreat to the guards, who stood

on the other side of the fence and

laughed, when I asked them for

help! I’m standing there in the

pouring rain, with blood flowing

down my face and neck, while the

Hunt guards watched me stagger-

ing in visibly enormous pain! On

top of all that, I had to stay awake

all night, walking around with

clothes that were drenched in both

water and blood, with no medical

attention at all: zero! I still have scars

from where I was stabbed.7 n

I’m standing there in the pour-

ing rain, with blood flowing

down my face and neck, while the Hunt guards

watched me staggering in visibly enormous pain! 

RONNIE LEE MORGAN, JR.
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Many prisoners recount what may be a single incident in
which one prisoner was jumped by a group of prisoners and
was badly injured. The prisoners’ descriptions follow:

I experienced a guy getting “stabbed” in the face and
stumped by a “gang” of young men. The victom then
ran to the gate crying out for help. As blood pro-
truded down the mid-section of his face. At the point
of his presence he was told to go back into the yard.
After fearing for his life he refused to follow the
guards instruction to return to the yard. As he cried
out for help he was shot with a (plastic bullet) in the
abdomen then the guards open the gate, maced him,
cuffed him, and placed him face-down on the back
flat bed of a pick-up truck. And rode off with him.8

Me personally was walking into the yard when they
had a white inmate trying to walk out the yard with
his face and head all bloody, looks to me he had been
stabbed several times, while he’s trying to come out
the yard a officer is yelling at him to get back in the
yard, but the man is trying to talk to the officer, so
then the officer fires a shot at the man with a shotgun
from point blank range.9

I seen guys getting stabbed. I don’t know anyone per-
sonally, but I saw fights break out on numerous
occasions. You could hear shots in the air, but no
guards came down to do anything about it. I heard
guards say stuff like “they are a bunch of animals, let
them kill themselves. They are from New Orleans.”
One white guy was bloody, ran for help past the gun
line, and was shot in the leg. I am pretty sure he was
white or Latino. I saw that he was shot with some-
thing that drew blood—I think it was live ammo. . . .
After the white guy was shot he was taken out of there
and that was the last I saw of him.10

These reports appear to be corroborated by the DOC’s tech-
nical assistance report, which acknowledges that on one
occasion “a warning shot was fired and an attack dog used to
get an inmate and extract him from the yard after he had
been beaten, and another inmate was shot with rubber bul-
lets when he ran towards the perimeter fence.”11

Many of the men also witnessed prisoner-on-prisoner
rapes in the field at Hunt. One man writes: “Everywhere you
looked there were fights, people getting stabbed, people get-
ting raped also. Everybody was mixed together. Murderers,
rapists, even a death row inmate were allowed to walk freely
amung people who were only in jail for traffic tickets or dis-
turbing the peace.”12 One man held on a probation violation
writes that conditions at Hunt were chaotic 

for the simple reason that they mixed non violent

offenders with violent offenders who were on murder
charges, rape, and robbery. Then what made it even
worse was while in Orleans Prison if they had a gang
fight or a despute between inmates they would sepa-
rate them. But when we got to Hunt, they put every
one on one big yard together. Inmates who had pre-
vious run ins with enemys once again had the chance
to get revenge or even kell they foe. Yes they had sex-
ual assaults, even brutal and physical assults between
inmates. The non violent offenders were either get-
ting beat up on, robed of valuables, sexual assulted
or jumped by violent charged inmates while the sup-
perior stood back and did nothing it was to uncon-
trolable.13

A local newspaper contacted Hunt officials for comment on
the reports of violence among OPP evacuees. Reporters
were not allowed to speak with the officials, and were instead
directed to Cathy Fontenot, a spokesperson for the Depart-
ment of Corrections who was not at Hunt following the
storm.14 Nevertheless, Ms. Fontenot denied all claims of vio-
lence by prisoners at Hunt. Instead, she commented that
“[t]he word that comes to me when I think back to that day is
docile.”15

2.  Lack of Food 
“They were throwing sandwiches in the crowd like
they were in New Orleans, at the Mardi Gras!”16

Although OPP evacuees were handed a sandwich when they
first arrived at Hunt, food was delivered more haphazardly
after the men were placed on the yard. Hunt guards threw
bags of sandwiches over the fence into the crowd. Some of
the men describe Hunt’s efforts as dehumanizing. “[W]e
were fed like animal’s instead of humans. Hunt’s started
throwing sandwiches over the fence to us.”17 Another writes,
“[t]hey feed us on top of a fork lift throwing food to us like we
were animals.”18

Hungry prisoners fought one another for food. One man
writes: “When we was finally given food they took bags with
one or two sandwiches and threw them over a barbed wire
fence, and you had to fight for it like dogs. If you didn’t eat,
you just went hungry.”19 One 53-year-old man held on a
parole violation reports: “When we first got there sandwiches
was issue the first day. After that, everyone had to fight to get
a sandwich, they were very disorganize, handling the situa-
tion . . . most of us older guys did without food and water
while there because guys was fighting, cutting each other, the
deputies was just looking and laughing. They were throwing
sandwiches in the crowd like they were in New Orleans, at
the Mardi Gras!” 20

Speaking months after the storm, Ms. Fontenot admitted
that the prisoners at Hunt were supposed to receive meals in
the dining hall, but the kitchen was shut down because it
could not handle preparing food for the huge number of evac-
uees.21 “We fed those inmates the best that we could,” she said.
“We could not feed them hot meals like they’re used to.”22
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3.  Lack of Medical Attention

Prisoners at Hunt were not provided with proper medical
attention, in part because no medical records or medications
from OPP were transferred with them.23 Many chronically ill
prisoners who had already gone days without receiving their
medications did not receive them when they arrived at the
prison. One man writes that he saw “one old man who was
real sick, and they told us to wrap him up in a blanket and set
him down by the gate. Where he sat for hours before they
finally literally dragged him away.”24 At least one prisoner
suffered a stroke while sitting in the yard.25

Other prisoners were denied medical attention for
injuries they suffered after being assaulted in the yard.
“Thousands of people fighting for food. A lot of people was
passing out on the yard fights and stabing was going all
around me and the deputies didn’t come to the yard to stop
them or to treat anyone for stabing.”26

Many of the prisoners developed rashes and skin infec-
tions as a result of wading through contaminated floodwaters
and being exposed to the sun. OPP’s Medical Director, Dr.
Inglese, later commented that the floodwater was so toxic
that it stripped all of the skin off his chest. “I even treated
deputies with trench foot, something people used to get dur-
ing World War II. The skin was peeling off of their muscles.
That’s how bad it was in that water.”27 One deputy recalls
taking a bath in CCC using water from the nearby Kent-
wood plant, and receiving medication on the Overpass
because he had been in the water for so many days.28 By con-
trast, OPP evacuees received no antibiotics on the Overpass,
and none when they arrived at Hunt. Moreover, at Hunt
they were not allowed to shower or change out of the clothes
they had been wearing since before the storm hit New
Orleans. One man writes that he “had all kind of swores on
me from being wet so long. I had sun burn all over my body.”29

Paul Kunkel, a special education teacher at an elemen-
tary school in Ohio, was arrested days before the storm on
public intoxication charges. While in OPP he developed an
eye infection that grew worse at Hunt. In a letter to a friend,
Mr. Kunkel writes:

We lived in 90 degree-plus sun with no protection
from the elements. One day it poured and the
ground was all wet and muddy. We were given one
blanket and we were freezing at night. My right eye
was still infected and I can no longer see very well
because my contacts had to be taken out. Inmates
were stealing blankets and convicts were armed with
homemade knives. It was like a concentration camp.
I [was] very afraid.30

For some, the experience at Hunt was just as bad, if not worse,
than the experience inside OPP. One man writes: “I hope in life
this will not happen to me again it was like a nightmare. . . .This
is going to stick with me all the days of my life . . .  I was just on
a probation hold waiting to go to court on a change of
address.”31 According to another prisoner, “[w]hen it was all
over I felt my life had been put on danger for a second time.”32

B. Bossier Parish Maximum Security Jail 
“I never thought I see anything like this in my life.”33

From the yard at Hunt, some of the men were transported to
Bossier Parish Maximum Security Jail (“Bossier”). Although
the facility was designed to hold maximum-security prison-
ers, all of the evacuees transferred there were minimum- to
medium-security prisoners.

34
At the time of the storm, Bossier

was still two months away from its projected opening, which
meant that control systems had not been tested, supplies had
not been stocked, and staff had not been hired.35 In prepara-
tion for the 500 OPP evacuees who would be headed to the
facility, Bossier officials reportedly procured only 300 mat-
tresses.36 Because only 40% of the staff who were needed to
operate the jail had been hired, Bossier cobbled together a
staff from around Louisiana.37 According to Ken Weaver,
Bossier chief deputy of corrections: “We had some people
who had never worked in a facility—probation and parole
officers. . . . We put them through a quick course on how
things operate.”38

Dozens of OPP evacuees complain that the officers at
Bossier regularly beat and maced prisoners without cause. In
many cases, the assaults appear to have been racially moti-
vated. Whereas the pre-Katrina population of Orleans Parish
was 66.6% African-American, and 89.3% of the prisoners at
OPP were African-American, Bossier City is located in
northwest Louisiana, by the Texas and Arkansas borders.
Census data shows that only 22.7% of the population in
Bossier City is African-American.39

One prisoner, who was seventeen years old at the time of
the storm, says of Bossier: “We were being maced and having
racial remarks told to use by several guards. I was only there
for about 2 weeks and I was maced 6 times. They feed us
small portions of food, barely enough to live on.”40
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Iwas in OPP at the time of the

storm because of traffic viola-

tions. I think one was for a stop

sign, and I also had unpaid tickets.

I have never gotten into any serious

trouble with the law. Back in the

middle of July I went to court and

the Judge told me I owed $700.

He said if I didn’t have the whole

$700 I would go to jail for 60 days. I

said I could pay $100 now and

$100 per month after that, but they

sent me to jail.

They brought me to Orleans Parish

Prison, where I was on the Receiv-

ing Tier for about three weeks. I

think they are only supposed to

hold you there for 72 hours. Three

weeks without a change of clothes

or nothing. On the Receiving Tier

there are two man cells, but they

had four people per cell. People

were sleeping everywhere—on the

floors and on the tables. I slept on

a mat on the day room floor for the

first couple of days until I found

myself a bed.

Eventually they moved me to Tem-

pleman II (Unit F-2). A few days

before the storm our phones cut

off. Later the power cut off when

we were watching TV and hearing

about the evacuation. After the

power cut out they brought a whole

other tier onto our tier, which made

it extra crowded. No food, no light.

Once the power cut out you could-

n’t get water or flush the toilet.

I was in the building for maybe two

or three days until deputies came

and got us. Where I was, people

weren’t breaking much stuff, but

we were talking about how we

were going to die, and about how

they’d left us. A couple of times

when fights were close to happen-

ing, people would break it up. If

you looked out the windows all you

saw was water. Houses under

water, cars under water. We saw

inmates in other building hanging

sheets out the window that were

on fire. We saw others on top of

W hen we arrived here we first

went to the Bossier Maxi-

mum Security Jail, we opened the

place up, it was a new jail that was

not due to open until Nov. I think.

Anyway from the time we was put

into cells things took off from there.

. . . [W]hat I meant by things took

off from there, is that once they got

us into them cells they kept us in

them cells, didn’t let us out to use

the phones or shower. You know

we had to walk in chest high water

“contaminated water,” sit on a

bridge with no water, etc. etc. . . .

well anyway, we were kept in the

cell for about 4 or 5 days before

they let us out 1 cell at a time to

shower and use the phone. We

had to do all this in fifteen minutes.

Now during them 4 to 5 days,

longer for some, but during them

days we were sprayed with pepper

spray and beat up.

I was beat badly my right leg (knee)

is still given me problems. I have

not receive a full range of motion.

My neck, I can’t fully turn left or

right I was not given medical atten-

tion until 5 or 6 days later. Once the

beating was over, one Bossier offi-

cer got in my ear whispering “lil

nigger boy, you know where the

F—- you at, we don’t play that shit

out here, you ain’t in New Orleans.”

. . . [T]hen they started hitting on

me some more, they dragged me

to the hole by my feet, pull my

cloths off and put me in a cold ass

cell butt naked then about 30 min-

utes later they put another dude in

the cell with me ass naked and

beat up pretty bad also.41 n

My neck, I can’t fully turn left or right I was not

given medical attention until 5 or

6 days later.
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One of the men at Bossier was arrested two weeks before the
storm on a parole violation. He writes that at Bossier “we
was treated bad, cause we was prisoner of Orleans Parish.
We wasn’t hostile, but they treated us as we was, beating us,
if we didn’t do anything to they liken. Treating us as if we
wasn’t human beings. . . . I don’t put this on my worst
enemy.”42



other buildings, but I don’t know

how they got there. One time I saw

guards go onto a roof and throw

an inmate into the water to a boat

where other guards could get him. 

We also saw a group of maybe six

inmates on a roof and one of them

jumped into the water and swam

to a boat filled with guards. When

he got there they pulled him into

the boat and started kicking and

punching him. Later, when they

evacuated us to Central Lock-Up,

we saw that same inmate standing

on the outside of the glass when

you walk out of Central Lock-Up.

He was handcuffed, leaning

against the glass, all beat up. His

face was swollen, he was bleed-

ing, and his shirt was off. We were

asking him questions and that’s

how we found out he was the guy

we had seen jump into the water.

We asked the guards why they

beat the guy up, and they were

telling us that he was trying to

escape. You’re going to tell me that

man was trying to escape when he

swam straight to them? That man

was trying to save his life.

The same day I got to the Broad

Street Overpass, I got on a bus that

took me to Hunt. At Hunt they just

threw everyone in the yard to sleep

in the grass—in the sun and the

rain. When we got there they gave

us one sandwich. I stayed there a

couple of days; I don’t know

exactly how long. At Hunt, that is

when things really started getting

bad, with stabbings and rapings

and fights on the yard. I witnessed

a bunch of fights, I couldn’t even

count. I seen people get stabbed. I

almost got into fights numerous

times because people cliqued up

with each other when they got on

the yard. If you went by yourself,

people messed with you.

The guards couldn’t control it at

Hunt. They were only around the

outside of the perimeter, so they

couldn’t see what was going on

inside all of those inmates. A few

times the guards shot straight into

the crowd. I heard people talking

about people who got hit, but I

never seen anybody. I don’t know

what they were shooting, but peo-

ple were saying it was beanbags.

After that I was transferred to Plain

Dealing, Louisiana—Bossier MAX.

That place wasn’t even supposed

to be open, so they didn’t really

have a staff. They had regular

police officers and stuff acting as

guards. My release date was Sep-

tember 9th, which was a few days

after I got to Bossier. When that

passed, I told one of the guards

that my release date had passed

and asked if there was anything I

could do to get out of here. He

blew up on me and started cursing

me out. I started cursing him back,

and that was when he pepper

sprayed me through the food slot

in my cell. The pepper spray hit

me, but I picked up my blanket

and got all the way in the corner,

where the pepper spray couldn’t

hit me anymore. I had never been

hit with pepper spray before. I

couldn’t breathe; I couldn’t see.

The guy in the cell with me said he

couldn’t breathe and wanted to

get out of the cell; he was feeling it

just from being in the same cell

with the pepper spray, and it didn’t

even hit him. 

That guard later came back with a

whole crowd of guards, including a

big bald-headed white guy who

seemed to tell all of the other

guards what to do. From outside

the cell they told the dude in the

cell with me that when they

opened the cell, he should come

out. I could see that they were

pointing a red light from a Taser at

me, and when I saw that I knew

they were going to come in and

beat me up. I got on my knees with

my hands on my head to show

them I wasn’t going to cause any

problems. They walked in the cell

and the big guy shot me with the

Taser. When he stopped shocking

me, the other guards all jumped on

me and put handcuffs and leg

shackles on me. Then they started

beating me. Those wires from the

Taser were still stuck in me, one in

my chest and one in my stomach,

so when he told them to get off me

he started shocking me again, say-

ing shit like “you like that, you like

that!” He did that three times,

where he would shock me and

then let them beat me up and then

start shocking me again.

I blacked out and woke up alone in

a cell with no clothes on at all.

There was a rack for the bed, but

there was no mattress. The only

thing in the cell was the rack, a toi-

let and toilet paper. They were say-

ing things to me like “You New

Orleans niggers think you so bad.”

They also said “you all are animals.

I’m gonna put you in the woods

with the animals.” They called New

Orleans “Thug City.” I’m American

Indian, but my skin’s brown, so I

guess they thought I was black.

In the isolation room it was freezing

cold. You didn’t have a mattress or

My release date was September 9th, which was a few days

after I got to Bossier. When that passed, I told one of the

guards that my release date had passed and asked if

there was anything I could do to

get out of here.
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blanket and it was cold as hell,

because you were sleeping on

steel. Sometimes I slept on the

floor, depending upon what was

warmer at the time. They fed you

three times a day like everyone

else, but no one would talk to me

in there. The Bossier inmates or

whoever who would bring the food

wouldn’t answer any questions.

When I asked questions the guards

would tell me to shut the fuck up

and throw my food into the cell so it

would fall onto the ground.

I was in that isolation cell for about

a week when the guy who shot me

with the Taser came and talked to

me. He asked me if I had calmed

down and if I would act right. I told

him I didn’t do anything wrong—all

I did was ask the guard a question

and then he got mad at me and

pepper sprayed me. The next day

they brought me back to general

population and gave me back

some clothes.

I was released around September

24, when Hurricane Rita hit. When

we first got to Bossier they took our

orange OPP jumpsuits and gave us

their own clothes. When I was

released they took their clothes

back and gave me the OPP clothes

to go home in. They were releasing

me and one other guy, and they

drove us to the Lamar Dixon Expo

Center in Gonzales, Louisiana. The

Center said they couldn’t take any

more people there, so the guy who

was driving us called his boss who

said they couldn’t bring us back to

Bossier. 

They left us at a Shell gas station in

our OPP jumpsuits, fit to get shot

by anyone who thought we had

escaped from jail. They put my

mom in danger because she had

to drive all the way from home

through Hurricane Rita to come

get me there. I had money in my jail

account back at OPP, but I never

got any of that and have never

heard anything about it.43 n



Another man, arrested on public drunkenness charges and
held on fines and fees, writes that he suffers from cerebral
palsy: “[A]t Bossier they are treating us like slaves locking us
down letting us out the cells when they feel like letting us out
starving us feeding us like little children, the little food we do
eat be cold. They beat an inmate for nothing brutally beat
him for nothing. I never thought I see anything like this in my
life. I be praying to God to let me make it home safe to my
family.”44

C. Ouachita Parish Correctional Center

Other prisoners were transferred from Hunt to Ouachita
Parish Correctional Center (“Ouachita”). Evacuees at Oua-
chita express shock at the level of racism displayed by the
correctional officers. One prisoner calls Ouachita:

racist to the ‘T.’ I mean from the slurs, to the hospi-
tality, to the food service, I mean I don’t feel that
these people care of our well-being at all. . . . We get
tazed, maced and bean bagged on a regular basis,
and I know that these deputies hate us because they
tell us everyday. They even slide us our food on the
floor, the same way you would feed a dog!”45

Another man explains that he was “in total shock” at the
treatment he received at Ouachita.46 “The racism segrega-
tion, lack of personal hyigene and outright hatred that I and
my fellow inmates recieve on a daily basis is only something a
prisoner of war experiences. The threat of violence and mis-
treatment is always over our heads.”47
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On August 24, 2005, I was

stopped by the police and

arrested on a warrant for failure to

appear in court and a $100 fine. I

was supposed to be released at an

August 31 hearing, after serving a

total of seven days and paying my

fine. On the Friday afternoon

before the Hurricane, Orleans

Parish Prison stopped releasing

people from the jail. I got my last

full meal on Saturday morning, and

phones were cut off that evening.

On Saturday night, deputies put all

of us in two-man cells. I was in

Templeman III (Unit B-2), and there

were a total of eight men in my cell.

When I asked a guard when they

would come back, the guard

maced my cell. They had no regard

for anyone, they were just con-

cerned with themselves. If you

asked a question, just a basic

question, like: “when do I get my

meds, when do we get to eat,”

they would mace the cells. 

By Monday there was at least eight

feet of water on the bottom tier, but

I was in a cell on the upper tier.

Some of the inmates were able to

open their cells, but my cell door

did not open. I witnessed several

inmates with various medical con-

ditions suffer from dehydration—

we were forced to live off toilet

water, and lie in our own waste and

bodily fluids. We were drinking out

of toilets because that is all we

had. The worst part was not know-

ing if someone would come find

us, not knowing if you would see

your family, not knowing if you’d

see your friends—it was just not

knowing. When the rescuers

arrived I was still locked in my cell

and they had to pry the bars open.

I walked out in chest deep sewer

water, and was led to a boat that

took me to the Overpass.

From the Overpass I was taken to

Hunt’s Correctional, where I spent

48 hours on the rec yard in hell. It

was like a P.O.W. camp. They had

triple murderers mixed in with guys

that had never been in prison

before—traffic violations, public

drunkenness. I witnessed several

stabbings and beatings that were

neglected by prison personnel; on

one occasion after being attacked

by inmates, an inmate ran for help

and was shot by guards. We were

forced to bathe in a water hose

and there were no bathrooms to

use. I am ashamed to write this,

but I hadn’t had proper hygiene

since Saturday morning, so you

can’t imagine the ungodly stench. I

would not wish this on my worst

enemy. When it was all over I felt

my life had been put in danger for a

second time.

After leaving Hunt’s we were

brought to Ouachita Correctional

Center, where the horrendous

treatment continued. Ouachita was

a reminder of the old South—I was

exposed to overt racism, called

racial slurs, and subjected to physi-

cal and mental anguish. I saw seg-

regation and outright inhumane

events. We started out getting

some hygiene products, but it went

downhill and then there was no

hygiene at all; they treated us like

second-class citizens. The guards

cast judgments on us, treating us

like we were all the same. They

wouldn’t talk to the inmates, and if

we asked questions we would be

maced or beanbagged. One of the

Lieutenants once said: “I could

treat you like men or I could treat

you like what you are.” When I

asked, “and what’s that?” he just

rolled his eyes at us. Ouachita

needs investigation. I’ve never

experienced blatant racism—never

seen it like that. After going through

what I’ve been through I wonder if

I’ll ever been the same. They used

to set the food trays on the floor,

and we would have to pick it up

from there. I asked why they did

that, and they said we were like

monkeys, and that’s what you do

with animals at the zoo.

In early November, my sister started

helping me get a court date. I found

out on December 2 that I had been

released, and I was transferred to

Hunt for processing and released

on December 5 in New Orleans.

They had lost my clothing, so until I

reached New Orleans I just had

scrubs and sandals—it was very

cold. I was in jail for almost four

months on a $100 fine that I didn’t

even know I had to pay.

People need to know what is hap-

pening behind closed doors. It’s a

whole other world. You got people

in for being drunk in public to mur-

derers, but once they close the

doors they treat everyone like shit,

all the same: guilty until proven

innocent. It’s not just what hap-

pened at OPP; there is inadequate

representation also. The public

defender meets you at 8am, and

goes to trial at 10am. They don’t

know you as a person. They are

tryin’ to move you through ‘cause

they got 300 to 400 other cases

that week.  There is no representa-

tion—if you are indigent, you are

screwed. 48 n

I’ve never experienced blatant racism—never seen it like

that. After going through what I’ve been through I

wonder if I’ll ever been the same. 
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One man explains:

I have been beat, tazed, maced, sprayed with pepper,
bean bagged, spit on, almost bitten by a dog several
times, cursed out, called niggers, monkeys, animals
and other racist slurs. I have been deprived of all my
priveledges and some of my rights, put in rubber
rooms, stripped naked and sprayed down with pep-
per. They gave us one of everything in clothes and
nothing else, they didn’t let us communicate with
nobody or each other they cut our hair with unsani-
tized clippers . . . . They slide our food to us on the
floor through a slot . . . . They think all of us in here
are killers and they tell us, since we kill people and
think we can get away with it then they can treat us
any way they want and get away with it. That
nobody gives a damn about us and we all are gonna
die here and their gonna bury us out back where their
parents use to bury our parents. Now you know their
talking about slavery and if that’s not discrimination
I don’t know what that is.49

Another prisoner recalls one occasion when three deputies
“beat the piss out of him, using their hands and stomping on
him. They then took him out of the dorm. He came back
maybe two days later.”50 That same day, this prisoner
reports: “[T]hey did that for maybe 4 or 5 other people. . . .
This was not standard prison violence. They said they didn’t
know what we were all in there for, so they said they would
treat us all like we were murderers until they knew. So they
treated us like high risk inmates.”51

D. Jena Correctional Facility

The experience of the Orleans and St. Bernard Parish pris-
oners in the days and weeks after Hurricane Katrina was
hardly unique. In fact, prisoners from neighboring Jefferson
Parish also spent days in their facility without food, water, or
electricity. Just as DOC was finally called in to evacuate the
prisoners trapped in OPP, DOC officers evacuated the Jef-
ferson Parish prisoners beginning on the Tuesday after the
storm. They were taken to the Jena Correctional Facility
(Jena), where prisoners who had been stranded in Calcasieu
Parish Prison in the aftermath of Hurricane Rita joined
them. For many of these prisoners, their evacuation to Jena
was viewed as the rescue they had been awaiting. In reality,
the evacuation to Jena only marked the beginning of a new
nightmare. 

Jena was formerly a privately-run juvenile correctional
facility that was shut down in 2000 following a U.S. Depart-
ment of Justice investigation that revealed widespread abuses
there. Youth at the facility were “being deprived of food,
clothing and medical care and were routinely beaten by
guards.”52 The state reopened Jena within a day or two after
Katrina to house evacuated prisoners, and staffed the facility
with correctional officers from other state prisons, most of

whom came from Louisiana’s David Wade Correctional
Center. The state requested additional assistance in staffing
the facility, and officers from New York City’s Rikers Island
Correctional Facility—the country’s second-largest jail—
came to help.53

The prisoners, who had already suffered the trauma of
the storm itself, and the delay in their evacuation, were
wracked with worries and uncertainties about what had
become of their homes, their families, and their friends. They
were loaded onto buses to Jena for a ride that took several
hours, their wrists cuffed tightly together with plastic tie-
wraps. Keith Dillon, a prisoner from Jefferson Parish Correc-
tional Center, describes the ties being so tight that prisoners’
wrists started to bleed.54 Scarring was visible on the wrists of
over 100 prisoners nearly one month after the transfer,
according to one attorney who interviewed the prisoners.55

Some prisoners were injured when one of the buses en route
to Jena got into a serious accident when the bus driver fell
asleep; the cuffed prisoners could not brace themselves when
the bus hit an electrical pole.56

According to prisoners interviewed by private defense
attorneys and by attorneys with HRW and LDF, corrections
personnel subjected them to egregious physical and verbal
abuse almost immediately after they arrived at Jena. Within
the first three days, officers pulled nearly all of the prisoners
from their beds in the middle of the night and forced them to
remain face down on the floor; some men were held in this
position for up to eight hours. If the men moved or raised
their heads, the officers would hit and kick them. One man
who turned his head after falling asleep was kicked in the
face by a guard to wake him up, and then told to put his face
back down.57

During their stay at Jena, prisoners were slapped,
punched, beaten, stripped naked, hit with belts, and kicked
by corrections officers. When prisoners broke prison rules
such as moving when told to be still, or not moving quickly
enough, officers often responded by hitting and kicking the
men and threatening to whip them. For example, two prison-
ers who had been in a fight were handcuffed. One of them
was taken to an isolation cell. When he arrived at the isola-
tion cell, the officers dropped him to the ground and punched
him. As he was lying on the floor, his mouth and nose bleed-
ing, the prisoner was ordered to clean up his own blood. The
other prisoner in the fight was handcuffed, punched in the
chest and ribs, and slapped in the face.58Another man was
badly beaten by an officer who kicked him in the head and
slammed his face against a wall because he did not get out of
bed quickly enough one morning. “This is a living nightmare
for me,” he later commented. “I know this isn’t legal.”59

As another measure of control, on multiple occasions
detainees were ordered to kneel and press their noses to the
wall, and they were kicked in the head if they moved. They
were often kept kneeling for hours at a time.

The detainees, most of whom were African-American,
were subjected to degrading treatment and racist slurs by the
correctional officers, most of whom were white. One guard
told a detainee, “I can’t stand none of you motherfuckers
from New Orleans.”60 Another guard grabbed a detainee by
the hair (before his head was shaved) and called him a “mop-
head motherfucker.”61 Other terms reportedly used by the
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officers included, “niggers,” “boy,” “monkeys,” “bitches” and
“pussy-ass motherfuckers.”62

At one point in their stay, several prisoners were
told to line-up, place their hands behind their heads and press
their groins against the buttocks of the prisoners in front of
them. An officer taunted them, saying: “Hard dicks to soft
ass! I know y’all are getting hard, because I am.”63
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T he abuse started immediately

making inmates go to their

knees for hours while handcuffed.

On or about the third day, a DOC

Warden and DOC deputies along

with LaSalle Parish Sheriff’s

deputies came in with dogs, riot

gear, etc., beating inmates down,

forcing us to the floor face down. I

was hit in my back because my

hands were at my side, not in front

of me. I saw a LaSalle deputy slam

a guy from Annex D in Jefferson

Parish face down into the floor,

knock two of his teeth out, then

make him lick up his own blood. I

could hear them beating people,

people yelling, and if you looked up

you got beat. After about 6 hours

face down freezing, they started

shaving our heads. We were told if

one person messes up then the

whole dorm pays.

They started beating inmates and

verbally abusing us. Making us

strip down and stand in line “dick

to ass” (as one deputy said) with

our elbows straight forward, our

hands clasped behind our heads.

They would make us go to chow

that way and come back, stand-

ing for up to three hours at a time.

They would feed 80 men in 10-15

minutes, from the time we lined

up to the time we got back to the

dorm. We heard from the trustee

that FEMA sent all kinds of food

and drinks, etc. for us, but that

the deputies were taking it all for

themselves.

Lake Charles inmates came they

didn’t touch them, while everyday

some one got beat, put on their

knees for hours, slapped around,

just abused period. On some days,

one New York DOC official would

have his people dress in full riot

gear and march around and down

the halls just to freak us out. One

person said, “we’re going to show

you boys how we do it in NY.” It

was like we were practice dum-

mies for these sickos in this sick

ordeal. They were all just evil. It

was like you could see it in them. I

could feel it.

On 9-27-05 I was in the chow line

at Jena. The person in front of me

got out of line so I moved up; then

he came back and got in front of

me. I tried to let it go but this is jail

and respect is important, plus this

situation had got us all kind of nuts.

So I told him, “You’re not getting

back in front of me. Move. You left

the line.” He said he’s not a punk so

I gave him the chance to move. He

didn’t so I grabbed him and moved

him into the door. One of the offi-

cers saw what happened and

yelled something in the hall. I let the

guy go, but the officer grabbed me

and then another officer came over

and punched me in the side of my

head. The other person and I were

dragged to the back of the hallway.

I was slammed down to the floor,

handcuffed behind my back and a

third officer came over and kicked

me more than 20 times in my back.

One of the officers said, “they can

see” meaning that the rest of the

dorm could see, and then said,

“bring him back here.” So I was

picked up and slammed down

again. The officer who kicked me

asked what happened over and

over, and each time I would look at

him and tell him and he would kick

me again in the back, and my face

would hit the wall. I could hear

them beating the other person also.

All of a sudden everything stopped.

I was picked up by two of the offi-

cers and turned to face them, and

one of the officers punched me in

my right shoulder. When he saw

that it hurt, he punched me again in

the same spot, all 400 pounds of

him. Then I was dragged off past

the dorms to lock down.

When I got to lockdown, there

were DOC deputies everywhere.

The other guy was further in than I

was and they were working him

over. I was told by a Lieutenant to

turn and face the wall on my

knees. I was forced down and then

hit in my head. The Major arrived

and by this time I’m hurting bad.

But I know that if I fall down they’ll

stomp me to death so I hang on.

The Major starts asking me, “What

are you doing? Ain’t you too old for

this shit? How old are you? What

did I tell y’all? That if any of you

fucked up you would get the shit

beat out of you?” I would answer

him and each time I did he would

hit me on both sides of my head,

one side, then the other. On about

the fifth blow to my left side, my

hearing stopped but I didn’t go

down. I would look him straight in

his blue eyes and answer. He hit

me about 12 times. I could see his

hands were red. One of the Lieu-

tenants said, “You should have

given him more,” and hit me three

more times to the side of my head.

I was stripped naked and put in a

cell, last one on the left. The other

person was across from me and a

guy whose head they fractured

was next to me, I think. 

I passed out I guess because the

door opened and the Lieutenant

and a nurse were there. They

asked me what happened and

asked to see my hands for open

cuts from fighting. I showed them

and said there was no fight, no

punches thrown between me and

the other person. She said then

how did this happen? I said looking

at the Lieutenant, “I can’t really

say.” He smiled. She said that it

had to happen somehow. I said

again that I couldn’t really say. The

next day the nurse came around

and I told her I couldn’t hear out of

my left ear and what kind of med-

ical professional was she to con-

done this abuse? She said she

didn’t condone it and I said, “but

you’re letting it happen.”

A while later Rachel Jones and

other defense attorneys showed up

to talk to us about our criminal

cases. I told her just like the other

inmates did what was going on—all

80 of us in a 40-man dorm did. I

showed her and Christine Lehmann

my face and the sides of my head

and ears, but after they left the

abuse continued. On 10-4-05,

NAACP LDF and Human Rights

Watch showed up. I talked to them,

showed them my head and there

were still bruises on my head and

my ears. Two days later I was

called to leave that hellhole. On the

way out, the Major said, “Hey Dil-

lon, I want you to have a good

fucking life, whether you can hear

me or not.”64 n

I was slammed down to the floor,

handcuffed behind my back and

a third officer came over and

kicked me more than 20 times in

my back.

K E I T H  M .  D I L L O N
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Soon after their arrival, all the men at Jena were forced to
have their heads shaved, which is not a standard corrections
procedure in Louisiana. Prisoners had no contact with the
outside world for the first few weeks they were at the facility.
They were unable to use the telephone and only after two
weeks were they given writing materials to send letters to
their families. In short, they had no way to let their families
know where they were or even that they had survived the
storm. None of the men were allowed to see their attorneys
during their stays in Jena. 

In another incident, a prisoner who was with a group of
other men asked the warden when they were going to be able
to contact their families. The warden responded, “Mother-
fucker, do I look like I care?” 65 The warden ordered an offi-
cer to “lock this stupid motherfucker up,” and he was placed
in isolation.66

Prisoners at Jena were also denied adequate medical
care. They were unable to get medications, including antide-
pressant and antipsychotic medications, which they had been
prescribed. It took more than two weeks for a doctor to begin
visits to the facility and for two nurses to begin reporting from
9 to 5 each day to administer medication.

Detainees repeatedly requested grievance forms to make
complaints about their treatment but never received any
forms. In one instance, a guard handed a detainee a sheet of
toilet paper in response to his request for a form.67

It was not long before reports of abuse at the Jena facil-
ity began to leak outside of its walls. Four attorneys from a
group of 30 volunteer defense lawyers in Louisiana, coordi-
nated by attorney Phyllis Mann, visited the Jena facility and
interviewed each and every detainee. Prisoners gave numer-
ous accounts of the abuse they suffered, which were then
submitted in the form of affidavits to the state and other inter-
ested attorneys.68

In response to these allegations, both HRW and LDF
made a follow-up visit to the facility to interview prisoners
and officials, and they heard the same accounts of horrific
abuse. Almost every prisoner whom HRW and LDF inter-
viewed reported that he had been hit or kicked by the prison
staff. The men were frightened and some were even crying
during the interviews. One said, “I don’t know what they’ll
do to me once y’all leave here.”69 The New York Times and the
Los Angeles Times each ran stories detailing the accounts of
abuse emerging from the Jena facility.70

Prison officials responded by denying the allegations.
During their visit to Jena, lawyers from HRW and LDF
interviewed Major Brad Rogers, the state corrections official
in charge of day-to-day operations at Jena. Major Rogers
said that officers had not used excessive force at the facility
and that the staff were all “trained professionals.”71

On October 1, LDF contacted Louisiana state legislators
and the Superintendent of State Police, Colonel Henry White-
horn, about the abuse allegations at Jena. One day later, on
October 2, HRW called on Richard Stalder, the Secretary of
Louisiana’s DOC, to conduct an investigation into the allega-
tions.72 Shortly thereafter, Secretary Stalder ordered that the
facility be shut down and prisoners be dispersed to other facili-
ties throughout the state. Despite the rapid closing of the facil-
ity and national media coverage of the alleged abuse, the state
has not disclosed whether or not it has opened an inquiry. 

E. Not All Bad

Although the evacuation of thousands of prisoners from
southeastern Louisiana placed a strain on many officials at
the state’s receiving facilities, not all of them responded to the
challenge with abuse and indifference. For instance, hun-
dreds of women from OPP were transported to Angola, an
all-male, maximum-security facility that typically holds over
5,000 prisoners. When the first OPP evacuees arrived at
Angola, one staff member recalls that they looked as if they
had arrived “directly from hell.”73 Despite the fearful reputa-
tion that Angola has earned over the years, many women
evacuees praised the treatment they received.74 In fact, many
of the women noted that they were treated better at Angola
than they had been treated at OPP prior to the storm.

One woman writes: “At Angola they took very good
care of us. They took all our information, clothed & fed us,
gave us many personal supplys. (OPP gives NO personal
supplys.)”75 Another woman writes that when she arrived at
Angola, she “received food, water, clothing, medication
Hepatitis shot to make sure we did [not] get exposed to any-
thing. Also the gave us personal needs and last but not least I
was giving a bed with sheets & blankets. The people at
Angola treated us 100% good if it wasn’t for them rescuing us
we would have been dead today.”76 At Angola, writes
another female prisoner: “[T]hey trust us like real women,
and really care about how we feel. So we’ve been bless ever
since. Everything we needed, since we came to L.S.P.”77

Some of the men also report good treatment at Angola.
One disabled prisoner, who spent days in a van on the Over-
pass, writes that Angola

treated myself and the other handicap inmate real
good. They gave us beds hot meals 3 times a day.
Shower every night clean clothes, hair cuts every
week if you wanted one, I can’t say anything about
Burl Cain and his guards. They was real nice to us.
They even went as far as putting us in there new
church they built we have a nice big T.V. so we could
watch the new’s.78
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When Hurricane Katrina swept through New Orleans,
many parts of the city and the surrounding region were virtu-
ally wiped out. In the year since the storm, the city of New
Orleans, the state of Louisiana, and the country have
engaged in a sometimes heated debate about how and,
indeed, whether to rebuild New Orleans.

In a perverse turn of events, some viewed the creation of
a temporary jail facility at a Greyhound Bus Station near
downtown as the first step to rebuilding New Orleans.
Angola’s Warden Burl Cain declared the makeshift jail “a
real start to rebuilding this city.”1 But the problems endemic
to the local criminal justice system certainly were not solved
by the storm, nor did the rebuilding of a jail cure them. After
the waters receded, Sheriff Gusman quickly began the
process of refilling OPP. When much of the city was still
assessing whether it was safe to return to flood-ravaged
areas, the Sheriff was moving people back into the jail.

A.  The Sheriff Prematurely Reopens OPP

On October 17, 2005, Sheriff Gusman reopened HOD, one
of the oldest of the twelve OPP buildings. Since October, sev-
eral others buildings have been reopened to warehouse New
Orleans’s constant flow of arrestees. The Sheriff reopened
these buildings without putting into place the most basic safe-
guards for the health and well-being of the men and women
housed there.

Rather than working with the Mayor and City Council
of New Orleans to ensure the prison buildings were safe
before they were reopened, the Sheriff hastily moved toward
repopulating his jail. The Sheriff recently boasted that in his
rush to reopen HOD—a building owned by city, not the Sher-
iff’s office—he “just ignored the city. . . . I just couldn’t wait
for them.”2 In doing so, the Sheriff appears to have circum-
vented essential procedures that were used throughout the
city to repair and clean flood-damaged buildings.

In the one year that has passed since Hurricane Katrina,
the City Council has not held a single hearing to discuss
problems associated with the evacuation of OPP, the appar-
ent absence of an emergency plan at the reopened jail, and
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IX.BUSINESS AS USUAL: THE 
RETURN OF PRISONERS TO OPP

Tents designed
to house 800
prisoners 
currently under
construction



recurrent complaints about current conditions at the jail—
including reports of a recent, apparently preventable prisoner
death. The ACLU of Louisiana has twice called upon the
City Council to hold hearings on the Sheriff’s decision to
reopen the prison buildings.3 In both requests the ACLU
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DOING “KATRINA TIME”: 

INDIGENT DEFENDANTS LANGUISH IN JAILS AND PRISONS THROUGHOUT THE STATE

Long before Hurricane Katrina hit the Gulf Coast, the indigent defense system in Louisiana was essentially bro-
ken. In 1993, the Louisiana Supreme Court concluded that there was “a general pattern . . . of chronic under-
funding of indigent defense programs in most areas of the state.”5 According to one study issued 11 years after
the Louisiana Supreme Court decision, the state’s indigent defense system continued to deliver “ineffective, inef-
ficient, poor quality, unethical, conflict-ridden representation to the poor.”6 Recognizing the problems of a sys-
tematically underfunded indigent defense system, the Louisiana Supreme Court acted again in April 2005,
ordering that any given prosecution may be halted if appointed counsel is not provided with adequate funds.7

Following Hurricane Katrina, the entire criminal defense system in New Orleans ground to a halt.8 Although public
defenders are needed to represent 85% of the individuals arrested in New Orleans, the public defender office
was for years funded almost entirely by fees attached to traffic fines.9 With no revenue in the months after the
storm, the office quickly lost 75% of its attorneys, leaving thousands of New Orleans prisoners stranded in facili-
ties across the state without any access to counsel whatsoever.10 A study by the U.S. Department of Justice
(“DOJ”) concluded that due to the collapse of the indigent defense system in New Orleans:

[p]eople wait in jail with no charges, and trials cannot take place; even defendants who wish to plead guilty must
have counsel for a judge to accept the plea. Without indigent defense lawyers, New Orleans today lacks a true
adversarial process, the process to ensure that even the poorest arrested person will get a fair deal, that the gov-
ernment cannot simply lock suspects [up] and forget about them.11

Many of the OPP evacuees spent months in prison on minor charges without seeing a lawyer or appearing in
court to answer the charges against them—for many of these individuals, by the time their case was brought to
the court’s attention, they had already served more time in prison than they ever would have received had they
been found guilty. Prisoners also remained incarcerated for months after their release dates had passed, notwith-
standing the fact that on September 8, 2005, Sheriff Gusman produced a list of OPP prisoners that contained
release dates for them. Through painstaking work, a small group of local defense attorneys worked throughout the
year to identify these individuals and file motions and petitions on their behalf seeking their release.12

From September 2005 until June 2006 there were no criminal trials in New Orleans.13 Once the court building
reopened, a new series of problems emerged. Judges often struggle to get witnesses or jurors to appear for tri-
als, and the number of courtrooms available is inadequate to conduct all necessary hearings.14 Although OPP
was reopened shortly after the storm, the Sheriff quickly filled the jail with new arrestees as well as state and fed-
eral prisoners. Because there was no bed space at OPP, evacuees who waited nine or ten months to appear in
court were stuck in facilities all around the state, unable to return to Orleans Parish to attend scheduled court
hearings. While new arrestees often appear in Magistrate Court without an attorney,15 it has become common-
place in the Orleans Parish Criminal District Court for incarcerated defendants in DOC custody to be the only
people missing from the courtroom. According to Calvin Johnson, Chief Judge of the Criminal District Court,
New Orleans has “a limited number of jail spaces, and we can’t fill them with people charged with minor offenses
such as disturbing the peace, trespassing or spitting on the sidewalk. . . . I’m not exaggerating: There were peo-
ple in jail for spitting on the sidewalk.”16

In an effort to open more bed space at OPP so evacuated parish prisoners do not miss court dates, Chief Judge
Johnson issued an order on May 17, 2006, requiring that all persons charged with municipal or traffic offenses
be released and issued a citation to appear in court on a later date.17 The New Orleans Times-Picayune’s edito-
rial board calls Johnson’s approach “the proper course.”18

In March 2006, New Orleans’s population only stood at 155,000.19 By late May, as many as 150 were entering OPP
each day.20 With fewer court dates and almost no public defenders available, the court system is woefully back-
logged—approximately 6000 cases have stacked up without any movement, according to the Orleans Parish Dis-
trict Attorney.21The rush to reopen damaged OPP buildings, the high number of continuing arrests, and the lack of
trials, have combined to create a prison complex that is an overcrowded, unsanitary, and inhumane human ware-
house. “For the vast majority of arrested individuals,” according to the DOJ study, “justice is simply unavailable.”22

reminded the City Council of its “obligation to do what it can
to protect the lives and safety of the prisoners and staff at
OPP, and to ensure that institutional failures during Hurri-
cane Katrina are not repeated.”4



1. No Evacuation Plan Can Be Located

Three days before the Sheriff reopened HOD, the ACLU
posed a series of questions to him regarding the reopening of the
building. One question was whether there was a current evacu-
ation plan for the jail, and whether the plan had been revised
since Hurricane Katrina.23 At a court hearing on October 17,
2005, the day HOD was reopened for business, the ACLU
obtained an order requiring the Sheriff to produce “the current
evacuation plan pertaining to the Orleans Parish Prison.”24

After two weeks, the ACLU wrote to the Sheriff asking
that he comply with the court order and produce the plan. The
Sheriff’s counsel responded by stating that he would “send . . .
the current fire evacuation plan when he can locate the officer
who maintains the Procedures manual.”25 Having received
nothing for ten more days, the ACLU filed a motion to hold
the Sheriff in contempt of the court’s order. In response, the
Sheriff’s counsel wrote to inform the ACLU that

the fire evacuation plan is in the possession of the Fire
Safety Officer for the Sheriff’s Office, Raymond
Fitzpatrick (who is a retired district fire chief). Mr.
Fitzpatrick has not been seen or heard from since
Hurricane Katrina struck New Orleans. In an effort
to locate the plan, we intend to break into Mr. Fitz-
patrick’s locked filing cabinets at the House of
Detention. If it cannot be located there, that means it
is instead located in the Community Correctional
Center. No one is allowed into the CCC at this time
for health reasons.26

With this letter, the Sheriff’s counsel admitted that nearly two
months after the Sheriff returned prisoners, staff, and
deputies to HOD, there was no Fire Safety Officer assigned
to the facility, no accessible fire evacuation plan in place, and
there was little expectation that such a plan would be pro-
duced in the foreseeable future. Moreover, the Sheriff’s coun-
sel appeared to have made no effort to locate any current
evacuation plans aside from the fire evacuation plan. There
is no indication whether the patently inadequate two-page
Hurricane/Flood Contingency Plan that was purportedly in
place at the time of Katrina was revised in any manner.

2. Adequate Medical Care Is Not Available for 

Chronically Ill Prisoners

Prior to the storm, emergency medical services were provided to
prisoners by Charity and University hospitals, two public hospi-
tals in New Orleans. However, at the time HOD was reopened,
both hospitals remained closed.27 In light of the damage suffered
by many of the prison buildings, and given that many health

care staff and officers had not returned to New Orleans, the
ACLU asked the Sheriff to explain how the jail planned to pro-
vide prisoners with medical and mental health services.28

Those questions were in fact answered several weeks
later, when the Sheriff wrote to the New Orleans City Coun-
cil to propose his new budget. In that letter, the Sheriff admit-
ted that the “limited medical staff and equipment can’t
provide all of the services that are needed for dialysis, sur-
gery, and the treatment of AIDS.”29 In light of the Sheriff’s
admission, it should come as no surprise that prisoners com-
plain about current medical care at OPP. Prison officials
report that serious medical cases are taken to neighboring
hospitals several miles away, but one prisoner explains that
“you got to be ready to die” to be taken to the hospital.30

One prisoner recently described an incident in which
another prisoner who was supposed to be receiving medication: 

threw up major beaucoup blood, purple blood,
pieces like the size of extra large jolly ranchers. . . .
Everyone thought he would die. We called deputies
and asked Ms. Thurman to get him out of here and
at first Thurman said medical wasn’t coming. She
saw the blood and everything and we convinced her
we need to get him out of there. He could barely
move. Blood around his feet at least 1/2 inch thick.
We had to mop it up when he left.31

Another man who suffers from epilepsy complains that
when he informed deputies of his medical condition and
asked to be placed on a bottom bunk, he was beaten and
moved to another section of the prison.32

With the Medical Observation Unit of Templeman I still
closed, wheelchair-bound prisoners report they are now held
in areas of the jail that are not handicap-accessible. One such
prisoner held on the 10th floor of HOD filed a grievance with
Warden Pittman regarding problems he has had in navigating
through the jail. In his grievance he writes:

Warden Pittman, I’m sending this grievants to you
about some serious problems in having, I’m already
confined to a wheel chair with one leg. I have been
having trouble getting on and off the toilet and when
I have to shower I have to try and jump from one
chair to another to shower I really can’t help myself is
there some where close yall could send me that have
handicap rails in the showers and around the toilets
where I wouldn’t hurt myself.33

The curt response provided by Warden Bonita Pittman reads
simply: “You are on a medical tier what you are requesting
does not exist in the jail facilities.”34
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INCOMPETENT DEFENDANTS

By law, a criminal prosecution may not proceed in Louisiana if a court determines that the defendant is not men-
tally competent to stand trial.35 The state may attempt to restore an incompetent defendant to competence
through jail-based treatment, but that treatment may not exceed 90 days.36 At that point, if competency has not
been restored, the defendant must be transferred to the Feliciana Forensic Facility (“Feliciana”).37 Even before
Hurricane Katrina brought the New Orleans criminal justice system to a halt, mentally incompetent defendants



3. The Reopened Buildings Remain Damaged and in

Need of Repair

It is not surprising that the OPP buildings were heavily dam-
aged following the storm. Water from the storm destroyed the
mechanical, electrical, and plumbing systems necessary to
make many OPP buildings habitable. The water ruined sur-
veillance equipment, shorted out electrical systems that man-
age the locking devices, and otherwise compromised basic
safety systems.42 Some of the buildings had enormous holes
in the exterior walls, through which men, women, and chil-
dren had escaped the rising floodwaters. Prisoners housed in
HOD report that there has been no hot running water since
the building was reopened. In his letter to the City Council,
Sheriff Gusman admitted that he returned prisoners to two
buildings that “still require additional repairs and improve-
ments to be brought to pre-Katrina levels.”43

One problem the Sheriff appears not to have addressed
is possible mold infestation. Following Hurricanes Katrina
and Rita, the Centers for Disease Control warned that
untreated mold will exacerbate asthma and can have serious
health effects, particularly for those who have other chronic
conditions.44 The CDC recommended that public officials
develop a comprehensive program to identify and repair
mold-infested buildings, which include any building that had
been water-logged for more than 48 hours, and to implement
a coordinated public health response to track and treat per-
sons who suffer health effects from being exposed to mold.45

While the rest of New Orleans was becoming expert in mold
remediation, Sheriff Gusman said simply that the ground
floor of HOD was “kind of mothballed.”46

In March 2006, several prisoners mailed to the ACLU
samples of what they believed to be mold scraped from their
cell walls. Once tested, many of the samples were found to
contain various types of mold. Although the presence of mold
alone is insufficient to declare a health emergency, these sam-
ples strongly suggest that additional testing of the air in the
buildings and of mold collected from surfaces in the buildings
is warranted.

In addition to aggravating asthma, mold can affect the
immune system, cause flu-like symptoms and pneumonia, and
in some cases can lead to hepatocellular cancer.47 Some pris-
oners report suffering from cold and flu-like symptoms such
as headaches, nausea, and body aches most days they remain
inside the facility. One person reports nausea, fevers and diar-
rhea for four days,48 while another states that he had migraines

and severe stomach pain.49 In March 2006, one prisoner who
mailed samples of mold collected from the Templeman V
building described his asthma as “increasing in severity.”50 In
his letter he names one prisoner who reportedly “contracted
pneumonya and is on 4 types of inhailers from asma attack’s
(sent to Hospital for x-rays[).]”51 The Sheriff refused to turn
over this prisoner’s medical records to the ACLU.

4. Severe and Sustained Overcrowding

The average floor in the House of Detention contains four
tiers (HOD Northside, HOD Southside, CLU Northside,
and CLU Southside). Each tier typically holds three ten-per-
son cells, for a total designed capacity of 120. Inside of each
10-person cell are two toilets and five double-stacked bunk
beds. Prisoners report that they have been housed with up to
18 people in their cells. According to one man on the 3rd

Floor of HOD who was interviewed in June 2006, there are
16 men in his cell, 17 men in cell 1 and 14 men in cell 2.dclxi

The six men who are sleeping on the floor all have mats, but
one prisoner sleeping on a bunk had not had a mattress for
two weeks.53 Another prisoner explains that when prisoners
are placed in a cell in HOD, “some don’t even get mattresses
or blankets for a few days.”54 With people sleeping on the floor,
“[i]t is so packed upstairs that everyone has to shift them-
selves and their mattresses for one person to use the toilet.”55

In some cells, prisoners are forced to sleep alongside the toilets
because of the lack of space.56 Several prisoners report that
the floors are still filthy and soiled with urine from when the
toilets overflowed during the storm.57

Most of HOD is not air-conditioned. The building, which is
ten stories high and has small windows in the walkways outside
each cell, becomes oppressively hot during the summer. Across
from most cells there is a small window fan that circulates hot
air. For the men who are crammed into a cell at nearly double
capacity, the heat affects every aspect of their lives. According
to one man, “[i]t is so hot up there with all of those people that it
gets hard to breathe. Tensions run high and deputies don’t care
because they don’t have to live up there. It is an animal house
up there.”58 Another prisoner, an insulin-dependant diabetic liv-
ing in a non-air conditioned medical tier, reports that there is
“[n]o air at all. Mad hot. The fans work but don’t really blow
nothing.”59Prisoners faced the opposite problem in the winter,
when they were returned to a building with windows that were
broken in the days after Katrina.60 One prisoner reports that in
February it was “too cold to shower.”61
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often languished in local jails for months waiting for a transfer to Feliciana. While in jail they received limited, if any, treat-
ment for their mental health conditions.

Eleven days before Hurricane Katrina hit New Orleans, Tammy Sims was supposed to be released from OPP and
transferred to Feliciana.38 Ms. Sims had been arrested earlier in the month on a charge of public drunkenness,
and was being held on a one-year old solicitation charge.39 At an August 18, 2005 hearing, the trial judge con-
cluded that Ms. Sims, who suffers from schizophrenia, was mentally incompetent to stand trial; he ordered that
she be transferred to Feliciana, where she was to receive treatment to restore her to competency.40 On the day of
the storm, Ms. Sims was still in OPP, and only a chance encounter with a Tulane law student long after the storm
led to her release 10 months later.41

Ms. Sims’s experience is not unique, though it is unknown how many incompetent defendants were, and still are,
languishing in prisons and jails throughout the state following Katrina. Many of these men and women may not be
receiving adequate treatment, nor is there any reason to expect that they will soon be transferred to a hospital or
other treatment facility, or that they will appear in court.



Kerry Anthony Washington, 39

years old, was arrested on

April 25, 2006 by the Jefferson

Parish Sheriff’s Office. According

to Mr. Washington’s wife, Cheryl,

the two of them were engaged in

an argument and, although no vio-

lence had occurred, Mrs. Washing-

ton contacted the local police.62

Upon their arrival, Jefferson Parish

Sheriff’s deputies discovered that

Mr. Washington had an outstand-

ing Orleans Parish warrant for fail-

ing to appear in court to answer a

charge of first-offense possession

of marijuana. They arrested Mr.

Washington and turned him over to

the Sheriff’s office.

After his arrest, Mr. Washington’s

wife telephoned or visited the jail

every one or two days to deter-

mine the status of her husband’s

case. Unsatisfied with being told

that Mr. Washington was being

held on a warrant, she visited the

clerk’s office of the criminal court,

where she was told that her hus-

band had a court hearing sched-

uled for May 12. On May 12, Mrs.

Washington went to the House of

Detention, where her husband’s

court hearing was supposed to

occur. Upon her arrival, she was

told that the hearing was not open

to the public. In the hopes of

catching a glimpse of her husband,

Mrs. Washington stayed around

for a little while. Eventually she

went home. Later that night, Mrs.

Washington called Central Lock-

Up and was informed that her hus-

band had been released from the

jail at 5:30 pm.

After some time had passed with-

out hearing from her husband,

Mrs. Washington drove to the jail,

thinking that her husband was

waiting for her to pick him up.

When she found that he was not

there, and she confirmed that he

had not called her, his mother, or

any of their friends, she drove to

several bus terminals around the

city in search of him.

On Saturday morning, Mr. Washing-

ton’s mother—a Hurricane Katrina

evacuee now living in Georgia—flew

to New Orleans to help locate her

son. Melvina Washington went to

Central Lock-Up, where she met her

daughter-in-law. Both women again

were told that Mr. Washington had

been released the previous evening.

When Melvina Washington asked to

speak with someone else in Central

Lock-Up, and Cheryl Washington

asked to see documentation of her

husband’s release, a high-ranking

official in the Sheriff’s Office

informed the two women that Kerry

Anthony Washington had died two

weeks earlier, on April 29, 2006, just

four days after his arrest.

According to the Sheriff’s spokesper-

son, Mr. Washington failed to provide

emergency contact information,

and the addresses they had on file

did not produce results. This

response does little to explain why

Mrs. Washington was not told her

husband had died during her daily

calls and visits to jail, nor has the

Sheriff explained why jail personnel

repeatedly misinformed Mrs. Wash-

ington about her husband’s well-

being and his whereabouts.

In May 2006, family members and

supporters assembled outside the

jail to remember Mr. Washington’s

life and mourn his death. The

crowd shared in prayer and song,

and listened to testimonials from

Mr. Washington’s wife, mother and

children about how much he

meant to them and how deeply his

loss will be felt. The exact circum-

stances of Mr. Washington’s death

remain unclear. According to the

Orleans Parish coroner, Mr. Wash-

ington died “following a scuffle with

guards at the prison.”63 n

Here, family friends and community members attend a

vigil outside the prison building

where he died. 

THE DEATH OF KERRY
ANTHONY WASHINGTON
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Overcrowding is also a problem in the South White Street
jail, where most prisoners sleep in open dormitories filled
with row upon row of bunk beds. Prisoners estimate that
each dorm is equipped to hold approximately 90 prisoners,
but they now house in excess of 110 people. One man
explains: “The living conditions here are overcrowded. I’m in
a 90 man cell with maybe 115 to 120 people. I don’t think it
would pass the fire department code.”64 Another prisoner
reports that there are people sleeping on the floor.65 “Food it’s
bad, man. It’s bad in there. Food comes up short every day.”66

Rather than look to viable alternatives that would allow
New Orleans to maintain a smaller, safer jail, Sheriff Gus-
man returned to a solution from yesteryear to alleviate his
overcrowding problems. Directly across from HOD, con-
struction has begun on a series of eight tents that are intended
to house 100 prisoners each.67 If history is any indication of
what is to come, there is no telling how long this “temporary
minivillage of barracks-style jails” will remain in use.68

B. The Decision to Reopen Orleans Parish 
Prison: The Business of Incarceration

It is not difficult to understand why the Sheriff quickly
reopened the facility and returned prisoners to his jail. By
agreement, the city of New Orleans pays the Sheriff’s office
$22.39 per day for each local prisoner OPP houses.69 Before
the storm, this amounted to roughly $100,000 per day. The
state pays the Sheriff $24.39 for each state prisoner he houses
at the jail, with a $7.00 premium per day for each state pris-
oner who requires mental health care.70 However, he receives
nearly twice that amount for housing federal prisoners,
including immigration detainees.71 This may explain why
thousands of local prisoners charged with minor offenses lan-
guished for months in state facilities without access to coun-
sel, and without any chance of appearing in court, while
federal prisoners were among the first to be returned to OPP
following the hurricane. These individuals were held in Tem-
pleman V, an administrative building that reportedly did not
house prisoners before the storm, and was only put into use
because the majority of the other buildings were in far worse
condition post-Katrina. For 2006, the City of New Orleans
projects it will spend over $50 million to house prisoners, dou-
ble what it spent just twelve years ago.72

Orleans Parish Criminal Sheriffs have consistently dis-
cussed the trafficking of prisoners in business terms. After
the number of state prisoners housed at OPP dropped
between 2000 to 2002, then-Sheriff Foti remarked: “If you
were in the stock market, you would call this a slow-growth
period.”73 Noting that the pay from housing federal prisoners
was significantly higher than from state or local prisoners,
Foti once said he “wishe[d] there were more high-profit pris-
oners.”74 Following Sheriff Foti’s departure, Interim Sheriff
Bill Hunter explained the “tight budgetary times” for the
Sheriff’s office by noting that “fewer inmates translates into
less revenue for the jail.”75 In fact, when the Sheriff’s office
requests payment from New Orleans for housing city prison-
ers, the “Invoice” refers to prisoners as units, and lists a
“Unit Price” of $22.39 per day.76

Despite the enormous cost to the city of housing all of

these individuals, the finances of OPP are a mystery to local
and state officials. In fact, when the Sheriff presented the
City Council with his projected 2006 annual budget of
approximately $75 million, the document was a meager two
pages—the same length as the Contingency Plan.77 The
budget failed to breakdown any of the figures, including big-
ticket items such as personnel expenditures, which totaled
$39,910,562.78

This lack of accountability also allows the Sheriff to
have unparalleled control over the city’s largest patronage
base. In 2005, the sheriff had roughly 1200 nonunion
employees who served at his pleasure, exempt from the civil
service protections enjoyed by other city employees.79 The
Times-Picayune remarked that the electoral victory of current
Sheriff Marlin Gusman marked “his evolution from political
appointee to full-fledged politician with his own patronage
base.”80 According to Shana Sassoon, a member of the
Orleans Parish Prison Reform Coalition (“OPPRC”), “OPP
has long been a shameful centerpiece of New Orleans’ bro-
ken criminal justice system with its history of human and
civil rights abuses, fatal disease, and institutional violence.
It’s no coincidence that OPP has also emerged as a center-
piece of political power in New Orleans.”81

The return of prisoners to OPP also provided the Sheriff
with the labor force that his office has long used and abused.
In 1989, the Times-Picayune reported that private citizens
and companies could hire prisoners to perform work at mini-
mum wage.82 From these wages, the sheriff would deduct liv-
ing expenses, travel expenses, support costs of the prisoners’
dependents, and payment of the prisoners’ debts, with any
remaining money going to the prisoner. In mid-July 2006,
two OPP prisoners were improperly “loaned” to a contractor
in order to perform construction work on the home of a local
judge.83 Recently OPP built an aquaculture facility—run
entirely by prison labor—to raise about 600,000 to 700,000
pounds of tilapia per year.84 Prison laborers are often used as
political tools. When running for office in 2003, Marlin Gus-
man told the League of Women Voters: “I will work with the
city administration to reduce the burden on the general fund
and provide more prisoner labor to augment city services.”85

One factor that helped the Sheriff return prisoners to OPP so
soon after the storm is his use of prison labor to clean up the
facility. Persons charged with municipal offenses following
the storm reported that upon pleading guilty, they were
ordered to complete 40 hours of community service cleaning
up OPP buildings.86

If anything, Hurricane Katrina has accelerated the jail’s
exploitation of prison laborers who are paid pennies on the
dollar. After the hurricane struck, Sheriff Gusman promised
to make prisoners available to assist in the recovery. Given
the fact that the majority of prisoners had yet to be convicted
or were convicted of minor offenses, this use of prisoners
amounts to modern slavery—or a throwback to the notori-
ously racist convict-lease and state-use prison labor systems
that proliferated in the South after Reconstruction.
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Until now, the story of the prisoners at Orleans Parish
Prison has received short shrift. Like many of the stories that
came out of Katrina, theirs is one of survival. With few excep-
tions, the prisoners held in OPP in the wake of Hurricane
Katrina took care of one another. They worked to free fellow
prisoners trapped in cells filled with contaminated floodwa-
ters, watched out for the frail and sick, as well as for juve-
niles too small to stand in the water without help. Without
food, water, light, or ventilation for days, the response of the
prisoners to chaotic, terrifying conditions was remarkable. 

Many of the stories are also about racially motivated ani-
mosity on the part of prison officials, while all of the stories
are about the blatant disregard for the dignity that was owed
to each man, woman, and child trapped in OPP during and
after the storm.

The stories in this report are not, however, simply about
survival. Rather, they are stories of a criminal justice system
that has had serious problems for a very long time. The
abuse of prisoners at OPP and the inattention paid to their
basic needs existed long before Hurricane Katrina struck the
Gulf Coast. Likewise, the damage caused by the storm only
revealed how infirm Louisiana’s indigent defense system
already was. 

It is important that these stories are told, so that they are
not forgotten. It is also important so that the mistakes chroni-
cled in this report are never repeated. By instituting the rec-
ommendations at the beginning of this report, local, state and
federal officials can begin the process of bringing justice to
the OPP evacuees, while taking steps to ensure real public
safety by making OPP a safer, more humane, and more cost-
effective jail.
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decent manner.” And SMR 13: “Adequate bathing and shower installations shall be provided so that every prisoner may be enabled and required to have a bath
or shower, at a temperature suitable to the climate, as frequently as necessary for general hygiene according to season and geographical region, but at least once a
week in a temperate climate.” Last, SMR 15: “Prisoners shall . . . be provided with water and with such toilet articles as are necessary for health and cleanli-
ness.” Clearly, all these standards were flouted by the prison administration.
118 CAT Article 16 (“Each State Party shall undertake to prevent . . . acts of cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment . . . when such acts are com-
mitted by or at the instigation of or with the consent or acquiescence of a public official or other person acting in an official capacity.”). Also, The Body of Princi-
ples provides in Principles 6 and 7 that “No person under any form of detention or imprisonment shall be subjected to torture or cruel, inhuman or degrading
treatment or punishment.” “The terms cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment should be interpreted so as to extend the widest possible protection
against abuses, whether physical or mental.” Id. It also violates SMR 30(1) which provides “No prisoner shall be punished except in accordance with [relevant
administrative rules].” And SMR 30(2): “No prisoner shall be punished unless he has been informed of the offense alleged and given a proper opportunity of pre-
senting his defence. The competent authority shall conduct a thorough examination of the case.” Finally, SMR 31: “Corporal punishment, punishment by placing
in a dark cell, and all CID punishments shall be completely prohibited as punishments for disciplinary offences.”
119 CERD Articles 2 and 5. Article 2(1) provides: 

States Parties condemn racial discrimination and undertake to pursue by all appropriate means and without delay a policy of eliminating racial dis-
crimination in all its forms and promoting understanding among all races, and, to this end: (a) Each State Party undertakes to engage in no act or practice of
racial discrimination against persons, groups of persons or institutions and to ensure that all public authorities and public institutions, national and local, shall act
in conformity with this obligation; (b) Each State Party undertakes not to sponsor, defend or support racial discrimination by any persons or organizations; (c)
Each State Party shall take effective measures to review governmental, national and local policies, and to amend, rescind or nullify any laws and regulations
which have the effect of creating or perpetuating racial discrimination wherever it exists; (d) Each State Party shall prohibit and bring to an end, by all appropri-
ate means, including legislation as required by circumstances, racial discrimination by any persons, group or organization; . . .

Also relevant is Article 5 of CAT which provides:
In compliance with the fundamental obligations laid down in article 2 of this Convention, States Parties undertake to prohibit and to eliminate racial

discrimination in all its forms and to guarantee the right of everyone, without distinction as to race, colour, or national or ethnic origin, to equality before the law,
notably in the enjoyment of the following rights: . . . (b) The right to security of person and protection by the State against violence or bodily harm, whether
inflicted by government officials or by any individual group or institution; … (e) Economic, social and cultural rights, in particular: . . . (iv) The right to public
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The ICCPR treaty also applies to these violations. Article 26 states: 
All persons are equal before the law and are entitled without any discrimination to the equal protection of the law. In this respect, the law shall pro-

hibit any discrimination and guarantee to all persons equal and effective protection against discrimination on any ground such as race, colour . . .
And both SMR 6(1) and Principle 2 of the Basic Principles state: “There shall be no discrimination on the grounds of race, colour, sex, language, reli-

gion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status.” Likewise, Principle 5 of the Body of Principles provides: “These princi-
ples shall be applied to all persons within the territory of any given State, without distinction of any kind, such as race, colour, sex . . . .”
This ill-treatment also violates the more general ICCPR Article 10(1): “All persons deprived of their liberty shall be treated with humanity and with respect for
the inherent dignity of the human person.” Similarly, it violates Principle 1 of the Basic Principles for the Treatment of Prisoners: “All prisoners shall be treated
with the respect due to their inherent dignity and value as human beings.”
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